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          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, we are now

          3  going to move on to the District Attorneys and the

          4  Special Narcotics Prosecutor, Council Member Juanita

          5  Watkins will chair that part of the hearing, she is

          6  the Chair of the Subcommittee on this.

          7                 Then because we are running late we

          8  will move on to the Fire Department, which is due

          9  here at 3:00, and only after the Fire Department, as

         10  indicated in the notice, because it was dependent on

         11  our schedule, will we take the public testimony. So,

         12  we have DAs, Fire and then the Public.

         13                 This is just so that people can plan,

         14  the Fire Department has been scheduled here at 3:00.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Good

         16  afternoon. Good afternoon to the District Attorneys

         17  and to Madame Special Prosecutor.

         18                 Welcome, and we apologize for having

         19  such big business today that many of you had to wait

         20  quite a while. But maybe that is so when you hear

         21  the scuttlebutt in the street that we only work

         22  part-time, you can put the lie to it, and let them

         23  know that we indeed do put in very full days.

         24                 I think what we have done in the past

         25  has been to have everyone make their presentation
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          2  before we ask any questions and if that is

          3  satisfactory with the DAs, we will do that again.

          4                 And I think we will probably get

          5  unanimous consent from the District Attorneys if we

          6  start with the District Attorney of Manhattan, the

          7  Honorable Mr. Morgenthau, and ask him if he would

          8  please make the first presentation to us.

          9                 I don't see the slightest hesitation

         10  from any of your peers, and I think that we all

         11  recognize the long and very wonderful service that

         12  you have given to the City and they told me whenever

         13  you come, it's the right time.

         14                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Okay,

         15  well, thank you.

         16                 I guess I want to start out by

         17  mentioning that in Manhattan and New York County

         18  last year we had less than half as many homicides as

         19  there were in 1937.

         20                 The other thing, we have a lot of

         21  statistics in here, but I think that this is

         22  important that two-thirds of the City's tax revenues

         23  are collected in Manhattan. The City collects $9,500

         24  for each Manhattan resident and spends $6,500 of

         25  that amount in the other boroughs. So, we are happy
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          2  that Manhattan is helping to provide the funds for

          3  the other boroughs.

          4                 I want to start out by talking about

          5  the northern Manhattan office, which is in the

          6  Powell State Office Building at 125th Street. We

          7  have had that office since 1987, serving the

          8  Northern Manhattan Community, with some major

          9  emphasis on domestic violence, two-thirds of the

         10  domestic violence cases are handled out of the

         11  office, and last year we prosecuted more than 5,000

         12  domestic violence cases and we do not get one dime

         13  from the City to support that office. The City

         14  doesn't even pay our rent and each year we ask for

         15  that, and each year I think Stanley Michels is going

         16  to produce for me and he hasn't. Now is your chance,

         17  Stanley.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: With the good

         19  help of the Chairman of this Committee and the

         20  members of this Committee, this year we hope we will

         21  produce.

         22                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I am

         23  hopeful that this is a more --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Every year we

         25  are hopeful.
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: It is a

          3  very important office --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I agree with

          5  you.

          6                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: And I

          7  don't understand why the City has never supported

          8  that office, it renders important service to all of

          9  Northern Manhattan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We agree.

         11                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I want

         12  to talk briefly about narcotics. As you know, there

         13  have been three new initiatives, there has been the

         14  Washington Heights Initiative, there has been the

         15  Central Harlem Initiative, there has been the East

         16  Harlem Initiative, with many police officers

         17  assigned. In four years our misdemeanor arrests are

         18  up by 80 percent. Last year our felony indictments

         19  were up by 41 percent. It is important that these

         20  cases be taken seriously, and we have asked for

         21  $787,000 to provide us with staff to handle this

         22  very large increase in our caseload.

         23                 As you know, we have got a lot of

         24  white collar crime in Manhattan, the financial

         25  center of the City. It is important to address those
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          2  problems if we want to keep the financial industry

          3  here, which is producing so much of our income. Of

          4  the jobs that were added last year, 90 percent of

          5  them were in Manhattan and a high percentage of

          6  those were in the financial industry. So, we want to

          7  set up a unit to handle the white collar and

          8  organized crime, it will more than pay for itself,

          9  and we have asked for $687,000 of that.

         10                 We want a unit to concentrate on

         11  working on DNA cases to work with the Police

         12  Department, and with the Medical Examiner. The DNA

         13  technology is extremely important and the most

         14  recent case involving a man that fled to Florida who

         15  we charged with three murders and two rapes, and

         16  there are a lot of other cases out there. He was

         17  identified solely by DNA. None of those cases would

         18  have been solved without DNA.

         19                 And I have to tell you also, two

         20  people were wrongly arrested earlier in that case

         21  for rape, eyewitness identification in line-ups, who

         22  were exonerated by DNA. Those people were actually

         23  arrested. And there were two other suspects that

         24  were exonerated by DNA.

         25                 So, it is an important technology,
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          2  but it is a highly technical one, and to use it

          3  properly it has to have proper supervision. And so

          4  we are asking for $286,000 for two senior people to

          5  run that unit and to work with the police and with

          6  the Medical Examiner and to train the younger

          7  assistants in how to handle those cases.

          8                 We have a domestic violence unit, it

          9  was funded until a year ago by an Edward Byrne

         10  Grant. We lost that money. As I said, we prosecuted

         11  over 5,000 domestic violent cases last year, there

         12  is nothing that can be more important, so we are

         13  asking for $374,000 to continue that very important

         14  unit and function.

         15                 Those are the main things. A very

         16  minor item, if we can get $100,000 for a jail bond

         17  collection unit, we will guarantee you we will

         18  collect at least $500,000 more than we have.

         19                 So, those are the main things, and I

         20  will be glad to answer questions.

         21                 I want to tell you that the money

         22  that we received from the Speaker's Drug Initiative

         23  has been extremely important to us. We have made

         24  significant cases on the Lower East Side and the

         25  West Side of Manhattan and Washington Heights, using
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          2  those funds. That is a very valuable and important

          3  grant in terms of the fight against drugs and we

          4  hope that that will be continued.

          5                 The money that we get for speedy

          6  dispositions, the arrest arraignment time down from

          7  29 hours to 21 hours, and we have a number of

          8  enhancements that we are working on which I think

          9  will help us to bring that time down even further.

         10  We are working with the Criminal Justice Coordinator

         11  to have an agreement on that.

         12                 But I would say one thing to you. It

         13  makes it very difficult for us to have two-thirds of

         14  that money withheld until March or so of the fiscal

         15  year because we have to spend it and we don't know

         16  whether we are going to get it back, and I really

         17  think that we have demonstrated what we can do and I

         18  think, I am sure all of the other DAs feel the same

         19  way. We would like to see that in the baseline

         20  budget, so when we spend the money we know we are

         21  going to get it back, otherwise it is very hard for

         22  us to do any planning, to hire people if it is maybe

         23  you see it, maybe you don't see it. I mean, we trust

         24  the Council, but I don't think it is fair and I

         25  don't think it is effective to keep that in suspense
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          2  until three-quarters of the year has gone by.

          3                 It is an important grant, it saves a

          4  lot of police time, and we have developed an

          5  electronic tracking for it that is going to help us

          6  identify problem cases, solve other cases, and I

          7  would urge you to make that a part of the baseline

          8  budget.

          9                 I don't want to take up anybody's

         10  time any further, but I would be happy to answer

         11  questions after the other DAs have spoken, or now,

         12  whenever. It is your pleasure.

         13                 Thank you for hearing us.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Morgenthau.

         16                 As far as that money, I understand

         17  that you should be getting a second payment this

         18  month, March, if you haven't received it yet. The

         19  problem, though, is a sensible one to mention

         20  because nothing has yet been allocated for the 2000

         21  budget. So, that is one of the things we have to

         22  tackle.

         23                 If we may hear from the District

         24  Attorney from the Bronx, Honorable Mr. Johnson.

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Thank you,
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          2  Chairperson Watkins. Good afternoon, to all of the

          3  members of the Committee.

          4                 I want to thank you for this

          5  opportunity to appear before you once again, and I

          6  would like to point out to you that I think we have

          7  done everything you have asked and perhaps more

          8  under some very, very adverse conditions.

          9                 In the Bronx in particular, we are

         10  funded at about 16 percent of the money for

         11  prosecutors in this City, and in the categories of

         12  murder, rape, robbery, assault and burglary, we are

         13  above 16 percent in each one of those categories of

         14  other crime in the City. In fact, in three of those

         15  categories we are over 20 percent of the crime in

         16  the City.

         17                 We have taken what I like to call a

         18  three-fold approach to this crime. We have very,

         19  very much involved ourselves in prevention, myself

         20  and many of the assistants and many of the

         21  non-lawyers in the office spend much time

         22  volunteering in the schools of our county and

         23  sometimes in the schools of other counties, to work

         24  with young people and show them what the result can

         25  be of a good education.
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          2                 In terms of the second phase of our

          3  approach, rehabilitation, over the last six years we

          4  have placed 2,700 people into drug treatment. Last

          5  year alone we placed almost 1,100 people in drug

          6  treatment.

          7                 And with respect to the final phase

          8  of the prosecution phase, I think we have done quite

          9  well in that phase also, and I acknowledge the work

         10  in particular that the Police Department has done. I

         11  know much of the reduction in crime is due to what

         12  they have done, but I think my colleagues and I have

         13  contributed to that and in my county alone the

         14  numbers are very, very striking.

         15                 With respect to shooting incidents.

         16  Since 1993, we have gone from 1,200 to just under

         17  400 as of September of last year.

         18                 For 1990 to 1998, robbery is down

         19  from 17,000 to 7,000. Burglary is down from 19,000

         20  to 8,000. Grand larceny auto down from 22,000,

         21  almost 23,000, to 7,000, and homicide is down from

         22  653 to 166.

         23                 So, I think we have contributed to

         24  that and the reason I believe that is because of the

         25  quality of the work we have done, the quality of our
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          2  dispositions. We have had the lowest dismissal rate

          3  in the Criminal Court in the City over the last few

          4  years.

          5                 Last year, once again, we were only

          6  exceeded by Staten Island in felony dismissal rate

          7  in Supreme Court, we have remained above the

          8  Statewide average for convicted, for sending

          9  convicted felons to State prison, some ten percent

         10  above the statewide average. In fact, unfortunately

         11  over the last few years more inmates were sent to

         12  state prison from Bronx County than of the 62

         13  counties in the State, but I think that has been a

         14  necessity. And we believe that you have assisted us

         15  certainly with the Speaker's Drug Initiative money

         16  that has enabled us not only to prosecute drug

         17  dealers but to evict drug dealers from residences

         18  and some business premises where they have been a

         19  nuisance to their neighbors.

         20                 We have been able to focus with that

         21  money on drug sales near the schools in our county.

         22  A substantial majority of drug dealers who sell

         23  drugs near schools in the Bronx do at least some

         24  jail time, if not go to state prison.

         25                 With respect to the arrest to
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          2  arraignment money that we have been given in the

          3  past, like my colleague from Manhattan, we would

          4  like to see that annualized. We believe that we have

          5  over the years justified the use of that money, the

          6  expenditure of that money. We have been able to

          7  purchase video link-ups with the various precincts

          8  through that money, although at this point they are

          9  now five years old and we are requesting money to

         10  upgrade that technology. We have added supervisors

         11  in the complaint room, we have added shifts with

         12  respect to typists and Supervisory and Assistant

         13  District Attorneys, expanded the amount of work we

         14  have done, we have gone to affidavits in certain

         15  types of cases, and it has enabled us in a year,

         16  last year, where for the first time we had over

         17  80,000 arrests, the amount of cases we processed

         18  were up 17 percent, and yet we were still able to

         19  bring down our Supreme Court, in terms of case

         20  processing, we have one less judge than we did a

         21  while ago and we are still at one of the lowest

         22  levels we have been in a decade in terms of pending

         23  cases in the Supreme Court.

         24                 A lot of that is because we have

         25  front-loaded with our tough policy on pleas,
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          2  defendants have opted to take pleas early on before

          3  indictment.

          4                 We are requesting additional money to

          5  do investigations, investigator staff has been

          6  somewhat strained. We have both detective

          7  investigators in a squad of police detectives, but

          8  we have seen a great deal of attrition in our squad

          9  of police detectives, that is not within our

         10  control, however, and it would behoove us if the

         11  squad is not to be brought up to previous levels to

         12  fund the hiring of additional detective

         13  investigators so that we can continue the type of

         14  investigatory work that we had done in the past.

         15                 I would also like to mention with

         16  respect to arrest to arraignment, although we have

         17  had great cooperations from the court and the Police

         18  Department, and I believe the Mayor's Criminal

         19  Justice Coordinator is -- I know he is listening to

         20  us, I know we sat down and met with him, and I

         21  believe he now understands some of the difficulties

         22  we have.

         23                 Some of the things we have done have

         24  been counterproductive to saving arrest to

         25  arraignment time, but they have been productive to
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          2  cutting police overtime. So we believe that should

          3  not count against us in the arrest to arraignment

          4  time and I think they are hearing that argument.

          5                 The Police Department has asked us

          6  not to take all of the narcotic cases immediately as

          7  they come in. They have asked us to wait until they

          8  can bundle them and bring them down with one

          9  officer, that effects to arrest to arraignment but

         10  it saves them police overtime. So, I hope that that

         11  will not count against us.

         12                 Additionally, with respect to those

         13  expenditures on arrest to arraignment, there are

         14  other factors which are not within our control. The

         15  Police Department labels when the cases are ready,

         16  sometimes in spite of all of the good cooperation

         17  from the officers and supervisors, what is labeled

         18  ready is not actually ready, and so we are trying to

         19  straighten that out and I believe we will be

         20  successful in straightening that out.

         21                 In addition, we are requesting that

         22  once again that you note that the Preliminary Budget

         23  suggests a two percent cut in OTPS, which would

         24  bring us to a level $800,000 lower than it was ten

         25  years ago. That is something in the face of
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          2  inflation, faced with the fact that that money is

          3  used for witness protection and witness relocation,

          4  it is used for buy money and investigations,

          5  something that I don't think we can afford.

          6                 We have also put in a request for

          7  some capital funding. I mentioned the upgrade that

          8  we need in the technology that we have.

          9                 I also point out to you that although

         10  we have some money that has helped us along the way

         11  with respect to Y2K, it is not fully what we need,

         12  and even beyond that, we still have Assistant DAs,

         13  who are unable to do motions at their desk. They

         14  have been trained in a computer age, they have grown

         15  up in a computer age and yet they can't sit down at

         16  their desk and answer motions and do their work

         17  because they don't have a computer. So we are still

         18  requesting technology in that particular area.

         19                 Just one or two other areas I would

         20  like to highlight. Well, two actually. One is, Mr.

         21  Morgenthau made reference to, and that is in terms

         22  of the ability to recover bail bond forfeitures,

         23  money that is forfeited that inures to the benefit

         24  of the City, not to the individual District

         25  Attorneys.
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          2                 If we were funded for that, we have

          3  already been able to bring in over a million

          4  dollars, and the first couple of months of this year

          5  we brought in $700,000, so if we had a full-time

          6  unit going after this money, I think that would

          7  benefit the entire City.

          8                 Secondly, we are in a unique position

          9  in Bronx County of having most of the Correction

         10  Authority facilities in our county. Rikers Island is

         11  wholly in Bronx County, and as you know, the

         12  Correction Officers on Rikers Island have a great

         13  deal of difficulty maintaining order, there are

         14  assaults inmate upon inmate, inmate upon Correction

         15  Officer, there is contraband coming into the island

         16  in terms of drugs and in terms of dangerous

         17  instruments, such as razors and the like. The

         18  Correction Department has begun a gang unit to focus

         19  on gang activity in Rikers Island. We are a major

         20  part of coordinating that effort with them.

         21                 We have begun to work with them on

         22  that, be brought in an assistant -- we brought back

         23  an assistant who is one of our best investigative

         24  assistants to work particularly in that area. We

         25  would like to fund a unit, the Correction Department
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          2  has received funding I understand already for this

          3  effort and it is our belief that with that unit we

          4  are not only going to make Rikers Island safer for

          5  the inmates and the Corrections Officers, but we can

          6  really make life in the City safer because the

          7  intelligence that we can gather with respect to gang

          8  activity is not intelligence that is centrally

          9  located just at Rikers Island. The people on Rikers

         10  Island came from all five counties, and there is

         11  gang activity in all five counties and we do intend

         12  to share whatever information we gather with all of

         13  my colleagues. And we believe that this is a truly

         14  meritorious effort and it is worthy of special

         15  consideration from you in this particular day and

         16  age.

         17                 I want to thank you for your

         18  attention and thank you once again for the

         19  opportunity to appear before you.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Just so this

         21  doesn't get lost in the rest of the questioning, do

         22  you have in your report dollars for that particular

         23  Rikers Island Gang Unit?

         24                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Yes.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: It is in
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          2  there?

          3                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: It is in

          4  there, $400,000. It's a modest request.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: I am coming

          6  to my own DA, I have to give him a little special

          7  schmoozing because I have got to go to him with my

          8  own personal problems, and besides, he is a

          9  long-time friend, the District Attorney of Queens

         10  County, and in our county he is affectionately

         11  referred to as Judge Brown.

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Thank you,

         13  Chairperson.

         14                 I have this year, as I have done in

         15  years past, prepared for you a document which goes

         16  into some detail with respect to our needs as I

         17  perceive them for Fiscal 2000, both in terms of what

         18  we are getting at the present time and also in terms

         19  of what it is that we look forward to receiving in

         20  the future.

         21                 Just to briefly summarize what is

         22  contained in that document. There are, from my point

         23  of view, three rather gaping holes in the Mayor's

         24  Preliminary Budget as has been presented, which if

         25  they are not filled they are going to mean a loss to
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          2  me of in excess of $2.2 million.

          3                 Firstly, and I come back to you every

          4  year with this, the Mayor's Preliminary budget fails

          5  to fund our Airport Investigations Unit. Last year

          6  you were good enough to appropriate $500,000 for

          7  that unit. The Mayor's Budget provides no funding

          8  whatsoever for that purpose.

          9                 There may be some question, I have

         10  discussed this with Councilman McCaffrey, as to

         11  whether the monies were baselined last year as a

         12  result of it being in personal services and then

         13  taken out by the Mayor in his Preliminary Budget,

         14  and whether he could do that or not. But suffice it

         15  to say that the preliminary budget does not include

         16  the monies for our airport investigations unit, and

         17  I don't have to tell this body how important that

         18  unit is, not only for the people of Queens County,

         19  but also for the people of the entire City, Kennedy

         20  Airport particularly is the gateway to this City,

         21  and it is vitally important that we do the kinds of

         22  investigation that we do out there involving credit

         23  card fraud and air cargo theft and gun trafficking

         24  and commercial burglaries and of course the

         25  significant quantities of controlled substances that
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          2  are seized at that location.

          3                 Secondly, as has already been

          4  mentioned by my colleagues, the Mayor's proposed

          5  budget makes no provision in it for our arrest and

          6  case processing monies. That is a big chunk of money

          7  for us. Last year in my office we received $700,000

          8  up front and then based upon the results of our

          9  arrest and case processing initiatives, we received

         10  an additional $500,000, that is not in the Mayor's

         11  Preliminary Budget. And while it is anticipated that

         12  there will be some discussions had in the not too

         13  distant future, it is important that it be

         14  recognized that that is money that not only do we

         15  desperately need, but it is also money that is well

         16  spent.

         17                 In Queens County last year our arrest

         18  to sworn complaint time was under seven hours the

         19  best in the City, and our arrest to arraignment time

         20  has dropped now down to some 19 hours. Those are

         21  figures that we are very proud of, and as I say,

         22  they are also figures that inure to the great

         23  benefit of the City.

         24                 And finally, the Mayor's proposed

         25  budget does not renew the Speaker's Initiative, the
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          2  Council's initiative with regard to the monies that

          3  have been provided with respect to the proliferation

          4  of drugs within our neighborhoods.

          5                 The Speaker's Initiative last year

          6  gave us a little under $500,000 in Queens, in both

          7  personal services and OTPS money to allow us to

          8  increase the number of our Assistant District

          9  Attorneys, our investigators in our narcotics trials

         10  bureau, our narcotics investigations bureau, also to

         11  expand our office's anti-drug initiatives in public

         12  housing, all of those monies were, in my judgment,

         13  well spent.

         14                 Moreover, I think it fair to say that

         15  the Council's initiative could not have come at a

         16  more critical time because what we have seen in

         17  Queens and I know throughout the entire City is a

         18  very significant increase in the number of narcotics

         19  arrests that are being made.

         20                 For the first quarter of Fiscal 1999,

         21  that is to say from July through September there was

         22  a 50 percent increase in narcotics arrests in Queens

         23  County alone, and by the same token we also saw very

         24  significant increases in the number of arrests

         25  generally.
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          2                 Last year we had 68,000 arrest cases

          3  in Queens County, that was up seven percent over

          4  1997.

          5                 We also find ourselves in the

          6  position now where we are doing a great number more

          7  search warrants, we are up 36 percent last year, in

          8  1998 over '97, and we also find ourselves engaged in

          9  a number of sophisticated eavesdropping

         10  investigations, which are all very labor intensive

         11  and very, very costly and of course we need the

         12  monies to support those investigations which have

         13  proven to be extraordinarily successful. Those are

         14  the three gaping holes from my point of view in the

         15  Mayor's Preliminary Budget.

         16                 You will also find in the booklet

         17  that I presented to you a number of requests for

         18  funding of  some important new initiatives, things

         19  in some respects that we fund ourselves now in our

         20  own pockets and things that we can certainly look

         21  forward to some help on. Our Auto Crime Task Force,

         22  our School Anti-Violence Program, which you, Madame

         23  Chairperson, are so familiar with in the Rockaways,

         24  we fund that out of our own pockets and it would be

         25  wonderful if we could get some additional monies
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          2  that would allow us to expand our efforts in the

          3  Rockaways, in the schools and perhaps to ahead and

          4  have that program in some of the other areas of the

          5  county.

          6                 We need additional monies to target

          7  violent crimes committed by youth gangs, to handle

          8  school-related crime. We need money as well for

          9  witness protection for community prosecution

         10  initiatives, all of those are spelled out in our

         11  booklet.

         12                 And finally, we are hopeful of

         13  establishing in Queens a child advocacy center, such

         14  as exists in the other four boroughs. We don't have

         15  one in Queens and it is so important to put all of

         16  the various disciplines together in one facility -

         17  doctors and prosecutors and police and victim

         18  services, all to the benefit of the children of our

         19  county.

         20                 So, in summary I would say I

         21  certainly would agree with my colleagues, we have

         22  made very, very significant progress over the course

         23  of the last few years, a very dramatic reduction in

         24  crime, violent crime and improving the quality of

         25  life of the residents of our county, and while there
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          2  are many people out there who take credit for it, I

          3  would suggest to you that the prosecutors of this

          4  City deserve at least some of the credit for that

          5  which has occurred. So I thank you for the

          6  opportunity to speak to you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Thank you.

          8                 Judge Brown, do I understand

          9  correctly that Queens is the only county that does

         10  not have a child advocacy group within the District

         11  Attorneys Office?

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Well, it is

         13  not necessarily within the District Attorneys

         14  Office, but within the county.

         15                 I was in Brooklyn a number of weeks

         16  ago and saw the facility that they have there, and

         17  it really is quite remarkable they have got all of

         18  the disciplines in one facility, it is down near the

         19  base of the Brooklyn Bridge, and when there are

         20  allegations of child abuse or cases involving

         21  children as victims, they bring the child to that

         22  location, there is only one interview, you don't

         23  have to go through a series of interviews, they have

         24  doctors present who can examine the youngsters in a

         25  medical-type facility, and all of the work can be
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          2  done right there instead of having to go to various

          3  and sundry other locations.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: But this is

          5  under the auspices of the Brooklyn DA?

          6                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: The Brooklyn

          7  DA is a participant in that child advocacy center,

          8  as is the victim services people, medical people,

          9  and others who are involved, and certainly the

         10  police, the special victims unit of the Police

         11  Department.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Thank you.

         13                 We are going to skip the other two

         14  counties for the moment in deference to the special

         15  narcotics prosecutor who is here representing

         16  herself, and therefore we would like to hear from

         17  Honorable Bridget Brennan, the Special Narcotics

         18  Prosecutor for the City.

         19                 MS. BRENNAN: Thank you, Chairwoman

         20  Watkins.

         21                 First of all, thank you very much for

         22  this opportunity to describe the efforts or office

         23  has made during the past year to combat narcotics

         24  here in the City.

         25                 As you know, our office has
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          2  jurisdiction over felony narcotics prosecutions

          3  throughout the City.

          4                 In 1998, our assistants prosecuted

          5  4,600 felony drug indictments, we supervised about

          6  400 wire tap investigations, we wrote 940 search

          7  warrants, all the while maintaining a 95 percent

          8  conviction rate.

          9                 Most significantly I think our

         10  office's cases and the work that we do can basically

         11  be divided into three categories. We handle the low

         12  level, street level prosecutions, which allow us to

         13  develop a considerable amount of narcotics

         14  intelligence, and frequently service stepping stones

         15  to other investigations and allow us to learn what

         16  is going on in the City.

         17                 We also do mid-level investigations,

         18  that level of investigations target heroin

         19  traffickers and cocaine traffickers throughout the

         20  City, and invariably we crossed over county lines in

         21  doing those investigations.

         22                 And then finally, our big category of

         23  investigations is a very high level investigations,

         24  those where we write all of those wiretap

         25  investigations, I mean those wiretaps, the very high
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          2  level investigations, those kind of investigations

          3  where we seize many, many kilograms of cocaine or

          4  pounds of heroin. And I think it has been a

          5  particularly successful year for us.

          6                 One measure of success, when you are

          7  talking about narcotics trafficking, I guess, you

          8  look at the supply and demand, you look at what the

          9  supply is of the narcotics on the street and what

         10  the people are willing to pay.

         11                 Last year at this time I believe the

         12  price of a kilo of cocaine was something like

         13  $19,000 or $20,000 in many of our investigations.

         14  What we are seeing at this time is the prices of

         15  cocaine in the mid-twenties, $27,000. So we feel

         16  that our efforts, the efforts of the other District

         17  Attorneys and our work with the Drug Enforcement

         18  Task Force and the NYPD has had really a significant

         19  impact on the drug trafficking here in the City.

         20                 We are very, very happy for the funds

         21  that the Council provided to us with the Speaker's

         22  Drug Initiative. Those funds I think really allowed

         23  us to do much of the work, it enabled us to do much

         24  of the work that we did last year.

         25                 Those funds were absolutely critical
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          2  to the work that we did, we committed those funds to

          3  adding additional staff to our investigations and

          4  additional investigators, developing resources for

          5  our investigators' databases that we can analyze in

          6  trying to track a defendant's financial resources

          7  and recover assets for the City, and those funds

          8  were very critical to our investigations and we are

          9  very, very hopeful that they will be

         10  institutionalized in some way because that is a

         11  critical component of our budget and we are really

         12  looking forward and hoping that those funds will be

         13  made a permanent part of our budget.

         14                 The allocation of the bulk of these

         15  funds to investigation was very timely because the

         16  success of the street level narcotics prosecutions

         17  in this City has pushed the narcotics traffickers

         18  indoors, which makes our job, as well as the police

         19  officer's jobs much more difficult in tracking down

         20  the narcotics activity. It means we have to turn to

         21  search warrants, wiretaps, eavesdropping warrants,

         22  other more sophisticated methods of tracking the

         23  drug dealers, and that I think has been critical in

         24  the decrease in violent crime in this City.

         25                 If you look at the areas where we
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          2  have had this kind of focused narcotics

          3  investigation, where we have worked hand-in-hand

          4  with the Police Department to target these violent

          5  drug gangs and really move them off the street, a

          6  good example of this is up in Washington Heights

          7  around 162nd Street and several blocks in that area,

          8  we did this sort of investigation working

          9  hand-in-hand with the Police Department, and the

         10  violent crime in that area has decreased

         11  tremendously, and most importantly, that decrease

         12  has remained stable, even though the police presence

         13  has removed somewhat.

         14                 So that has been I think critical and

         15  the model that we developed for those types of

         16  prosecutions we have worked on in other counties, so

         17  we are now moving it into other areas in the City.

         18                 Another critical area of

         19  investigation for us, and one in which we have used

         20  the resources provided to us, is, as I say, the

         21  mid-level investigation. And when I say mid-level

         22  investigation, I am talking about the kind of

         23  investigation where we might receive intelligence

         24  that there is a heroin operation running in the

         25  City, we might receive it from some of our contracts
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          2  in the drug enforcement task force or throughout the

          3  country. And we then follow up with a wiretap

          4  investigation or something similar.

          5                 And what we have discovered,

          6  particularly in terms of these mid-level

          7  investigations, is that we have seen an increase in

          8  high purity heroin coming into this City, something

          9  that we have been monitoring with some alarm, and we

         10  have been focusing some of our resources on it.

         11                 We have been seeing many more people

         12  who are swallowing heroin, some who are residents of

         13  our own City, going down to South America,

         14  swallowing heroin and bringing it back in, and other

         15  couriers who are coming directly from other

         16  countries, and as a result we have seen an influx of

         17  high purity heroin in this City and we are

         18  continuing to monitor that.

         19                 At the highest level we have been

         20  doing, and continue to do the kind of investigation

         21  that we think we are best at, the investigation that

         22  sees New York City at the hub as an importation

         23  center, at the hub of a narcotics importation ring.

         24  We have worked with many other jurisdictions, many

         25  other cities on this type of investigation and we
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          2  have seized many, many kilograms of cocaine

          3  particularly in this sort of investigation.

          4                 In addition, what we have been

          5  working on is some of the local problems here. We

          6  have a grant from the City to do cases in connection

          7  with housing developments, and to illustrate just

          8  how critical that area is, we did a random sample of

          9  our cases of 100 cases and found that 30 percent of

         10  these cases -- in 30 percent of these cases

         11  narcotics arrests occurred within 50 yards of a New

         12  York City housing development.

         13                 We have been working with the Police

         14  Department in conjunction with the Police Department

         15  and our own investigators to focus our efforts on

         16  some of these developments and the narcotics

         17  problems that are rampant in some of these

         18  developments and we are continuing to work on that

         19  throughout this City.

         20                 So, those are probably the most

         21  critical areas where we have used the funding which

         22  we greatly appreciate last year, and hope to

         23  continue to use that funding in the future.

         24                 As to our budget requests for next

         25  year, we are requesting about $500,000 to continue
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          2  our high level investigation. What we would use this

          3  money for, what we would hope to use this money for

          4  is to develop a database of all of the intelligence

          5  information that we receive during the course of our

          6  information, intelligence that we would then be able

          7  to share with the other District Attorneys' offices,

          8  and to use it within our own investigations.

          9                 In addition, we are hoping to hire

         10  our own translators. All those wiretaps generate

         11  many, many hours of recorded conversations. Ninety

         12  percent of our wiretaps are Spanish-speaking, record

         13  Spanish-speaking conversations. As a result, of

         14  course, down the line all of those conversations

         15  have to be translated and frequently we have to hire

         16  outside interpreters at a per diem cost to translate

         17  those conversations, or take police officers to do

         18  the transcriptions.

         19                 We think it would be a far more

         20  effective use of resources to hire our own

         21  translators, and those conversations must be

         22  transcribed for grand juries, for trials, and for a

         23  whole host of other reasons during the litigation of

         24  a criminal case.

         25                 So, the bulk of the money that we are
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          2  requesting would go to those kinds of costs to

          3  enhance our investigative abilities.

          4                 The other critical component to this

          5  whole war on drugs is some kind of a look, a

          6  critical look, at the demand side of the equation,

          7  looking at reducing drug use, and we have been doing

          8  that in my office.

          9                 During the past year we have

         10  initiated a drug court. We started it in September,

         11  and we have now had about 60 defendants who have

         12  joined the drug court. These are first time felony

         13  offenders, and this is the first time we have ever

         14  really had a program in place to treat the first

         15  time offender.

         16                 That program we are hoping will be

         17  quite successful. It started on a modified basis,

         18  and we are continuing to monitor it over time.

         19                 In addition to that we have a DTAP

         20  program as to the other DAs' offices, which is only

         21  partially funded by the State. The DTAP program has

         22  been tremendously effective. In the year we have had

         23  it operating, we have had 600 predicate felon

         24  defendants come through, and of those 600

         25  defendants, we have managed to successfully retain
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          2  in the program 60 percent, which is a very, very

          3  high rate compared to the success rates of most

          4  treatment programs.

          5                 So, we are looking for additional

          6  funds for that, as well as additional funds for a

          7  couple of our other treatment programs aimed at

          8  addicted pregnant defendants, and adolescent

          9  defendants with addiction problems.

         10                 Those are the main components of our

         11  budget request. We have always felt that treatment

         12  is a very critical part of the whole, of addressing

         13  the whole narcotics problem in this City and it is a

         14  big part of our budget request this year.

         15                 Finally, you asked several questions,

         16  one had to do with case processing, and we are in

         17  the same position as the other DA's office. We

         18  haven't yet had our meeting with the criminal

         19  justice coordinator, but we will look and see what

         20  kind of goals they will set for us. We have been

         21  very successful. We are now well under 24 hours in

         22  arrest to arraignment time, and we will look to see

         23  what kind of goals they will set for us. We are in

         24  the same position, receiving the funding in the way

         25  it comes poses significant problems for us. And,
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          2  again, I won't take up your time, we are in the same

          3  position with respect to OTPS. We have been cut year

          4  after year and those cuts accumulate over time.

          5                 So, thank you very much for your

          6  consideration and your patience.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Let me just

          8  ask one quick question before we move on, having to

          9  do with this new drug court that you've

         10  established.  Is it anything like the one that is

         11  operating in Kings County, and the embryo, if I

         12  might, that is beginning in Queens County?

         13                 MS. BRENNAN: All the drug courts have

         14  a similar philosophy behind them, in that the Judge

         15  and the Court has jurisdiction over the defendant,

         16  is the one who can exercise the clout on the

         17  defendant if the defendant doesn't comply with drug

         18  treatment.

         19                 Brooklyn's program is far more

         20  elaborate than ours. I think the grant they received

         21  was much larger than the one that we received, but

         22  the philosophy is the same.

         23                 We have been in discussion with all

         24  the DAs' offices who are either implementing these

         25  programs or are in the stages of developing them,
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          2  and all the programs have their similarities, but

          3  they have their distinctions as well. Ours is open

          4  only to first-time offenders. Brooklyn's is open to

          5  predicate offenders, I believe, and a whole host of

          6  other offenders that we aren't open to at this time.

          7                 We will just continue to monitor it.

          8  We are looking at it for the population that we

          9  think is likely to be the most successful with. The

         10  first offender who has got not a real lengthy

         11  history of addiction, but that is a person you can

         12  get into treatment and you are very likely to have a

         13  success with, but each of the boroughs has a

         14  different approach to it.

         15                 They are all similar in the basic

         16  philosophy, though.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: We hope to be

         18  able to come and visit yours as well.

         19                 MS. BRENNAN: Great.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Next we will

         21  go to Assistant District Attorney Tischner, who is

         22  representing DA Hynes from Brooklyn.

         23                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY TISCHNER:

         24  Thank you, Madame Chairperson and members of the

         25  Council. My name is Al Tischner, I am the Chief
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          2  Assistant District Attorney in Kings County. I am

          3  here on behalf of District Attorney Hynes, who could

          4  not be here today and apologizes for that. We have

          5  submitted our testimony for your benefit.

          6                 We join our colleagues in asking the

          7  Council to look at a number of issues that I think

          8  all of us have raised. One of the issues is the

          9  continued cut in OTPS funds that we have suffered

         10  over the years. In Brooklyn we estimate at

         11  approximately $1.3 million has been cut from our

         12  budget. As has been said before, these are monies

         13  for witness protection, for necessary ordinary

         14  expenses to run an office, and although these

         15  inflation rate has been very low, it has not been in

         16  the negative numbers and we have less than what we

         17  started and it makes it very, very difficult to run

         18  a large organization.

         19                 One of the things we would like the

         20  Council to look at is also something that is

         21  affecting all of our colleagues, and though we are

         22  extremely excited and satisfied about the tremendous

         23  work of the Police Department in the index crime

         24  category where there are fewer homicides, fewer

         25  robberies, fewer burglaries and we, along with the
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          2  Police Department and our colleagues, take credit

          3  for that. There has been a huge increase in the

          4  number of misdemeanor arrests, quality of life

          5  arrests.

          6                 And the Criminal Courts in our

          7  counties and in the other counties are swimming in a

          8  sea of these important cases, and we are not staffed

          9  at the appropriate level to handle the increase.

         10                 In Brooklyn last year we broke

         11  100,000 cases for the first time in our history --

         12  excuse me. The year before, 1997 -- last year it was

         13  104,000. We are asking the Council, the Council's

         14  help for getting additional money to increase the

         15  staffing in the Criminal Court.

         16                 District Attorney Hynes, as part of

         17  our prosecutorial program over the years, has also

         18  focused a great deal of his attention and our

         19  attention on prevention.

         20                 We have started a program in Brooklyn

         21  called the Truancy Reduction Alliance to Contact

         22  Kids called the TRACK Program. We have established

         23  four truancy centers along with the cooperation of

         24  the New York City Police Department and the Board of

         25  Ed. DA Hynes believes if we can get to the kids that
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          2  are staying out of school that may be committing

          3  crimes, and may be getting into trouble, and maybe

          4  becoming victims themselves, we can make an

          5  additional impact on the crime problem in New York

          6  City.

          7                 We have staff at these centers with

          8  social workers, with members of our own staff, with

          9  members of the New York City Police Department and

         10  the Board of Education, in the hope not to just

         11  scare kids into going back into school, but to

         12  invite their parents down and make them part of a

         13  solution to get children back into school to ensure

         14  that they don't become the next statistics in an

         15  arrest schedule, and we are asking the Council for

         16  $750,000 to support that program and a program, by

         17  the way, that has been very successful in Boston and

         18  in Florida.

         19                 Consistent with prevention of future

         20  crimes, we have been in the forefront of the drug

         21  alternatives, the drug treatment alternatives to

         22  prison. We are asking again for additional funding

         23  for our DTAP operation, we want to extend that to

         24  the misdemeanor drug arrests. There are a lot of

         25  defendants in our system that are non-violent
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          2  defendants who have a problem, we want to focus on

          3  the addict. There is an awful lot of data out there

          4  that supports the notion that many drug addicts are

          5  a significant portion of our crime problem and it

          6  costs us a lot less money to bring treatment to them

          7  than by putting them in prison, and our data has

          8  shown consistently that anyone we put into treatment

          9  costs approximately $39,000, someone you send to

         10  prison at the end of that incarceration generally

         11  costs about $82,000 per year, and the recidivism

         12  level is much higher than the people that are in,

         13  that go through the treatment alternative.

         14                 So we are asking the Council's help

         15  in getting additional money for treatment.

         16                 We also want to focus on an area that

         17  is underserved. We find in our experience that there

         18  are a number of people that are arrested that not

         19  only have chemical dependencies or substance

         20  dependencies, but also mentally ill, and the

         21  criminal justice system is not structured to handle

         22  these appropriately and they also end up going

         23  through the cycle of jail, back to society, back to

         24  jail and if there was a proper treatment modality

         25  for these individuals, we believed it would be cost
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          2  effective for all of us in the system.

          3                 We are asking for money for a gang

          4  unit, as all of us have seen. Although the crime

          5  problem in New York City has really been

          6  magnificently reduced, there are pockets and areas

          7  that are showing themselves that need attention and

          8  we believe the gang area needs attention.

          9                 We have incorporated a gang unit as

         10  part of our organized crime prosecutions. We believe

         11  these gangs need to be focused on very severely and

         12  we are asking for money toward that end.

         13                 As was mentioned earlier, Brooklyn

         14  has a very sophisticated child advocacy center.

         15  Kings County, under the direction of DA Hynes, was

         16  one of the first counties in the State to start a

         17  Crimes Against Children Bureau. In 1997 we started a

         18  Crimes Against Children Bureau, these children are

         19  the most innocent and vulnerable of victims, they

         20  are the most defenseless and bringing a case to

         21  prosecution where there is a child victim is

         22  extremely difficult. Encouraging the child to

         23  testify, ensuring that in that encouragement you

         24  don't continue the psychological scarring of the

         25  child is a very, very sensitive process,
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          2  psychologists are involved, social workers are

          3  involved. We try to find our most skillful assistant

          4  district attorneys that can work best with young

          5  children, and it is an extremely labor intensive

          6  cost intensive operation and we are asking $1.8

          7  million to provide funding for that unit that we

          8  have never received funding for.

          9                 In total District Attorney Hynes is

         10  asking for over $5 million, in addition to our

         11  budget, and any help the Council can give us, we

         12  would greatly appreciate it.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: How have you

         15  funded this Crimes Against Children Bureau

         16  heretofore?

         17                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY TISCHNER:

         18  The way we have done it so far is the way many of

         19  our colleagues start new operations, you look around

         20  at what you are doing, you borrow a little from

         21  Peter and Paul and pull in in different places, but

         22  eventually you can't do it all. Our goal was to

         23  start it, establish it, ensure its success and then

         24  see if we can get funding for it, because the

         25  importance of the issue was so paramount that we
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          2  couldn't wait for someone to fund us.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Okay.

          4                 Certainly not least, from the Staten

          5  Island District Attorney's Office, ADA David Lheir.

          6                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY LHEIR:

          7  Thank you, Chairwoman Watkins.

          8                 Briefly I guess to sum up, because it

          9  is always good to be last, we could just take a

         10  little percentage of everything that everyone has

         11  asked for and we would be very happy.

         12                 We have submitted to you our requests

         13  and ideas of what we think is necessary, at least to

         14  keep Staten Island afloat.

         15                 Top on our list again is always our

         16  Management Information System, which has continually

         17  been run by one individual who every year I mention

         18  is a retired air force sergeant, thereby he works

         19  for a lot less money than he should be getting, but

         20  it is getting very critical.

         21                 Now, we are planning on moving into a

         22  new facility. The City has been very generous with

         23  us on the capital end of it in purchasing new

         24  computer equipment and centralizing a lot of what we

         25  can do so that everyone in the office can have
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          2  E.mail and all of these things that a lot of other

          3  people have at this particular point.

          4                 The only problem is because they say

          5  we are going to be so efficient, they want to cut

          6  our budget by about $75,000 for that.

          7                 Now, we don't believe that that cut

          8  should be valid. We also think that we need an

          9  increase in order to hire additional people to make

         10  sure that this system that they are giving us

         11  certainly works. To demand that one person does that

         12  is crazy and we have said this for many, many years.

         13                 Just to prove that point, the

         14  documents that you have in front of you were not

         15  created, of course, by him, but were created by our

         16  budget personnel, which is one person, our grand

         17  person which is one person, our Administrative

         18  Assistant District Attorney, which is one person,

         19  and then myself and the DA reviewing them.

         20                 So, we are kind of like a one-band

         21  operation on a lot of things, but it does really

         22  have to change.

         23                 And I did forget, Mr. Murphy does

         24  apologize for not being here, but he is out of town

         25  at the National DAs' Association Center in South
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          2  Carolina, otherwise he would always be here.

          3                 One other thing that we also would

          4  like to point out, and we have done this for a

          5  number of years, is the lack of civilian

          6  investigators in Richmond County.

          7                 We presently, and we provided you

          8  with a wonderful graph, again done by our budget

          9  management, where when I showed it to DA Brown, he

         10  said are you on that graph? And we are a little bit,

         11  a touch in that pie graph, because we do have two

         12  civilian investigators that are provided to us by

         13  the Crime Bill grant. Because of that they are

         14  supposed to be doing certain things and covering

         15  violent crimes, which is what the Crime Bill grant

         16  indicates that they should do, which they do, but

         17  they also help out in other areas of the office

         18  because they know that we need it.

         19                 We are asking to establish a civilian

         20  investigative unit. We would like to start that with

         21  eight investigators and two supervisors. Those

         22  civilian investigators would help our special

         23  victims unit, which is what investigates crimes

         24  committed by New York City Police Officers, if there

         25  be any, also civilian complaints against New York
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          2  City police officers when they are afraid to make

          3  those complaints to internal affairs. Also is our

          4  community outreach program, which establishes within

          5  all of the schools, speakers to go into the school

          6  in a very unique situation called Project Reality

          7  where they take one IS school every year, and they

          8  develop within that a whole program where they teach

          9  the kids all about criminal justice and culminate it

         10  with an actual trial at the end of the year, using a

         11  real Supreme Court Judge and training the kids to be

         12  Assistant DAs and defense attorneys, and they have

         13  the whole situation.

         14                 That unit borrows those two

         15  investigators when it can, but it needs certainly

         16  its own investigatory unit to help out in those

         17  investigations against New York PD personnel and

         18  complaints that are brought by civilians who are

         19  afraid to go to the NYPD.

         20                 We also have created a youth violence

         21  unit, that could use investigators. We have created

         22  a senior unit because of the population in Richmond

         23  County, increasing and getting into that senior

         24  unit, we have discovered and uncovered a number of

         25  criminal activities against the elderly where people
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          2  have come in and supposedly to help them but in

          3  reality have taken their cash, have taken their car,

          4  have even at times attempted to take their homes and

          5  we could use investigators to go into that unit.

          6                 We also, again, as the other DAs'

          7  offices, we thank you for the drug initiative money.

          8  Also thank Steve Fishner's Office for the arrest

          9  processing money that has been given, but that does

         10  need to be annualized. And I think it is even more

         11  important, in an office that is as small as ours

         12  because we don't have large amounts of money that

         13  can be accrued where that if we lose any of those

         14  fundings, we are able to keep those people on.

         15                 If we lose some of the funding that

         16  we have, we lose people, and that is unfortunate,

         17  after you have trained these people to do the job

         18  that they are supposed to do, we should not lose

         19  them.

         20                 We have recently opened courts on the

         21  weekend in Richmond County. For all of the years

         22  prior to coming here Brooklyn has always done our

         23  weekend arraignments.  We now have the ability to do

         24  the arraignments on Staten Island ourselves. We are

         25  open Saturday and Sunday in the mornings from 9:00
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          2  until 1:00 or 2:00, depending upon when we finish,

          3  and just to point out how advantageous that is, one

          4  arrest happened at 6:00 and the defendant was

          5  arraigned at 9:30. So you can't get faster arrest or

          6  arraignment time, I don't think, than three and a

          7  half hours.

          8                 I submit all of these other area that

          9  I have here. You can look at them. Our total request

         10  is about a million-five, which is about one unit I

         11  think in Brooklyn, and we would appreciate you

         12  looking at it and helping us.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: You were

         15  doing fine until you started playing the numbers

         16  game with Brooklyn. You never look at a bigger guy

         17  and try to match up.

         18                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY LHEIR:

         19  They are always helpful to us.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: One of the

         21  things that I think one or two of you mentioned

         22  lightly I can say a little more forcefully because I

         23  am not a District Attorney or Prosecutor, but we

         24  feel here in the Council that you certainly have not

         25  been getting your fair share of the compliments, if
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          2  you will, for the reduction in crime, and we thank

          3  you for the job you do.

          4                 No criminals are going to stop their

          5  chosen activities if they are arrested and they can

          6  march out after 24, 48 hours a week or so, and they

          7  don't have adequate, effective prosecution that

          8  nails them and puts them away.

          9                 So, we want to say publicly for the

         10  record that part of the reduction in crime is not

         11  just the arrest, it is the permanent removal of

         12  these bad guys from the streets, taking these

         13  predators to trial with sound cases that locks them

         14  up and keeps them away for a good while.

         15                 We are certainly aware that it is not

         16  good business to up the force of police who do the

         17  arresting and not take care of those officers which

         18  have to prosecute.

         19                 And I might say also, for those who

         20  came before you, the Legal Aid attorneys, we want to

         21  make sure that those who are arrested have adequate

         22  defense because an arrest is not, nor is an

         23  indictment a conviction, and it is not fair if we

         24  step up one arm of this criminal justice, that we do

         25  not step up funding for the rest of it so people get
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          2  adequate defense and an active energetic and

          3  prepared prosecution, so that those who are not

          4  guilty are defended and can walk away, and those who

          5  are get put away. And we want to thank you for the

          6  job that you do, and I am sure that my colleagues

          7  and I will do our very best to get some of this

          8  money annualized.

          9                 Every year we go through this game

         10  that is played. The money for the airport

         11  investigations unit, for example, is not put in

         12  there. We know that we can't cooperate in this City

         13  with a Kennedy Airport unless there is active

         14  interdiction, investigators and everything, because

         15  it affects every single county. But somebody knows

         16  that if they don't put it in the budget, the Council

         17  will have to take money from some place else and

         18  find the money to try to replace it.

         19                 We are hopeful that not only will the

         20  prosecutors as you meet with the Criminal Justice

         21  Coordinator between now and the Executive Budget

         22  hearings, will plead for a more equitable

         23  distribution of the law enforcement funds, but that

         24  the public will realize and have some kind of a

         25  request that these offices be funded properly.
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          2                 We are all happy that crime is down.

          3  We are all happy that the number of felonies have

          4  been reduced, but it is not going to last unless

          5  adequate monies are provided for some of the areas

          6  that you have mentioned. And one of the things that

          7  you pointed out, I am not quite sure I understand

          8  fully, and I hope one of you will explain, when we

          9  are talking about the quality of life crimes, and

         10  there have been a lot more arrests in those areas,

         11  the majority of which have been misdemeanor

         12  offenses. You are saying, and explain to me, why we

         13  need more criminal court officers, anybody, because

         14  somehow or another I lost the connection there.

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: The

         16  caseloads throughout the City on misdemeanor arrests

         17  has sky-rocketed, and I know in Manhattan, and I

         18  think this is typical, since 1994 misdemeanor drug

         19  arrests are up by 80 percent, and I think in all the

         20  counties they have had huge increases in drug

         21  arrests and I think it is very important and you

         22  want to be sure that those cases are handled

         23  properly, because if they are not then there is a

         24  revolving door that, then people in the community

         25  become cynical and then you waste police resources
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          2  and you waste everybody's time. So, it is critical

          3  there be enough Assistant DAs to properly handle

          4  that very, very large increase in arrests.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: I had to look

          6  back at my notes for who made the request from

          7  Brooklyn. The staffing for criminal courts now,

          8  again, in order for us to make a case when we sit

          9  down at budget time, we have to know what we are

         10  talking about. So, I know you are not talking judges

         11  per se, at least I don't think you are, you are

         12  making a request for what kind of staff?

         13                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY LHEIR:

         14  Assistant District Attorneys.

         15                 Essentially, as has already been

         16  said, the caseload has sky-rocketed. We have seen a

         17  50 percent increase in the misdemeanor caseload and

         18  just as Madame Chairperson has indicated,

         19  prosecution in the felony cases in the serious cases

         20  makes an arrest complete. Without vigorous

         21  prosecution it is an empty activity.

         22                 Quality of life arrests, as we have

         23  seen, are important to the success of the overall

         24  strategy in New York City. A quality of life arrest,

         25  a mere misdemeanor arrest, needs to be prosecuted,
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          2  it needs to be prepared, there has to be

          3  negotiations. If an appropriate plea is to be agreed

          4  upon, an Assistant District Attorney and a defense

          5  lawyer have to reach an agreement.

          6                 If a caseload of an Assistant

          7  District Attorney is twice as high as it was several

          8  years ago, that leaves precious little time to focus

          9  on the necessary activity that needs to be done.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Okay.

         11                 Everybody talked about the OTPS cuts

         12  and that was one of our first lines of questioning.

         13  Obviously it hurts. This year, for the first time,

         14  the two percent across the Board OTPS cuts excluded

         15  fixed costs. In the past I believe your fixed costs

         16  were included in the overall cuts. This time things

         17  such as utilities and leases and so on were not

         18  included in the cuts.

         19                 Number one, does this make a

         20  difference? Is this any easier to bear? I see the

         21  Bronx DA smiling. But more importantly, do these

         22  cuts, do you anticipate being able to maintain the

         23  level of business that you have been conducting thus

         24  far if these cuts remain as they are in this

         25  preliminary budget?
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Well, the

          3  reason I was smiling was because obviously less of a

          4  cut is better, but still it is a cut. And what we

          5  tried to emphasize, that it is a cut that is on top

          6  of cuts that have been occurring year in and year

          7  out so that you can go around the table, they are

          8  various figures. Mine is 800,000 over ten years, but

          9  that is where we are going to be, 800,000 lower. So,

         10  is it better? No. I mean, it is less of a cut but it

         11  is still a cut.

         12                 And in order to make things happen,

         13  that means we have to make tough decisions. We have

         14  to decide if we are going to do without, you know,

         15  protecting some witness, or if we are going to do

         16  without flying some witness in from out of state, or

         17  we are going to do without some expert that we need

         18  in a particular case. Or on the other hand, are we

         19  going to cut people from the personnel side and come

         20  to you and ask to shift money to OTPS. So it is a no

         21  win situation.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: I more or

         23  less anticipated such an answer, but, again, for the

         24  record, if you don't say it --

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Thank you
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          2  for that leading question.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: They will ask

          4  me how do I know it.

          5                 We talked about, you talked about the

          6  case processing and the arrest processing, and

          7  someone, I don't remember who, said that the Police

          8  Department requested so-called bundling of cases so

          9  that there was less police overtime and that if you

         10  had several narcotic arrests, that you bring a

         11  number of them at the same time. It cuts down on

         12  police overtime.

         13                 My concern is, does this actually

         14  impinge on the rights of the person who has been

         15  arrested? Does this cause that person or those

         16  persons to have to spend a longer time in the

         17  system, especially in the case where someone might

         18  actually be proven innocent of the charges, or it's

         19  not a good arrest, but because of this bundling we

         20  have got people who are sitting in the system longer

         21  than they should be perhaps.

         22                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Well,

         23  there are several other things going on at the same

         24  time. I made the comment.

         25                 At the same time we are also doing
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          2  some of the cases by the video-teleconferencing, so

          3  that that is going through also. But whatever delays

          4  may occur, and not inordinate delays, if you recall

          5  I indicated that we were still able to reduce our

          6  arrest to arraignment time two percent, and that, in

          7  addition to a 17 percent increase in arrests, so

          8  that actually we have been dealing with it

          9  efficiently, and I think this is all once again part

         10  of the balancing act.

         11                 I wasn't saying that to say it was an

         12  improper or unrealistic request on the part of the

         13  Police Department, because they have budgetary

         14  constraints also. What I was saying it to say is

         15  that you can't ask us to help you do that and then

         16  say you haven't made enough savings in arrest to

         17  arraignment, because we have brought our arrest to

         18  arraignment down under 24 hours. We have decreased

         19  it, in spite of increases in arrest, and I will

         20  point out also that there is now going to be on the

         21  narcotics initiative three additional precincts in

         22  the Bronx this year, so that is going to put a

         23  further burden on us. All I was saying is that I

         24  hope that that will be considered when it is

         25  evaluated how well we have done, because we have
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          2  done the job in spite of that. We have cooperated

          3  with them and we have still brought down arrest to

          4  arraignment time.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Okay.

          6                 Council Member Golden had some

          7  questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

          9  Madame Chair. Ladies and gentlemen, I will be

         10  through very quickly. I just wanted to get a hold of

         11  New York County, the total you are looking for,

         12  without having to look it up. And Queens County,

         13  Bronx County and the Special Prosecutor.

         14                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Bronx is

         15  $3,868,000.

         16                 MS. BRENNAN: Special Narcotics

         17  Prosecutor is $949,300.

         18                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: If you look

         19  at page 25 of my presentation, you will see

         20  everything added up there and it comes to 6.6 and

         21  change million, 2.2 million of which is loss of City

         22  funds; that is to say monies that we received last

         23  year but were not included in the Mayor's

         24  Preliminary Budget. So, you are talking about an

         25  addition of about 4.2 million in terms of additional
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          2  funding that we would look for, over and above what

          3  we got last year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And New York?

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: New

          6  York County is asking for 2,500,000.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

          8                 I am looking to give you guys more

          9  work. The New York Housing location, you said that

         10  most of the crimes were committed -- 30 percent of

         11  the crime was committed within 50 feet of the

         12  housing project, or housing location?

         13                 MS. BRENNAN: We did a random sampling

         14  of 100 of our arrests, and of those 100 arrests that

         15  were randomly chosen, 30 percent of those indicated

         16  that the arrest was within 500 yards of a New York

         17  City housing development.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Really. So

         19  that we would, this body could look at the

         20  resolution increasing the penalties for narcotics

         21  sold and possession within 500 yards of the housing

         22  location would put the onus on the drug activity to

         23  be outside the housing location and could in essence

         24  assist in reducing crime in housing locations?

         25                 MS. BRENNAN: You are talking about
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          2  doing something similar to the schools?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes.

          4                 MS. BRENNAN: You can certainly make

          5  that recommendation for changes in the law to the

          6  legislature.

          7                 You know, I mean, many of the

          8  developments are concentrated in the area where we

          9  see our highest narcotics activity. I am not sure

         10  that there is a direct correlation between the

         11  housing developments themselves and the narcotics

         12  activity, or if it is the location that these places

         13  are in, where we just have a lot of narcotics

         14  activity going on, but certainly it would be

         15  something you could consider, something like the

         16  school law is I think maybe what you are referring

         17  to.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Correct.

         19                 There is also another area that I

         20  would like to look at, a conviction of three A

         21  misdemeanors. A lot of felony convictions, E and D

         22  felonies, are dropped to A misdemeanors. A

         23  conviction of three A misdemeanors, raising that

         24  penalty to a felony; do you see that helping in any

         25  way?
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: We

          3  proposed that at one time, like making the penalty

          4  for five misdemeanor convictions, you know, like a

          5  year and a half, or even possibly raising it to a

          6  felony, but certainly upping the ante beyond the

          7  year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Specific on

          9  the A misdemeanor.

         10                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay, the

         12  Brooklyn D.A. should be commended because most of

         13  his colleagues talked about Brooklyn, so they

         14  obviously are doing something very right in Brooklyn

         15  so I hope you will pass that back to the District

         16  Attorney of Brooklyn. Of course, being from

         17  Brooklyn, a favorite of mine, but some of your

         18  programs are very, very good. The Crimes Against

         19  Children, the Truancy, which is in my area, Ft.

         20  Hamilton Army Base being one of the locations where

         21  they bring the truancies back, and brought back to

         22  their schools is working exceptionally,

         23  exceptionally well.

         24                 Another program that I didn't hear

         25  talked about today, but the Alternative Sentencing
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          2  Program where the Alternative Sentencing is sent

          3  back to the local communities and supervised to

          4  maintain parks and remove graffiti and low level

          5  quality of crime reduced; can you expand on that?

          6  You are going to continue that program?

          7                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY TISCHNER:

          8  Yes, Councilman. As you know, District Attorney

          9  Hynes belives very deeply in prevention, and the

         10  Truancy Program, the Alternative Sentencing Program,

         11  our Drug Treatment, Alternative to Prison, are all

         12  part of the same philosophy that prevention is as

         13  important as policing because you just can't keep

         14  locking people up, you have to provide alternatives

         15  for individuals to find another way.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I know in my

         17  district that we supervise well over a couple of

         18  hundred alternative sentencing cases a week and it

         19  has been great for our community.

         20                 The last question: Domestic violence;

         21  did you also have a program with domestic violence?

         22                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY TISCHNER:

         23  Yes. We have an independent Domestic Violence

         24  Bureau. We also work with the Domestic Violence

         25  Court. It is similar to the drug court, providers
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          2  come to the domestic violence court, we look very,

          3  very carefully at the dynamics of the situation

          4  going on between the battered victim and the

          5  batterer. We have psychologists on staff and social

          6  workers. We are working with the Probation

          7  Department in a new Juris Monitor Program, which

          8  will put an electronic bracelet on a batterer who is

          9  out on probation, and anytime he gets within a

         10  specified distance of the past victim, the Probation

         11  Department is notified.

         12                 So, we believe we have focused a

         13  tremendous amount of justifiable resources on the

         14  domestic violence area and we believe we are seeing

         15  success.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The Police

         17  Department was here earlier and they noted that the

         18  statistics for 1999 have an increase in homicides by

         19  five, and they attribute it to domestic violence as

         20  the increase in the homicides, so I am glad to see

         21  that the domestic court is working. You are all

         22  doing an outstanding job, there is nobody up here

         23  that cannot believe that you guys don't deserve the

         24  money and the job that you are doing. Continue to do

         25  it, and thank you.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: Council

          3  Member Michels has some questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, we are

          5  going again, as you all know, to the budget dance.

          6  There is a preliminary statement and then we go

          7  through the budget and then we have to put the money

          8  back in, so sometimes we get a feeling that this is

          9  de javu all over again and that they keep taking --

         10  especially I knew Dick was going to say the airport

         11  money was taken out before he even opened his mouth.

         12  That is part of the dance. I am just wondering, have

         13  you made any approach to try to baseline these

         14  monies that we put in after we go through the budget

         15  and we finish the budget up? Has there been any

         16  attempt to sit down -- this is for anybody?

         17                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: We certainly

         18  have made very, very clear the fact that these

         19  monies should be baselined. As Mr. Morgenthau

         20  suggested --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Here you made

         22  that clear, but are you making it to the

         23  Administration?

         24                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Constantly

         25  to the Office of the Mayor's Criminal Justice
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          2  Coordinator and to the people at OMB.

          3                 As Mr. Morgenthau pointed out, I mean

          4  it is so unfair for us to go ahead and not know

          5  where we are going to be by the end of the year. I

          6  mean, how can you budget unless you know up front

          7  what it is you have got to budget with?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It almost

          9  speaks for itself.

         10                 And anyone else? Have you spoken to

         11  them? And they just say no? What do they say to you

         12  when you ask them?

         13                 Or they don't say anything and they

         14  just don't do it? They smile.

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: They

         16  listen politely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I guess the

         18  other thing I wanted to ask you is, by the end of

         19  this fiscal year, will all of you have a balanced

         20  budget in your agencies? I mean the budget you were

         21  given as modified? Each one of you have a balanced

         22  budget? I know you have to do various things.

         23                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I think

         24  everybody will, except one county.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What county
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          2  is that?

          3                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I will

          4  ask that representative to speak for himself.

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Not the

          6  Bronx.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay. Well, I

          8  think we can draw that conclusion.

          9                 Which county is it?

         10                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY TISCHNER:

         11  I think all of the counties will have a balanced

         12  budget. What makes it difficult for us is we have no

         13  idea what is in the til until the City decides what

         14  to put in the til. So, we all do a lot of guessing

         15  and a lot of modifying and a lot of wishing and a

         16  lot of hoping and everybody comes out fine, except

         17  we have to make lots of compromises and if we knew

         18  ahead of time we could make careful precise plans.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is what

         20  is so unfair about the process. You are absolutely

         21  right.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Thank

         24  you for giving us the opportunity to be here and

         25  certainly your summary of the problems was very

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  cogent. We appreciate the opportunity.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: We thank you

          4  for being here. One of the things that we appreciate

          5  is that when you come you are always extremely well

          6  prepared, and you have always been more than

          7  cooperative and willing to answer our questions and

          8  to help make our job easier.

          9                 I hope that Stanley is going to be

         10  able to deliver with some additional funds for that

         11  Northern Manhattan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is very

         13  important. Let's do it this year.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON WATKINS: And I know he

         15  is going to help the rest of us try to baseline and

         16  annualize some of the initiatives that are so

         17  important.

         18                 Actually, one of the things that is

         19  important to communities, when they have an

         20  opportunity to deal with a Truancy Unit, when they

         21  have the Star Program and things such as that

         22  working with the youth in particular, it gives

         23  communities an opportunity to see law enforcement in

         24  a very positive role and doing one of the things

         25  that I am pleased to see you doing a lot more of and
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          2  doing well, and that is prevention.  So we are going

          3  to be pushing as best we can to make sure that there

          4  is more money in the budget to allow you to continue

          5  and to expand those efforts.

          6                 We thank you very much for being

          7  here.

          8                 (The following written testimony was

          9  read into the record.)

         10

         11  Testimony of:

         12  Charles J. Hynes

         13  District Attorney

         14  Kings County

         15

         16  Before the Committee on Public Safety of the New

         17  York City Council:

         18

         19                 Thank you very much for providing me

         20  with this opportunity to present my Fiscal Year 1998

         21  proposals to you. I would like to thank your

         22  committees and the City Council for its past support

         23  of the District Attorneys and the Special Narcotics

         24  Prosecutor.

         25                 The Increase in Quality of Life
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          2  Arrests:

          3                 In 1997, for the first time, the

          4  number of docketed cases in Kings County exceeded

          5  100,000 cases, ending the year with 100,619.

          6                 In 1998, the total number of filings

          7  increased to 104,389, a nine percent increase above

          8  the filings of 1996.

          9                 The filing of misdemeanor cases, the

         10  primary work of the Criminal Court, has increased

         11  the most dramatically.

         12                 For the first seven years since I was

         13  elected District Attorney, 1990- 1996, the average

         14  filing of misdemeanor cases was forty-eight thousand

         15  two hundred a year.

         16                 In 1997 and 1998, the average number

         17  of filings per year was seventy-two thousand five

         18  hundred, or an average of twenty-four thousand more

         19  misdemeanor filings per year. This is a fifty

         20  percent increase in the workload of the Criminal

         21  Court.

         22                 Prior to the surge in quality of life

         23  arrests, the Criminal Court section of my office was

         24  staffed with fifty-five attorneys. Although the case

         25  volume has increased by fifty percent, the number of
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          2  attorneys has not increased at all.

          3                 We are requesting an increase of

          4  eight hundred ninety thousand four hundred

          5  fifty-five to our budget in order to hire eighteen

          6  additional attorneys, six paralegals and Other Than

          7  Personal Services funds to handle the increased

          8  volume of cases.

          9                 Truancy Reduction Alliance to Contact

         10  Kids:

         11                 Prevention is one of the best ways to

         12  address the crime problem in the City of New York.

         13  One of the ways in which we do this is with our

         14  Truancy Reduction Alliance to Contact Kids program.

         15                 With cooperation of the Board of

         16  Education and the New York City Police Department,

         17  we have opened four truancy centers in Brooklyn.

         18                 By the end of this fiscal year, it is

         19  our intention to have six centers in operation.

         20                 The program works as follows:

         21                 When patrol officers see school age

         22  children on the street during school hours, they are

         23  brought to the local Truancy Reduction Alliance to

         24  Contact Kids Center.

         25                 At the center each child is
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          2  interviewed by a social worker who is employed by my

          3  office, to determine if there is a legitimate reason

          4  why the child is not in school.

          5                 If there is not, the parents are

          6  invited to the center to pick up their child and

          7  made aware of their child's absence.

          8                 The purpose of this program is not to

          9  simply"scare" the youth as is done in other

         10  jurisdictions.

         11                 Rather, the reason we utilize social

         12  workers is to address the underlying reasons why the

         13  child is truant and make efforts to correct the

         14  situation so the child goes back to school.

         15                 Our objectives are: First, to get the

         16  child back into school; second, to prevent the child

         17  from committing crimes while he/she is truant from

         18  school; and third, to prevent children from becoming

         19  victims themselves.

         20                 This program has already proven

         21  effective in Boston and Florida.

         22                 We are confident that it will work

         23  here in Brooklyn. To effectively implement this

         24  program throughout Kings County, my office will need

         25  approximately seven hundred fifty thousand dollars
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          2  to staff seven truancy centers with social workers

          3  and support personnel.

          4                 Drug Treatment Alternative to Prison

          5  (DTAP): It has been estimated that eighty-seven

          6  percent of all crime is drug related.

          7                 It is further estimated that drug

          8  addicts must commit ten crimes a week in order to

          9  support their addiction.

         10                 Rather than seeking mandatory

         11  incarceration for predicate felon drug users, since

         12  1990, this office has diverted non-violent addicts

         13  from the criminal justice system and placed them at

         14  in-patient rehabilitative settings.

         15                 It costs eighty-two thousand five

         16  hundred dollars to incarcerate a prisoner for two

         17  years in the State Department of Correctional

         18  Services.

         19                 It only costs thirty-nine thousand

         20  dollars to put that same person into a twenty-four

         21  month in-patient treatment facility such as Phoenix

         22  House or Day Top Village.

         23                 Aside from the cost advantage of

         24  treatment versus incarceration, at the end of the

         25  two year period the Drug Treatment Alternative to
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          2  Prison Program produces a drug free, job trained,

          3  employed, tax paying member of society who is less

          4  likely to commit another crime.

          5                 To date, we have graduated almost

          6  four hundred people from Drug Treatment Alternative

          7  to Prison. This represents a savings of over

          8  thirteen million dollars.

          9                 There are almost two hundred more

         10  defendants still in treatment. For these people we

         11  have stopped the drug-crime-jail-street;

         12  drug-crime-jail-street cycle of drug abuse.

         13                 We estimate that Drug Treatment

         14  Alternative to Prison has prevented fifty-thousand

         15  crimes a year from taking place.

         16                 Our research shows that one year

         17  after treatment, only eleven percent of Drug

         18  Treatment Alternative to Prison graduates have been

         19  re-arrested, compared to twenty-six percent of

         20  defendants who are not offered treatment.

         21                 With your help, we can expand Drug

         22  Treatment Alternative to Prison and provide help to

         23  many more drug addicted defendants.

         24                 We believe that expanding our drug

         25  treatment efforts to the Criminal Court would save
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          2  lives and money.

          3                 It is our goal to afford defendants

          4  arrested for misdemeanor crimes driven by drug

          5  addiction the same opportunity to become productive

          6  citizens that is given to people arrested for more

          7  serious crimes.

          8                 In order to expand drug treatment

          9  opportunities to this category of defendants, I am

         10  asking the Counsel for one hundred ninety-six

         11  thousand dollars to provide for attorneys, support

         12  staff and Other Than Personal Services funds to

         13  begin this vital expansion.

         14                 Treatment Alternatives for the Dually

         15  Diagnosed (TADD):

         16                 Every year the Criminal Justice

         17  System processes people who have both chemical

         18  dependencies and mental illness.

         19                 Our system of criminal justice is ill

         20  suited to handle this type of defendant.

         21  It is our belief that in Brooklyn alone over one

         22  hundred defendants per year fall into this category

         23  for which treatment alternatives are virtually

         24  non-existent.

         25                 We have started a pilot project in
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          2  Brooklyn to properly assess and place these

          3  defendants in an attempt to reduce crime and save

          4  costs.

          5                 Toward that end, I am requesting

          6  approximately one hundred thirty thousand dollars to

          7  provide for appropriate case screening, assessment,

          8  referral and follow-up.

          9                 Gang Unit: Gangs are increasingly

         10  becoming a problem throughout the City. With greater

         11  and greater frequency we read about the senseless

         12  violence caused by the initiation rites of gangs.

         13                 In Order to attack the issue of gang

         14  crimes, my office has created a Gang Unit.

         15                 This unit processes every case in

         16  which we determine there is gang involvement.

         17                 As part of our Rackets Division, the

         18  gang unit will treat gang crime in the same manner

         19  as other organized crime investigations.

         20                 We intend to aggressively prosecute

         21  all gang related crime to ensure that gangs never

         22  have an opportunity to grow and expand.

         23                 In order to support this effort, we

         24  are asking the City Council for five hundred

         25  seventy-five thousand dollars in funds for
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          2  investigative and prosecutorial resources.

          3                 This would provide for eight

          4  attorneys, three investigators and Other Than

          5  Personal Services funds.

          6                 Crimes Against Children:

          7                 Among the most heart wrenching and

          8  difficult cases to prosecute are those committed

          9  against the most innocent and defenseless of

         10  victims, our children.

         11                 These crimes are difficult to

         12  prosecute for many reasons. Frequently the child is

         13  victimized over a period of time and the report

         14  takes place well after the actual incidents.

         15                 Many times there is a relationship

         16  between the child and the accused which creates a

         17  conflict when the child is asked to testify against

         18  the defendant.

         19                 Significant amount of time must be

         20  spent earning children's confidence even before they

         21  can be interviewed, let alone testify.

         22                 In 1997 we established the first

         23  Crimes Against Children's Bureau in the State. No

         24  additional funding was provided for us.

         25                 Since that time we have investigated
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          2  four thousand five hundred referrals, prosecuted

          3  one-thousand five-hundred misdemeanors cases and

          4  have indicted an additional one hundred eighty

          5  cases.

          6                 The investigation and prosecution of

          7  these case require a significant expenditure of

          8  resources.

          9                 The attorneys assigned to these cases

         10  must, by the very nature of the cases, be assigned a

         11  lighter caseload than their colleagues.

         12                 Additional support services, such as

         13  psychologists and social workers have been hired and

         14  assigned to this unit in order to provide the

         15  support needed for the successful prosecution.

         16                 In order to properly fund of this

         17  vital bureau, I am requesting that the City Council

         18  provide my office with an additional one point eight

         19  million for eighteen attorneys, six paralegals and

         20  support staff and Other Than Personal Services

         21  requirements.

         22                 Reduction in Other Than Personal

         23  Services Funding:

         24                 Our office has a serious shortfall in

         25  the funding we receive for our Other Than Personal
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          2  Services requirements.

          3                 Since 1990, our Other Than Personal

          4  Services funds have been decreased by over one

          5  million dollars.

          6                 Other Than Personal Services is the

          7  funding that pays the everyday expenses of our

          8  operation, from the payment of phone bills to the

          9  purchase of paper and pencils.

         10                 Our office has lost over twenty-five

         11  percent of its Other Than Personal Services funding

         12  over the last eight years. This has been a serious

         13  challenge.

         14                 Despite low inflation, the cost of

         15  goods and services rises every year. In 1990 our

         16  Other Than Personal Services budget was four million

         17  seventy-nine thousand dollars.

         18                 Today, we have an Other Than Personal

         19  Services budget, excluding the rent allocation, of

         20  only three million two hundred seventy-one hundred

         21  sixty-three dollars creating a shortfall of almost

         22  one point three million dollars in our actual Other

         23  Than Personal Services needs.

         24                 Out of our three million dollar Other

         25  Than Personal Services budget, one point three
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          2  million dollars goes for telephone expenses and

          3  another five hundred fifty thousand dollars is for

          4  witness protection and relocation.

          5                 What remains is simply inadequate to

          6  run an office which prosecutes over one hundred

          7  thousand cases a year.

          8                 We are asking the Council for help at

          9  a time of fiscal surplus to restore the Other Than

         10  Personal Services budget cuts made to our office in

         11  order to enable us to do our work and meet our daily

         12  necessary expenses.

         13                 We are asking for an increase in our

         14  Other Than Personal Services allocation of one point

         15  three million dollars.

         16                 CONCLUSION:

         17                 The Kings County District Attorney's

         18  Office is requesting five point six million dollars

         19  in additional funding:

         20                 Criminal Court Staffing -

         21  eight-hundred ninety-thousand four- hundred

         22  fifty-five dollars; Truancy Centers - seven-hundred

         23  fifty-thousand dollars; Expand Drug Treatment

         24  Alternative to Prison - one-hundred ninety-six

         25  hundred dollars; Treatment for the Dually Diagnosed
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          2  one-hundred thirty thousand dollars; Gang Unit

          3  five-hundred seventy-five thousand dollars; Crimes

          4  Against Children, one-million eight-hundred thousand

          5  dollars; Other Than Personal Services one-million

          6  three-hundred thousand dollars.

          7                 Total Additional Funding Requested:

          8  Five-million six-hundred forty-one thousand

          9  four-hundred fifty-five dollars.

         10

         11  Testimony of Robert T. Johnson

         12  District Attorney of Bronx County

         13  Before the Committee on Public Safety, Committee on

         14  Finance of the New York City Council:

         15                 1998 Overview:

         16                 Violent Crime:

         17                 Consistent with the rest of New York

         18  City, crime in the Bronx continued to decline in

         19  1998. Despite a very slight increase in felony

         20  assaults, overall violent crime in this county

         21  dropped by eleven percent.

         22                 In 1998, the number of murders in the

         23  Bronx declined for the eighth consecutive year. In

         24  1990, there were six hundred fifty-three murders;

         25  last year there were one hundred sixty-six, a drop
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          2  of seventy-five percent.

          3                 Nevertheless, of the five counties

          4  comprising New York City, the Bronx still has the

          5  highest rates in all categories of violent crime.

          6                 While the Bronx represents sixteen

          7  point four percent of the City's population, the one

          8  hundred sixty-six murders in the Bronx constitute

          9  twenty-six percent of the City wide total. In

         10  addition, more than one in five of the City's rapes

         11  and felony assaults occurred in the Bronx.

         12                 Felony Prosecution:

         13                 Narcotics cases accounted for

         14  two-thirds of felony prosecutions in 1998. The

         15  number of narcotics cases has increased

         16  substantially as a result of the South Bronx

         17  Narcotics Initiative; felony drug arrests in the

         18  Bronx increased nine percent and misdemeanor drug

         19  arrests increased fifty-five percent in 1998.

         20                 Judicial Resources:

         21                 In the Bronx Supreme Court, Criminal

         22  Term, the long-awaited restoration in 1997 of

         23  judicial staffing to 1989 levels predicted the

         24  anticipated drop in pending felony cases.

         25                 As a result, despite a seventeen
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          2  percent increase in arrests in 1998, the pending

          3  caseload has remained stable. However, our ability

          4  to maintain or reduce this level is threatened by

          5  the 1998 cuts in judicial staffing.

          6                 Top Count Convictions:

          7                 The Bronx District Attorney's Office

          8  obtained more top county felony convictions (four

          9  thousand one hundred seventy-three) than any other

         10  county in New York City.

         11                 Dismissal Rate:

         12                 For three consecutive years, the

         13  Bronx District Attorney's Office has had the lowest

         14  criminal court dismissal rate in the City.

         15                 State Prison Sentences:

         16                 For the third year in a row, this

         17  Office obtained more State Prison sentences (four

         18  thousand one hundred thirty-four) than any other

         19  District Attorney's Office in New York State, and

         20  sent a higher proportion on convicted felons to

         21  State Prison than the City wide and State wide

         22  averages.

         23                 Crime Victims Assistance Unit:

         24                 The district Attorney's Crime Victims

         25  Assistance Unit made over thirty-three thousand
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          2  contacts with victims and witnesses during 1998.

          3                 Case and Arrest Processing

          4  Initiatives:

          5                 The Bronx District Attorney's Office

          6  made significant progress in both arrest and case

          7  processing in 1998.

          8                 Through the arrest processing

          9  initiative, the Office brought about a reduction in

         10   "arrest-to-complaint sworn" time despite a dramatic

         11  increase in "on-line" arrests.

         12                 In terms of case processing, the

         13  record reduction in pending cases achieved in 1997

         14  was maintained in 1998, despite an increase in

         15  indictments and a reduction in judicial staffing.

         16                 Arrest Processing Initiative:

         17                 The Bronx District Attorney's Office

         18  reduced"arrest-to-complaint sworn" time by eleven

         19  point nine percent in December 1998 as compared to

         20  December 1997 and reduced the time by two point

         21  three percent for the entire year. These reductions

         22  occurred at the same time that "on- line" arrests

         23  increased seventeen percent in Bronx County.

         24                 In comparison, citywide

         25  arrest-to-complaint sworn times declined by zero

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            85

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  point five percent between December 1997 and

          3  December 1998 and increased by five point one

          4  percent for the full year, while on-line arrests

          5  rose eleven percent.

          6                 The Bronx District Attorney's Office

          7  has reduced arrest processing time through the

          8  following procedures and deployment of staff:

          9                 Increased complaint room staffing and

         10  hours of operation.

         11                 Expanded use of complaint room

         12  supervisors.

         13                 Establishment of a Paralegal Arrest

         14  Processing Unit.

         15                 Expansion of the Expedited Affidavit

         16  Program to twenty-four hours.

         17                 Each of these efforts involves a

         18  substantial commitment of resources to arrest

         19  processing.

         20                 The lack of annualized funding

         21  significantly impairs the Office's ability to

         22  properly recruit, hire, and retain legal and support

         23  personnel for these tasks.

         24                 In February 1999, the Police

         25  Department began to deploy additional narcotics
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          2  modules and new narcotics"tracer" units in three

          3  Bronx precincts.

          4       A.   Similar initiative in other Bronx

          5  precincts helped to reduce the incidence of violent

          6  crime in those areas and resulted in an influx of

          7  additional narcotics arrests.

          8                 As the new narcotics initiative is

          9  fully implemented, consistent levels of funding for

         10  arrest processing became even more important.

         11                 Five years ago, the Council provided

         12  capital funding for a video teleconferencing system

         13  intended to improve arrest processing by providing

         14  an electronic link between Police Officers, crime

         15  victims and witnesses in borough police precincts

         16  and Assistant District Attorney's in the complaint

         17  room.

         18                 That technology has played a vital

         19  role in arrest processing. After five years of

         20  continuous use, conducting countless interviews and

         21  preparing hundreds of thousands of court documents,

         22  this equipment is overtaxed, outdated and simply

         23  worn out.

         24                 This equipment must be upgraded to

         25  meet current and future needs.
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          2                 Case Processing Initiative:

          3                 The backlog of felony cases awaiting

          4  trial has been a continuing concern for this Office.

          5                 In November 1996, pending cases in

          6  the Bronx rose to a record height of five thousand

          7  one hundred eighty, an increase of thirty-eight

          8  percent over 1989. The Office addressed the backlog

          9  through:

         10                 Enhanced pre-indictment screening

         11  procedures and a tough plea policy that encourages

         12  SCI pleas before indictment. Case readiness program

         13  which emphasized expedited discovery.

         14                 The creation of new courtrooms

         15  through the transfer of District Attorney's Office

         16  space to the courts.

         17                 This Office has consistently

         18  maintained that the backlog of pending cases cannot

         19  be reduced without appropriate additional judicial

         20  resources.

         21                 In 1997, the Office of Court

         22  Administration began to rectify this imbalance by

         23  assigning additional judges to the Bronx.

         24                 This combination of Office

         25  initiatives and enhanced judicial resources helped
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          2  to reduce the backlog of felony case's by more than

          3  one thousand one hundred to four thousand fifty-one

          4  by the end of 1998.

          5                 Unfortunately, in 1998 the courts

          6  again reduced judicial resources.

          7                 The reduction in judges with

          8  additional workload generated by the 1999 narcotics

          9  initiative requires additional resources for this

         10  Office to prevent the backlog from rising once

         11  again.

         12                 Police, Court and Coordinator

         13  Cooperation:

         14                 Regardless of the level of effort put

         15  forth by this Office in our arrest and case

         16  processing initiatives and despite general

         17  cooperation for the New York Police Department,

         18  certain Police Policies and procedures delay arrest

         19  processing and are outside of our control.

         20                 These factors should be considered

         21  when measuring the success of these initiatives.

         22                 The policy of the New York Police

         23  Departments Narcotics Division to defer arrest

         24  processing in "buy-and- bust" narcotics operations

         25  until the narcotics team has made that last of its
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          2  arrests for that tour of duty.

          3                 These multiple cases are then

          4   "stacked" and assigned to one officer for

          5  processing and may be further deferred to that

          6  officer's next regular tour of duty.

          7                 This policy furthers the goals of the

          8  Mayor's narcotics initiative but inflates our

          9  arrest-to-complaint sworn time.

         10                 The New York Police Department

         11  designates as"ready for arrest processing" cases

         12  that are not actually ready. That is, a case is

         13  labeled "Arresting Officer Ready" (or A/O Ready)

         14  when the on-line Booking System report has been

         15  entered into a local Police precinct computer

         16  terminal.

         17                 As a result, a case labeled Arresting

         18  Officer Ready may not have a complete set of

         19  paperwork, necessary witnesses or appropriate

         20  investigation.

         21                 To date, despite ongoing discussions,

         22  there is no agreement between this Office and the

         23  Mayor's Criminal Justice Coordinator for

         24  annualization of arrest processing funding or for

         25  criteria under which such funding will be allocated
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          2  for Fiscal Year 2000 and Fiscal Year 2001.

          3                 City Funding for Case and Arrest

          4  Processing:

          5                 The annualization of case processing

          6  funding is necessary to permit long-term planning

          7  for prosecution needs.

          8                 Funding for the case and arrest

          9  processing initiatives has never been annualized and

         10  is not included in the Mayor's Executive Budget for

         11  Fiscal Year 2000.

         12                 Without the assurance of continuing

         13  financial support, sustaining commitments of large

         14  numbers of legal and support personnel to case and

         15  arrest processing initiatives will be problematic.

         16                 Further, video teleconferencing

         17  equipment funded by the city Council five years ago

         18  has been in continuous use since then and has become

         19  antiquated.

         20                 Other Than Personal Services

         21  Reduction:

         22                 Administering an Urban Prosecutor's

         23  Office with less than two million in Other Than

         24  Personal Services funds is complicated.

         25                 Protection and relocation of
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          2  witnesses and victims; DNA and forensic evidence;

          3  expert witnesses and the typical operating costs,

          4  such as telephones, stenographic fees, general

          5  office supplies, replacement equipment and

          6  furnishings must be paid for through Other Than

          7  Personal Services funding.

          8                 Despite normal inflation and recent

          9  Federal, State and City budget surpluses, my Office

         10  is asked to operate with and Other Than Personal

         11  Services allocation that is eight hundred seven

         12  thousand ninety-nine dollars or twenty-nine percent

         13  lower than our Other Than Personal Services

         14  allocation of eleven years ago.

         15                 In Fiscal Year 2000, The Office of

         16  Management and Budget has proposed a two percent

         17  reduction in Other Than Personal Services.

         18                 County Law, Sections 930 and 931,

         19  prohibits Office of Management and Budget from

         20  unilaterally reducing funds used for Personal

         21  Services.

         22                 However, funds used for Other Than

         23  Personal Services have been reduced repeatedly.

         24                 This year Office of Management and

         25  Budget removed rent, telephone and intra-city costs
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          2  for the Other Than Personal Services based before

          3  calculating the two percent cut; using this formula

          4  will reduce the available funds by sixteen thousand

          5  dollars.

          6                 As a result of ten years of cuts, our

          7  Other Than Personal Services appropriation is

          8  seriously under budgeted.

          9                 We have been able to meet our Other

         10  Than Personal Services needs through one-shot

         11  bail-outs and by transferring close to

         12  two-and-one-half million dollars (two million four

         13  hundred eighty-eight thousand eight dollars) from

         14  Personal Services Funds.

         15                 Speaker's Drug Initiative:

         16                 The funding provided through the

         17  Speaker's Drug Initiative has enabled this Office to

         18  maintain and enhance its prosecution of narcotics

         19  cases through the addition of detective

         20  investigators and both on-line Assistant District

         21  Attorney's and supervisors in the Narcotics Bureau

         22  to target school cases and process the increased

         23  number of narcotics eviction cases.

         24                 Furthermore, the Detective

         25  Investigator's and Other Than Personal Services
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          2  funding have increased our capacity to conduct

          3  long-term narcotics investigations.

          4                 By the end of February, drug

          5  initiatives will be operating in two-thirds of the

          6  Bronx precincts.

          7                 The increased number of Narcotics

          8  Police Officers in the Bronx in 1999 certainly will

          9  result in an increase in arrests over 1998 totals.

         10                 The Executive Budget for Fiscal Year

         11  2000 does not include funds essential for the

         12  prosecution of these additional cases.

         13                 At minimum, it will be necessary to

         14  continue funding the Speaker's Drug Initiative at

         15  the Fiscal Year 1999 level.

         16                 Correction Gang Unit:

         17                 In 1997 the New York City Department

         18  of Correction made approximately four hundred

         19  thirty-five arrests for criminal acts within its

         20  facilities.

         21                 In 1998 that number increased by one

         22  hundred forty-six percent to one thousand seventy

         23  four. Most of these cases are prosecuted by the

         24  Bronx District Attorney's Office.

         25                 The increase in arrests in The New
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          2  York City Department of Correction facilities was

          3  primarily the result of the formation of the

          4  Department of Corrections Gang Intelligence Unit.

          5                 Prior to the Gang Intelligence Unit,

          6  there were approximately three Department of

          7  correction investigators City wide to investigate

          8  incidents within Department of Correction facilities

          9  and make arrests.

         10                 When the Gang Intelligence Unit was

         11  formed in March 1997, this number increased to ten

         12  and it has now grown to about forty investigators,

         13  who are no longer responsible for guarding or

         14  transporting prisoners and devote their time to

         15  investigations and arrests within Department of

         16  Correction facilities.

         17                 I propose to create a Correction/Gang

         18  Unit within my Office.

         19                 This unit will focus on cases

         20  involving criminal gang activity, many of which are

         21  identified by the Gang Intelligence Unit, and

         22  coordinate the investigation and prosecution of

         23  cases in Department of Correction facilities in the

         24  Bronx.

         25                 The Unit will collaborate with the
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          2  New York Police Department's Gang Intelligence Unit,

          3  City wide Anti- Gang Enforcement Unit and Borough

          4  Gang Suppression and Investigative Units, as will as

          5  the Department of Corrections Gang Intelligence Unit

          6  to combat criminal gang activity in Bronx County.

          7                 The Unit will also seek cooperation

          8  from other City, State and Federal Law Enforcement

          9  Agencies.

         10                 Investigative Personnel:

         11                 Six years ago there were thirty New

         12  York City Police Department Officers assigned to the

         13  Bronx District Attorney's Office Detective Squad.

         14  Throughout the City, these squads are being reduced

         15  through attrition, and now the number of New York

         16  Police Department personnel assigned to my Office

         17  has dropped to fourteen. At the same time,

         18  investigative needs have never been greater. These

         19  Detectives provide valuable investigative and

         20  support services for the District Attorney's Office

         21  and on occasion are called upon by the Borough

         22  Command to perform routine Police details.

         23                 The combination of the New York

         24  Police Department's failure to replace retiring or

         25  transferred officers and the increased need for
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          2  investigative personnel has resulted in several

          3  District Attorney's increasing their Detective

          4  Investigators, some of whom are former New York

          5  Police Department Officers.

          6                 The current level of investigative

          7  staff is inadequate. There is no reason to believe

          8  that the dismantling of New York Police Department

          9  Squads assigned to district Attorney's Offices will

         10  stop.

         11                 To meet my Office's current needs, I

         12  am requesting three hundred seventy-eight thousand

         13  dollars for ten additional Detective Investigators.

         14                 CAPIS:

         15                 The need for additional automation

         16  and computer resources has reached a crisis.

         17                 For the last four years Fiscal Year

         18  1995- Fiscal Year 1998 my Office was effectively

         19  denied capital funding for automation technology

         20  because we could not afford the significant

         21  reduction per year in personal service funding that

         22  Office of Management and Budget demanded in exchange

         23  for computer technology.

         24                 In Fiscal Year 1999, the Office was

         25  constrained to accept the Capital Funding allocation

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            97

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  of four hundred nine thousand dollars, with the

          3  demanded forty thousand dollars annual give-back in

          4  personal service funding to begin to make our

          5  out-dated equipment Y2K compliant.

          6                 However, this allocation is

          7  inadequate to complete the Y2K task, and provides no

          8  funding at all towards upgrading our system in other

          9  ways or for expanding it to meet additional needs.

         10                 As a result of this lack of basic

         11  equipment, Assistant District Attorney's are

         12  severely hampered in their abilities to do legal

         13  research and prepare essential court papers and

         14  other necessary documents.

         15                 We ask that the Council provide

         16  funding to appropriately upgrade and expand our

         17  automation technology.

         18                 Moreover, our video teleconferencing

         19  infrastructure is quickly becoming obsolete.

         20                 We request that the council further

         21  allocate funds to ensure the upgrade of this vital

         22  component of arrest processing.

         23                 Fiscal Year 2000 Budget Request:

         24                 Annualize Arrest and Case Processing

         25  Initiative- one million three hundred ninety
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          2  thousand dollars; Restore Drug Initiative- six

          3  hundred thousand dollars; Correction/Gang Unit- four

          4  hundred thousand dollars; Investigative Personnel-

          5  three hundred seventy- eight thousand dollars;

          6  CAPIS: Upgrade Outmoded Video Teleconferencing- five

          7  hundred thousand dollars; Basic Staff Automation -

          8  six-hundred thousand dollars; Total - three-million

          9  eight-hundred sixty-eight thousand dollars.

         10  Testimony of Bridget G. Brennan Special Narcotics

         11  Prosecutor before The New York City Council

         12  Committee on Public Safety and Subcommittee on

         13  District Attorneys, Courts and Investigations,

         14  Fiscal Year 2000 Preliminary Budget Hearings:

         15  Good Afternoon, I am happy for the opportunity to

         16  outline our efforts over the past year and present

         17  our budget request.

         18                 In 1998, our assistants prosecuted

         19  four thousand six hundred drug felony indictments;

         20  Supervised three hundred ninety nine

         21  wiretaps--nearly one hundred more than in 1997,

         22  wrote nine hundred forty search warrants; maintained

         23  a ninety four point six percent conviction rate;

         24  developed cases that resulted in seizures of several

         25  tons of cocaine and multiple kilos of heroin.
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          2                 I'd like to thank the Council for its

          3  continued support.

          4                 In particular, I want to thank

          5  committee members for the critical funds provided

          6  through the Speaker's Drug Initiative.

          7                 Some of the ways these funds were

          8  used included:

          9                 Committing additional staff to

         10  long-term investigations.

         11                 Developing resources for our

         12  Mid-Level Drug Trafficking Initiative.

         13                 Purchasing sophisticated electronic

         14  equipment to make court-ready the vast amount of

         15  video and audio-taped evidence for narcotics cases

         16  prosecuted by the five district attorneys and my

         17  Office.

         18                 Helping defray costs associated with

         19  extradition's and the witness protection program.

         20                 The allocation of the bulk of these

         21  funds to investigations was very timely as the

         22  success of street level enforcement over the last

         23  few years has pushed narcotics criminal activity

         24  indoors. This has changed narcotics enforcement

         25  considerably.
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          2                 Making cases against drug dealers who

          3  run their operations from apartments, or other

          4  indoor locations requires more complex investigative

          5  strategies and greater investment of both time and

          6  resources.

          7                 To keep up with these emerging

          8  enforcement requirements, my Office has been

          9  shifting direction and allocating more resources to

         10  long-term investigations, devoting more of our

         11  efforts to focused prosecutions of neighborhood drug

         12  gangs as well as citywide and regional distribution

         13  rings.

         14                 At the same time, our assistants

         15  continue to handle street-level, buy-and-bust

         16  prosecutions. These operations are vital to our

         17  ability to develop intelligence about citywide

         18  narcotic trends.

         19                 They may also become stepping stones

         20  to investigations targeting major drug traffickers,

         21  which we conduct with Federal and local enforcement

         22  agencies as well as with our own squad of

         23  investigators.

         24                 One of the local enforcement efforts

         25  we are working on with the Police Department is the
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          2  Model Block program.

          3                 This operation combines focused

          4  enforcement, enhanced prosecutions and follow-up

          5  efforts to rebuild drug- blighted areas.

          6                 Because Model Block operations are

          7  long term they consume substantial resources.

          8                 They involve targeting gang leaders

          9  for enhanced prosecution, developing probable cause

         10  for search warrants, and working hand in hand with

         11  the Police Department so that enforcement efforts

         12  will culminate in effective prosecutions.

         13                 So far, we targeted blocks on 161st,

         14  162nd" 163rd, and 164,H Streets in Washington

         15  Heights for this type of initiative.

         16                 The success of the program has been

         17  most impressive. Statistics show that crime levels

         18  have been tremendously reduced in every major

         19  category in every block where this initiative has

         20  been implemented, and they've stayed that way after

         21  the Police have gone.

         22                 The model we have helped develop is

         23  being implemented in other counties.

         24                 Along with our focused local

         25  prosecutions, we are continuing coordinated efforts
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          2  to address drug activity in many Public Housing

          3  developments.

          4                 In many of these developments the

          5  level of narcotics activity is still unacceptable.

          6                 To illustrate this situation, we

          7  reviewed one hundred randomly chosen cases and

          8  discovered that in thirty percent of these cases,

          9  narcotics arrests occurred within fifty yards of a

         10  New York City Housing location.

         11                 To address this critical problem, we

         12  have conducted several operations in and around city

         13  housing developments and are currently working with

         14  the Police Department on two major, long-term

         15  operations.

         16                 At the highest level, we initiated

         17  forty- eight major investigations into citywide

         18  organizations importing cocaine and heroin directly

         19  from source countries, and distributing narcotics

         20  throughout the City and much of the Eastern

         21  Seaboard.

         22                 These investigations often provide

         23  information on drug operations in other

         24  jurisdictions. They also yield crucial intelligence

         25  on how drug organizations work; How they bring
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          2  narcotics into the United States; Methods they use

          3  to control their underlings here; The extent of

          4  violence used; and never-ending schemes to launder

          5  narcotics proceeds.

          6                 Our largest investigation last year

          7  uncovered a huge cocaine network-with New York City

          8  at its hub- spanning from Texas to Connecticut and

          9  Massachusetts, that was importing over five thousand

         10  five hundred pounds of cocaine a month into the

         11  country.

         12                 Our investigation identified loosely

         13  connected cocaine cells operating across the city

         14  bringing in tons of cocaine every month.

         15                 We indicted Thirty-Four drug

         16  traffickers. We seized more than one thousand pounds

         17  of cocaine and over three point five million dollars

         18  in New York alone.

         19                 Our case was the springboard for a

         20  national investigation by the Justice Department.

         21                 Mid-level investigations targeted one

         22  hundred twenty mid-tolerate scale drug operations

         23  across the City.

         24                 The majority of these criminal groups

         25  were selling and distributing drugs in more than one
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          2  county.

          3                 One of these investigations led to

          4  the indictment of seven individuals involved in a

          5  heroin ring that was smuggling kilo-size shipments

          6  of heroin, directly from Colombia,, both through

          7  couriers and swallowers-drug smugglers who swallow

          8  sometimes up to two pounds of heroin wrapped in

          9  plastic pellets and bring the heroin into the

         10  country in their digestive systems.

         11                 The two main subjects of our most

         12  recent investigation, used hotels and motels in

         13  Manhattan and Queens to meet with a courier and

         14  three swallowers and collect heroin shipments.

         15                 Two of the swallowers had to be taken

         16  to the hospital after they were arrested because

         17  they still had heroin in their system.

         18                 In total, over forty-four pounds of

         19  high purity heroin valued at about eight million

         20  dollars was recovered.

         21                 We have seen several heroin

         22  importation rings like this operation in New York

         23  over the past year.

         24                 This underscores a disturbing trend

         25  we have seen-high purity heroin flooding the New
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          2  York market and attracting younger users.

          3                 We are monitoring this situation and

          4  are already focusing more resources on targeting and

          5  dismantling heroin groups.

          6                 I'd like to point out that when we

          7  conduct major investigations, we have to allocate

          8  resources at two levels, during the investigation

          9  and during the prosecution.

         10                 The staggering cost of these

         11  operations to my Office becomes evident when you

         12  consider that a long-term investigation may take a

         13  year to complete, and another year to prosecute.

         14                 We assign a prosecution team

         15  consisting of two or more assistants and paralegal

         16  staff to work with a team of agents at the very

         17  beginning of an investigation.

         18                 This translates into a substantial

         19  investment in attorney time, technical support and

         20  operational costs during the investigation.

         21                 Once the case is indicted, we begin

         22  to absorb other expenditures related to the

         23  prosecution of the case. These prosecutions are

         24  extremely costly requiring many attorney hours and

         25  extensive paralegal support, a tremendous time
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          2  commitment from interpreters who translate hours and

          3  hours of recorded conversations and prepare

          4  voluminous pages of transcripts, Investigative

          5  analysts to review and analyze documents, records

          6  and databases.

          7                 In addition, we have focused on

          8  reducing the demand side of the narcotics equation.

          9                 In September, the Manhattan Treatment

         10  Court project, our version of a drug court, was put

         11  in place. As you know, this is the first time funds

         12  have been allocated to place non-violent first-time

         13  drug felony offenders in treatment. As several of

         14  the other counties also have drug courts, or are

         15  planning implementation, we are working in

         16  conjunction with them.

         17                 So far, we have placed sixty-three

         18  defendants in a variety of treatment programs. And,

         19  I may add, at one tenth the cost of incarceration.

         20                 Our other Alternatives Sentencing

         21  programs continue to show impressive results.

         22                 Through the D-Tap program alone, we

         23  have diverted close to six hundred defendants-all

         24  predicate felons-while maintaining a sixty percent

         25  retention rate.
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          2                 The success rate of Pregnant and

          3  Addicted Mothers Intervention and Rehabilitation,

          4  our program for pregnant defendants and addicted

          5  mothers is even higher.

          6                 These programs are setting the pace

          7  for a more focused approach in the rehabilitation of

          8  addicted drug offenders.

          9                 For the next fiscal year, we are

         10  asking that the six hundred ninety thousand dollars

         11  allocated to the Office through the Speaker's Drug

         12  Initiative be allocated again and that it be

         13  institutionalized as part of our base budget.

         14                 Frankly, not knowing whether or nor

         15  these funds will be reallocated makes it

         16  particularly difficult for us to commit resources to

         17  long-term investigations, especially during the

         18  final quarters of a year.

         19                 Year-to -year access to these funds

         20  is imperative to our operations as these

         21  investigations normally run beyond the span of a

         22  year.

         23                 This funding from the Council

         24  represents a significant portion of our total budget

         25  and it is absolutely essential if we are to maintain
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          2  the same level of commitment to major

          3  investigations.

          4                 Please keep in mind that we are

          5  targeting organizations with infinitely more

          6  resources than we will ever have.

          7                 We've had a string of successes.

          8                 It is clear that increase in drug

          9  enforcement is closely linked to decrease in crime.

         10                 We don't want to lose the edge we've

         11  gained.

         12                 Our request for new funding includes:

         13  Five hundred thousand dollars for enhanced

         14  investigations and intelligence gathering.

         15                 With the increase in the number of

         16  investigations, we need additional paralegal staff

         17  and translators who can be available at a moment's

         18  notice for debriefings, Grand Jury presentations and

         19  trials.

         20                 Because approximately ninety percent

         21  of our wiretaps and taped conversations must be

         22  transcribed for Grand Jury presentations and trials,

         23  we are routinely hiring interpreters on a per diem

         24  basis or asking Police Officers to do transcription.

         25                 When you consider that a wiretap
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          2  averages four to five months and may entail numerous

          3  cellular and landline phones, yielding hundreds of

          4  hours of conversations that need to be translated,

          5  it is a far more effective use of resources to have

          6  additional interpreters on staff.

          7                 As we are also seeking to institute a

          8  data base system to capture and categorize the

          9  massive amount of intelligence that we gather

         10  through our investigations, the work of the

         11  interpreters will simplify this process.

         12                 We will make this database available

         13  to the district attorneys and to drug enforcement

         14  agencies throughout the city.

         15                 Additionally, we are asking for

         16  approximately four hundred fifty thousand dollars in

         17  new funding for our Alternative Sentencing Bureau.

         18                 The Bureau is in dire need of

         19  additional PS and Other Than Personal Services

         20  resources.

         21                 As you know, Federal funds for the

         22  D-Tap program ended in 1996.

         23                 In Fiscal Year 1998 and Fiscal Year

         24  1999, the State allocated one hundred five thousand

         25  dollars to help defray the cost of running the
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          2  program.

          3                 Unfortunately, this funding covers

          4  only a fraction of the cost of this program to our

          5  agency.

          6                 In addition to D-TAP and Pregnant and

          7  Addicted Mothers Intervention and Rehabilitation, in

          8  response to emerging needs, the Bureau has

          9  implemented a number of other programs tailored to

         10  the needs of special groups of addicted drug

         11  offenders.

         12                 Included are: ASPIRE, a program that

         13  diverts first and second felony drug offenders from

         14  the City's prisons to day treatment programs.

         15                 A-Teen, which was developed for drug

         16  offenders between the ages of sixteen to Twenty-One

         17  and provides G.E.D. And college courses and job

         18  training in addition to treatment.

         19                 And, Train, an effort that identifies

         20  qualified nonviolent felons and places them in

         21  skills and job training programs.

         22                 We receive no grants at this time to

         23  support any of these programs and our funding

         24  request outlines the resources we need to continue

         25  to run these programs effectively.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 Caliman: An SIB Investigation Helps

          4  Launch a National Operation by the Justice

          5  Department: Joint investigation undertaken by the

          6  Special Investigations Bureau and the New York Drug

          7  Enforcement Task Force uncovered a national drug

          8  trafficking organization that imported an average of

          9  five thousand five hundred pounds of cocaine per

         10  month from Colombia into the United States.

         11                 The New York investigation focused on

         12  several large-scale cocaine cells operating in

         13  Queens, Manhattan and Staten Island.

         14                 It ended with the arrest of

         15  Thirty-Four narcotics traffickers and money

         16  couriers, the seizure of more than one thousand

         17  pounds of cocaine and the confiscation of over two

         18  point five million dollars in narcotics proceeds

         19  here in New York.

         20                 In the Summer of 1997 investigators

         21  seized approximately five hundred thousand dollars

         22  from a courier who had picked up that money from

         23  narcotics traffickers operating in New York City.

         24                 Further investigation led to a

         25  wiretap investigation targeting these narcotics
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          2  traffickers.

          3                 The investigation identified a major

          4  New York Citybased distribution network responsible

          5  for importing an average of one hundred to one

          6  thousand pounds of cocaine per month from Colombia.

          7                 The cocaine was brought into the

          8  country through the Southwest border and directed to

          9  the New York area by narcotics transporters based in

         10  Houston, Texas.

         11                 This cocaine was then resold in

         12  wholesale quantities averaging one hundred to two

         13  hundred pounds to area dealers.

         14                 Information gathered from the New

         15  York investigation helped the United States

         16  Department of justice launch parallel investigations

         17  in Houston, Texas, and Stamford, Connecticut.

         18                 Jorge Ivan Marin-Espinosa was

         19  identified during the investigation as one of the

         20  principals of this narcotics network in New York.

         21                 The Houston transporters supplied

         22  monthly shipments of one hundred to three hundred

         23  pounds of cocaine to Marin-Espinosa who, in turn,

         24  sent narcotics proceeds back to Houston via a

         25  Stamford, Connecticut money laundering organization.
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          2                 After seizing nearly one hundred

          3  twenty-five pounds of cocaine and over two million,

          4  Marin-Espinosa and three of his associates were

          5  arrested in November 1997.

          6                 They were indicted on Criminal

          7  Possession of a Controlled Substance in the First

          8  Degree and Conspiracy in the Second Degree.

          9                 The investigation went on to identify

         10  other associates of the New York narcotics network.

         11                 Anthony Santiago was arrested in

         12  February 1998 during a car stop, and approximately

         13  ten pounds of cocaine were found in Santiago's car.

         14                 In March 1998, Jose Luis Rodriguez

         15  and Angel Rijo were arrested in possession of forty

         16  pounds of cocaine. Information gathered during their

         17  arrest led to the seizure of an additional one

         18  hundred sixty pounds of cocaine.

         19                 Both defendants were indicted on

         20  Criminal Possession of a Controlled Substance in the

         21  First Degree.

         22                 Edgar Velez was arrested on April 7,

         23  1998 after he picked up a shipment of two hundred

         24  pounds of cocaine that had been sent by the Houston

         25  transporters. He was subsequently indicted on
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          2  Criminal Possession of a Controlled Substance in the

          3  First Degree.

          4                 Shortly thereafter, Richie

          5  Sierra-Barbosa, another principal in the New York

          6  narcotics network, was arrested and similarly

          7  charged for directing Velez's narcotics activity.

          8                 An off-shoot investigation led to the

          9  arrest of Nelson Mora, who was apprehended on Staten

         10  Island when he accepted delivery of four hundred

         11  thirty pounds of cocaine from a narcotics

         12  transporter who had been paid one hundred thousand

         13  dollars to transport the cocaine across the country

         14  by truck.

         15                 Both were charged with Criminal

         16  Possession of a Controlled Substance in the First

         17  Degree.

         18                 Parallel investigations undertaken by

         19  the United States Department of Justice in Houston

         20  and Stamford resulted in the seizure of more than

         21  two thousand pounds of cocaine in Houston and the

         22  arrest and prosecution of approximately eight (8)

         23  persons on Federal narcotics and money laundering

         24  charges.

         25                 Two Heroin Operations Are Targeted:
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          2                 Enhanced efforts to target heroin

          3  operations led to the dismantling of two heroin

          4  organizations distributing narcotics to various

          5  parts of the City.

          6                 One of the investigations focused on

          7  a smuggling ring that was using swallowers and other

          8  couriers to bring Colombian heroin into the City.

          9                 Seven members of the group, including

         10  Walter Ceballos, the head of the operation, were

         11  arrested at the conclusion of a four-month wiretap

         12  investigation conducted with the New York Drug

         13  Enforcement Task Force.

         14                 Close to twenty pounds of heroin was

         15  seized during the investigation.

         16                 One of the defendants had swallowed

         17  ninety heroin filled pellets-in total; he brought in

         18  almost a kilo of heroin in his digestive system.

         19                 The defendants were indicted on

         20  Conspiracy and Criminal Possession of a Controlled

         21  Substance in the First Degree.

         22                 The second investigation targeted a

         23  heroin distribution group that delivered heroin

         24  orders in food cans.

         25                 To avoid detection, the defendants
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          2  cut off the tops of Goya Bean cans, replaced the

          3  beans with heroin, glued the wrappers back onto the

          4  cans and delivered the drugs to customers in Queens

          5  and Manhattan.

          6                 The defendants were indicted on

          7  Conspiracy and Criminal Possession of a Controlled

          8  Substance in the First Degree.

          9                 Major Trafficker Gets Thirty-Five

         10  Years:

         11                 After a two-week trial, Lisandro

         12  Montes de Oca was sentenced to a prison term of

         13  thirty-five years to life.

         14                 During the trial, witnesses described

         15  his role as right-hand man to the head of a major

         16  cocaine organization targeted by a joint

         17  investigation with the New York Drug Enforcement

         18  Task Force.

         19                 During a four-month period, the

         20  organization paid up to twenty-million dollars to

         21  Colombian suppliers for cocaine shipments.

         22                 The cocaine was subsequently stored

         23  in apartments in Yonkers and the Bronx, and then

         24  sold to customers in Manhattan.

         25                 Montes de Oca, who was on parole from
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          2  a 1992 drug felon conviction in the Bronx when he

          3  was arrested on this case, was also convicted on

          4  Federal money laundering charges in the Eastern

          5  District of New York.

          6                 The Safadit Organization:

          7                 Rafael Safadit, the head of a major

          8  narcotics organization in Manhattan and the Bronx,

          9  was indicted along with five of his associates on

         10  Conspiracy in the Second Degree and Criminal

         11  Possession of a Controlled Substance in the First

         12  Degree charges as a result of an investigation with

         13  the Drug Enforcement Task Force.

         14                 Safadit regularly conducted business

         15  transactions with suppliers in Colombia, associates

         16  in New York and partners in the Dominican Republic.

         17                 Among those arrested were Madeline

         18  Cappelan, Safadit's wife and a co-defendant in the

         19  indictment, who kept records of criminal proceeds

         20  and narcotics transactions for the organization;

         21  Rafael Rodriguez, a Colombian national sent to New

         22  York by drug lords to be an apprentice in the

         23  Safadit organization.

         24                 Hector Flores Abreu, a predicate

         25  felon on lifetime parole residing in the Dominican
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          2  Republic who, along with his brother Julio assisted

          3  Safadit in handling a shipment of three hundred

          4  Twenty-Seven pounds of cocaine; and Milton Rodriguez

          5  who delivered the cocaine shipment.

          6                 In total, three hundred fifty-eight

          7  pounds of cocaine and six hundred fifteen thousand

          8  dollars in narcotics proceeds were recovered.

          9                 By year-end, all the defendants

         10  except Rafael Safadit had pleaded guilty.

         11                 The case against Safadit is scheduled

         12  for trial in spring 1999.

         13                 "Ice Dealers Are Apprehended:

         14                 One of the largest operations in the

         15  City involving "crystal meth" or "ice"- a derivative

         16  of methamphetamine during a seven-month

         17  investigation was uncovered conducted with New York

         18  Police Department's Narcotics Division.

         19                 The investigation led to the

         20  prosecution of three individuals including the main

         21  subject of the investigation, Gregory Dawson.

         22                 Dawson, a sculptor and former cabaret

         23  producer at the Rainbow Room, was netting ten

         24  thousand dollars a week selling the highly addictive

         25  drug to young adults; habitues of the City's club
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          2  scene.

          3                 Dawson and Pierre Turner, his

          4  roommate and associate sold crystal meth to an

          5  undercover officer on sixteen different occasions.

          6                 Jason Jeffreys, the group's supplier,

          7  bought the Mexican manufactured methamphetamine in

          8  California and sent regular shipments to Dawson via

          9  Federal Express.

         10                 The Model Block Program Continues:

         11                 In a continuing Citywide effort to

         12  combat drug crime, the Office participated with the

         13  New York City Police Department in the third "model

         14  block" operation- an operation that involves focused

         15  enforcement and enhanced prosecutions on a selected

         16  block.

         17                 The four-month operation on 164th

         18  Street between Broadway and St. Nicholas Avenue in

         19  Manhattan, ended the reign of a group of loosely

         20  connected gangs that controlled drug dealing on the

         21  block.

         22                 The gangs used numerous apartments on

         23  the block as their home base. Some of the drug

         24  dealers were legal tenants and resided with their

         25  families in the apartments. Other defendants used
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          2  rented rooms to store drugs and weapons.

          3                 Prior to the operation, the drug

          4  gangs had taken over the block.

          5                 Most of the dealers had keys to the

          6  front doors for all the buildings.

          7                 Some sold cocaine, heroin and

          8  marijuana from their apartments while others held

          9  open drug markets in the buildings' common areas

         10  including lobbies, hallways and basements.

         11                 Traffic on the block was always

         12  congested as customers double parked their vehicles

         13  or circled the block while they waited for drugs.

         14                 Thirteen gang members were arrested

         15  and charged with forty counts of top felony

         16  narcotics offenses.

         17                 Fifteen search warrants were

         18  executed. They resulted in the seizure of narcotics

         19  and guns and the discovery of a crack/cocaine

         20  factory.

         21                 The factory was in the basement of

         22  one of the buildings and was equipped with propane

         23  stoves, huge metal vats, cutting materials for

         24  splitting the cocaine, and metal trays for cooking

         25  and drying the crack.
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          2

          3

          4  February 23, 1999

          5  Hon. Peter F. Vallone Speaker and Majority Leader

          6  The Council, City Hall, New York, NY 10007

          7

          8  Dear Speaker Vallone:

          9                 The Office of the Special Narcotics

         10  Prosecutor has played a role in the investigation

         11  and prosecution of major narcotics climes since

         12  1971.

         13                 Our policy has always been to work

         14  together with other law enforcement agencies to

         15  develop winning strategies to deal with all aspects

         16  of drug related issues.

         17                 In January, 1998, the City Council

         18  granted this office additional funding to combat

         19  narcotics comes.

         20                 We greatly appreciate the allocation

         21  by the City Council and have used the funds to

         22  attack narcotics organizations at their very core.

         23  We have renewed our commitment to the investigation

         24  of mid and high level narcotics organizations.

         25                 We have rededicated our resources,
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          2  focusing the efforts of all of our Assistant

          3  District Attorneys, those in our Trial and our

          4  Investigations Divisions, on short and long term

          5  investigations, buy operations, search warrant

          6  investigations and wiretap investigations.

          7                 Crime levels, including drug comes,

          8  in New York City have continued their dramatic

          9  decline over the past year.

         10                 Drug abuse and drug related come,

         11  however, continue to exact an enormous toll on our

         12  society.

         13                 Studies highlight the convincing link

         14  between drug use and criminal activity: Eighty-one

         15  percent of state inmates with five or more

         16  convictions report regular drug use. Approximately

         17  half of inmates convicted of violent comes admit to

         18  using drugs, alcohol, or both at the time they

         19  committed their comes.

         20                 In economic terms, the cost of our

         21  national drug problem has been estimated at close to

         22  one hundred ten billion dollars.

         23                 The impact of drug crime and drug use

         24  on our City, thus, remains a priority law

         25  enforcement and social issue.
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          2                 Nineteen ninety-eight was another

          3  year of outstanding accomplishments for the Office

          4  of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor.

          5                 We filed over four thousand six

          6  hundred felony indictments while maintaining an

          7  exemplary conviction rate of ninety-four point six

          8  percent.

          9                 This Office also wrote nine hundred

         10  forty search warrants, more than any other Office in

         11  the nation.

         12                 Working with law enforcement

         13  agencies, we seized a record amount of narcotic

         14  drugs in 1998: Eight thousand one hundred pounds of

         15  cocaine and fifty-one pounds of heroin.

         16                 Our Special Investigations Bureau

         17  (SIB), a nationally recognized leader in the field

         18  of long-term investigations, once again led the

         19  nation with three hundred one wiretaps in 1997,

         20  which represents an Eighty-Five percent increase

         21  over the prior year.

         22                 In 1998, we surpassed this record and

         23  ended the year with three hundred ninety-nine

         24  eavesdropping warrants.

         25                 These cases are labor intensive and
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          2  costly. However, the effects of such cases are

          3  widespread, often reaching beyond the boundaries of

          4  New York City to other jurisdictions and countries.

          5                 One such investigation spearheaded by

          6  our Special Investigations Bureau, is the "Caliman"

          7  investigation.

          8                 "Calim", which began in the spring of

          9  1997, targeted an organization rooted in Colombia,

         10  which imports and distributes approximately five

         11  thousand kilograms of cocaine every six to eight

         12  weeks to New York, Houston, Miami, Bridgeport and

         13  Boston.

         14                 Wiretaps in New York not only zeroed

         15  in on traffickers located here, but also provided

         16  the necessary probable cause to begin investigations

         17  in the other jurisdictions.

         18                 These, in turn, have identified major

         19  importers, distributors and money launders in these

         20  locations.

         21                 To date, fifty-one defendants have

         22  been arrested nationwide and parts of this

         23  organization's network have been dismantled.

         24                 Additionally, over three thousand

         25  kilograms of cocaine and millions of dollars have
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          2  been seized.

          3                 Our Trial Division has also

          4  emphasized investigations this year.

          5                 In 1998, Trial Division Assistant

          6  District Attorney's directed seventy wiretap

          7  investigations and many medium and long-term

          8  investigations.

          9                 Working in partnership with the New

         10  York Police Department "building by building, block

         11  by block" initiative, an eleven month long

         12  investigation was terminated in August with the

         13  arrest of fourteen people

         14                 The Trial Division Assistant District

         15  Attorney's also continued to work with members of

         16  New York Police Department and other law enforcement

         17  agencies to target drug gangs.

         18                 One such operation, known as "Red

         19  Bandana", targeted members of a violent street gang,

         20  the Bloods, in a Citywide initiative.

         21                 As a result of this effort, one

         22  hundred sixty- seven gang members were arrested in

         23  Manhattan, Brooklyn and Queens.

         24                 Additionally, our Office has long

         25  firmly believed that a multifaceted approach is
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          2  absolutely necessary to combat drug crime and

          3  devastation.

          4                 Throughout the past year, this Office

          5  has been working in conjunction with the Mayor's

          6  Office and the Office of Court Administration to

          7  design and implement the Manhattan Treatment Court.

          8                 Through this Court, addicted

          9  defendants with minimal non-violent histories are

         10  placed in out-patent treatment programs rather than

         11  being incarcerated.

         12                 Although the Court has only been

         13  functioning on a modified basis for five months

         14  since September, 1998, it is already a success.

         15                 We have placed Fifty-Six defendants

         16  into programs, at an annual cost of approximately

         17  one-tenth of that of Incarceration.

         18                 Drug Court is just one example of

         19  this Office's commitment to the rehabilitation of

         20  addicted offenders.

         21                 This Office created the Alternative

         22  Sentencing Bureau in 1992 to divert narcotics

         23  offenders into treatment instead of prison.

         24                 By the end of 1997, our DTAP program

         25  had diverted four hundred ninety-eight defendants to
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          2  treatment facilities, of whom one hundred

          3  twenty-four were graduates.

          4                 Our program for pregnant and addicted

          5  mothers (Pregnant and Addicted Mothers Intervention

          6  and Rehabilitation) had placed one hundred thirteen

          7  women in programs by the end of 1997.

          8                The Office of the Special Narcotics

          9  Prosecutor believes that it is through cooperation

         10  and innovation that we can continue to meet the

         11  challenges we face: Dismantling criminal

         12  organizations that distribute narcotics throughout

         13  the City and the nation and treating and

         14  rehabilitating drug offenders.

         15                In 1998 we began to refine our

         16  strategy, renew our focus on investigations and

         17  expand our Alternative to Incarceration programs.

         18                 But there is much that remains to be

         19  done.

         20                 The continued support of our local

         21  elected representatives ensures our ongoing

         22  successes in New York City's battle against drugs.

         23                 Your past recognition of our

         24  accomplishments and response to our future needs is

         25  greatly appreciated. Our specific budget requests
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          2  for the coming fiscal year are detailed in the

          3  attachments that follow. Sincerely yours, Bridget G.

          4  Brennan, Special Narcotics Prosecutor, for the City

          5  of New York.

          6                 Attachment A.

          7                 Enhancement of Investigations

          8                 Today's narcotics organizations are

          9  well financed and extremely sophisticated. Staying

         10  abreast of recent technological developments is

         11  critical to the success of our investigations.

         12                 These investigations lead not only to

         13  the arrests of low-level street sellers, but to the

         14  dismantling of entire organizations throughout the

         15  City, State and Nation.

         16                 These factors have led to a renewed

         17  emphasis of the resources of this Office on the

         18  investigation of mid and high-level narcotics

         19  networks.

         20                 The three critical components to our

         21  success are our Special Investigations Bureau, our

         22  Investigations Unit and our Trial Division.

         23                 The Office Special Narcotics

         24  Prosecutor established the Special Investigations

         25  Bureau (SIB) in 1982.
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          2                 Staffed with experienced Assistant

          3  District Attorneys, the Special Investigations

          4  Bureau has built a reputation for creative and

          5  effective prosecutorial strategies and has become a

          6  source of legal and investigatory expertise for law

          7  enforcement agencies.

          8                 Special Investigations Bureau works

          9  closely with Federal, State and local drug

         10  enforcement authorities.

         11                 Through the joint efforts of Local,

         12  State, Federal and, increasingly, foreign

         13  authorities, a substantial number of Special

         14  Narcotics Prosecutor investigations are leading to

         15  the capture of international narcotic traffickers.

         16                 Annually, the Office Special

         17  narcotics Prosecutor conducts more electronic

         18  surveillance operations than any other prosecutorial

         19  office in the country.

         20                 From 1995 to 1998, the Special

         21  Investigations Bureau was primarily responsible for

         22  the almost one thousand three hundred electronic

         23  surveillance operations conducted by the Office of

         24  the Special Narcotics Prosecutor.

         25                 These operations have yielded and
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          2  continue to yield extensive and valuable

          3  intelligence into the inner operations of criminal

          4  enterprises distributing cocaine and heroin

          5  throughout the City and to other parts of the

          6  country.

          7                 The Special Investigations Bureau is

          8  also largely responsible for the more than

          9  twenty-two thousand pounds of cocaine and three

         10  hundred seventy pounds of heroin that were seized

         11  through joint investigations with various law

         12  enforcement agencies from 1995 to 1998.

         13                 The Special Narcotics Investigators

         14  Unit also conducts investigations into mid and

         15  high-level drug organizations.

         16                 Staffed with highly experienced drug

         17  enforcement veterans primarily from the Police

         18  Department's Narcotics Division and the New York

         19  Drug Enforcement Task Force, the unit develops cases

         20  from information gathered through its own network of

         21  informants and leads provided by Trial Division and

         22  Special Investigation Bureau assistants.

         23                 On an ongoing basis, the unit

         24  provides enforcement support, technical assistance

         25  and shares intelligence on drug organizations and
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          2  trafficking trends with law enforcement agencies

          3  throughout the country.

          4                 For the past several years, Special

          5  Narcotics investigators have worked on major

          6  investigations with specialized units of the Drug

          7  Enforcement Administration, the DEA Task Force,

          8  HIDTA and the U.S. Customs Service.

          9                 The unit conducts surveillance

         10  operations, executes search warrants, gathers

         11  intelligence, maintains confidential informant

         12  records, performs witness complaint reviews,

         13  supports the Alternative Sentencing Bureau and

         14  Extradition's/Detainer Unit, and provides expert

         15  testimony in many of our cases.

         16                 As our Office concentrates its

         17  efforts on investigations, the demands on our

         18  resources will increase tremendously.

         19                 But the investigation of mid and high

         20  level narcotics organizations is vital to the

         21  overall reduction of all crime in our City and

         22  State.

         23                 It is, however, very labor intensive

         24  and costly: Preparing and overseeing an

         25  investigation requires the full time effort of an
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          2  entire team of prosecutors and investigators.

          3                 Wiretap cases are particularly labor

          4  intensive.

          5                 Senior Supervising Assistant District

          6  Attorney's review and advise the two to three

          7  Assistant District Attorney's assigned to each case.

          8                 Highly skilled and specially trained

          9  paralegals support these attorneys.

         10                 Full-time Spanish language translator

         11  on our staff prepares transcripts for grand jury and

         12  court presentations.

         13                 And, of course, many members of our

         14  investigator's unit provide the surveillance and

         15  undercover support for each case.

         16                 As we intensify our commitment to

         17  these investigations, our need for increased

         18  staffing becomes more acute.

         19                 We have seen over the years that the

         20  ratio of paralegals to attorneys in Special

         21  Investigations Bureau must be small in order for

         22  that unit to work effectively.

         23                 Our Total Division must also increase

         24  its paralegal support as its Assistant District

         25  Attorney's take on the greater responsibilities and
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          2  time demands of investigative, and particularly,

          3  wiretap cases.

          4                 Our Investigators Unit has also

          5  become too small to handle all of the demands we

          6  place on them.

          7                 And, the increased numbers of

          8  wiretaps, approximately ninety percent of them in

          9  Spanish, has made it necessary for the Office

         10  Special Narcotics Prosecutor to use Spanish speaking

         11  consultants in order to keep up with the tremendous

         12  volume of translations necessary.

         13                 We are, therefore, requesting funding

         14  to augment our paralegal, investigator and

         15  translator staff.

         16                 Specifics are detailed in the

         17  attached budget.

         18                 Additionally, the combined efforts of

         19  our Assistant District Attorney's and investigators

         20  produce a massive amount of data.

         21                 Each investigation and each search

         22  warrant identifies the location and scope of a

         23  particular drug trafficking organization (or a

         24  particular sub-set or drug"cell"), the size, make-up

         25  and structure of its membership, the type, quality
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          2  and quantity of drugs it sells or stores, and the

          3  means and methodologies of its distribution network.

          4                 At present, the Office of the Special

          5  Narcotics Prosecutor has no modem up-to-date

          6  technological method of imputing, storing, sorting,

          7  categorizing and, ultimately, using all of this data

          8  to enhance narcotics interdiction and prosecution.

          9                 We would like to create a system to

         10  do so, an Investigation Reporting System (IRS).

         11                 The Investigation Reporting System

         12  would be a database into which all of the above

         13  information would be entered.

         14                 We would also enter additional

         15  information: Pedigree information on arrested

         16  defendants, unique characteristics of the packaging

         17  of narcotics, telephone numbers and addresses of

         18  targets, their sources and customers, and

         19  confidential informant information.

         20                 Once the system is designed and

         21  implemented, it would be an invaluable tool for the

         22  Office of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor and other

         23  law enforcement agencies.

         24                 Using the data we have collected we

         25  would be able to identify crossovers in what had
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          2  seemed to be unique, unconnected organizations

          3  through telephone data, packaging materials and

          4  styles, common distributors or customers, etc.

          5                 This would allow us to indict all

          6  co-conspirators in each case and would greatly

          7  enhance our prosecution efforts.

          8                 We would also be able to identify

          9  locations where enhanced police activity is

         10  necessary.

         11                 We would also be able to identify and

         12  plot trends in drug distribution and drug use,

         13  another tool that would enable us to target our

         14  resources where they would-be of the most value.

         15                 To develop and implement this

         16  program, the Office of the Special Narcotics

         17  Prosecutor would need the expertise of two full-time

         18  computer programmers.

         19                 Their work would be overseen by the

         20  Deputy Director of our MIS Department.

         21                 Additionally, we would need to

         22  upgrade both hardware and software in our office.

         23                 This would enable our assistants and

         24  investigators to utilize the Investigation Reporting

         25  System, as well as provide compatibility with the
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          2  Drug Enforcement Administration's current electronic

          3  eavesdropping technology.

          4                 The budget for the increase in

          5  staffing and related Other Than Personal Service

          6  costs is attached.

          7                 Special Investigations Bureau

          8  Proposed Budget; Five Trial Preparation Assistants

          9  at twenty-nine thousand dollars each, total one

         10  hundred Forty-Five thousand dollars; Two Translators

         11  at forty-two thousand dollars each, total

         12  eighty-four thousand dollars; two Rackets

         13  Investigators at fifty thousand dollars each, total

         14  one hundred thousand dollars; Total Personal

         15  Services three hundred twenty-nine thousand dollars.

         16                 Other Than Personal Services at

         17  fifteen percent of Personal Services Cost,

         18  forty-nine thousand three hundred fifty dollars;

         19  Total Special Investigators Bureau three hundred

         20  seventy-eight thousand three hundred fifty dollars.

         21                 Investigation Reporting System

         22  Proposed Budget.

         23                 Two computer programmers at forty-two

         24  thousand dollars each, total eighty-four thousand

         25  dollars; three Deputy Director for Management
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          2  Information Systems at sixty-five thousand dollars

          3  each, total nineteen thousand five hundred dollars;

          4  Total Personal Services one hundred three thousand

          5  five hundred dollars.

          6                 Thousand dollars; Total Personal

          7  Services three hundred Eighty-Six thousand dollars;

          8  Other Than Personal Services at fifteen percent of

          9  Personal Services Cost, fifty-seven thousand nine

         10  hundred dollars; Total Alternatives to Incarceration

         11  four hundred Forty-Three thousand nine hundred

         12  dollars.

         13                 Other Than Personal Services at

         14  fifteen percent of Personal Services Cost, fifteen

         15  thousand five hundred twenty-five dollars; three

         16  computers at two thousand five hundred dollars (One

         17  time expense), total seven thousand five hundred;

         18  Software five hundred twenty-five dollars; Total

         19  Other than Personal Services twenty-three thousand

         20  five hundred fifty dollars; Total Investigation

         21  Reporting System one hundred Twenty-Seven thousand

         22  fifty dollars.

         23                 Total Enhancement of Investigations

         24  five hundred five thousand four hundred dollars.

         25                 Attachment A
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          2                 Alternatives to incarceration:

          3                 The Alternative Sentencing Bureau was

          4  created in 1992 to divert nonviolent narcotic felony

          5  offenders into treatment instead of prison.

          6                 The Bureau oversees programs

          7  developed to address the needs of various groups

          8  within the defendant population including women with

          9  small children, pregnant women and offenders who are

         10  ill.

         11                 Our office has assigned one managing

         12  attorney, three paralegals and one secretary to the

         13  program.

         14                 Before placement, all defendants

         15  undergo a comprehensive screening program done by

         16  the Office of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor's

         17  Investigative Unit that includes background

         18  investigations and home visits.

         19                 The screening process has been a key

         20  factor in both matching defendants to treatment

         21  facilities and the Bureau's ability to maintain an

         22  average seventy-one percent retention rate.

         23                 In those instances, however, where

         24  defendants abscond from their placements, Office of

         25  the Special Narcotics Prosecutor Investigators
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          2  locate them and return them to court.

          3                 Obviously, this requires an enormous

          4  amount of time and effort on the part of Office of

          5  the Special Narcotics Prosecutor staff, but public

          6  safety is our top priority.

          7                 To carry out the various

          8  investigative functions of the Alternative

          9  Sentencing Bureau, the Office of the Special

         10  Narcotics Prosecutor has assigned two investigators

         11  on a full-time basis, with additional help provided

         12  as needed.

         13                 Five of the programs administered by

         14  our Alternative Sentencing Bureau, DTAP (Drug

         15  Treatment Alternative to Prison), Pregnant and

         16  Addicted Mothers Intervention and Rehabilitation

         17  (Pregnant and Addicted Mothers Intervention and

         18  Rehabilitation), ASPIRE (Alternative Sentencing

         19  Pre-indictment Intervention and Rehabilitation),

         20  A+TEEN (Adolescent Treatment, Education, Evaluation

         21  Now), and TRAIN (Training Rehabilitation and

         22  Intervention for Non-Addicts), have placed over six

         23  hundred defendants into treatment programs since

         24  1992.

         25                 The savings realized by these
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          2  programs are approximately nine million dollars.

          3                 Additionally, this Office has long

          4  believed that treatment alternatives to

          5  incarceration should be made available to first-time

          6  felony offenders.

          7                 This population is critical to reach

          8  and to divert from drug use and criminal activity.

          9                 Our studies have shown over thirty

         10  percent of defendants originally arrested for a

         11  narcotics felony offense are rearrested for another

         12  infraction of the law within three months of case

         13  disposition and over seventy percent return to the

         14  criminal justice system for a felony arrest within a

         15  years time.

         16                 Therefore, for the past year the

         17  Office of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor has been

         18  working in conjunction with the Office of Court

         19  Administration and the Mayor's Office to design and

         20  implement the Manhattan Treatment Court (MTC).

         21                 Through the Manhattan Treatment

         22  Court, first time offenders and those with minimal

         23  nonviolent chemical histories are being diverted

         24  into out-patient treatment rather than being

         25  incarcerated.
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          2                 The cost of incarcerating a defendant

          3  is estimated at between twenty-five thousand dollars

          4  and forty thousand dollars yearly.

          5                 Out patient treatment programs

          6  require an annual outlay of approximately three

          7  thousand five hundred dollars to five thousand

          8  dollars. The monetary saving of such a program is

          9  obvious.

         10                 The benefit to the defendant and to

         11  society of a successful placement is incalculable.

         12                 Although the Manhattan Treatment

         13  Court has only been functioning for approximately

         14  five months, Fifty- Six defendants have already been

         15  placed into programs.

         16                 We project that two hundred fifty to

         17  three hundred defendants will be placed in programs

         18  through the Court by the end of its first year.

         19                 This program, which requires careful

         20  prescreening plus on-going monitoring, requires the

         21  attention and effort of great many members of our

         22  staff. Chiefs of our three Trial Division Bureaus

         23  prescreen all incoming cases for potential

         24  candidates for the program.

         25                 Senior Assistant District Attorney
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          2  works full time coordinating the program with

          3  oversight by the Deputy Chief Assistant Distinct

          4  Attorney.

          5                 Assistant District Attorneys provide

          6  input in each case and often act as liaison between

          7  defense counsel and our Manhattan Treatment Court

          8  staff.

          9                 Two paralegals support this work full

         10  time, in and out of court, assisting in the

         11  processing of plea agreements and follow-up of each

         12  defendant placed in treatment.

         13                 Although the value of each of our

         14  Alternatives to Incarceration programs is obvious,

         15  obtaining funding for them has always been a

         16  challenge and underfunding of them a constant.

         17                 Federal grant that helped to pay for

         18  our DTAP program ended in 1996.

         19                 In Fiscal Year 1997 we received no

         20  additional funding from any source for Drug

         21  Treatment Alternative to Prison.

         22                 In Fiscal Year 1998 and Fiscal Year

         23  1999, the state helped us to bridge the gap by

         24  allocating one hundred five thousand dollars to us

         25  in order that these programs might continue.
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          2                 This funding covers only a small

          3  fraction of the cost of this program to our Agency.

          4                 Furthermore, this grant is not

          5  institutionalized, but is, rather, awarded for only

          6  a one year period.

          7                 Further funding for DTAP remains,

          8  therefore, in question.

          9                 The Federal funding we have received

         10  for the Manhattan Treatment Court program will end

         11  at the close of the Federal Fiscal Year on September

         12  30, 1999.

         13                 There is no certainty that any

         14  additional Federal monies will be forthcoming for

         15  the unfunded three quarters of Fiscal Year 2000,

         16  despite the importance of this project and its early

         17  success.

         18                 We are, therefore, seeking support

         19  for all of our Alternatives to Incarceration

         20  programs from the City.

         21                 This money, which we would request to

         22  be added to our baseline budget and

         23  institutionalized, would be used to fully fund the

         24  attorneys, investigators and support personnel who

         25  make our programs so successful.
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          2                 It will ensure the ability of the

          3  Office of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor to

          4  maintain and expand its commitment to Alternative to

          5  Incarceration initiatives.

          6                 The budget for this request is

          7  attached.

          8                 Five Trial Preparation Assistants at

          9  twenty- nine thousand dollars each, total one

         10  hundred Forty-Five thousand dollars; 1 Secretary at

         11  Forty-Five thousand dollars; two point five Rackets

         12  Investigators at fifty thousand dollars each, total

         13  one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars; 1

         14  Supervising Assistant District Attorney at

         15  seventy-one thousand dollars; Total Personal

         16  Services three hundred Eighty-Six thousand dollars;

         17  Other Than Personal Services at fifteen percent of

         18  Personal Services Cost, fifty-seven thousand nine

         19  hundred dollars; Total Alternatives to Incarceration

         20  four hundred Forty-Three thousand nine hundred

         21  dollars.

         22                 Office of the Special Narcotics

         23  Prosecutor Budget Request for City Fiscal Year 2000

         24  summary:

         25                 Enhancement of Investigations;
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          2  Special Investigations Bureau three hundred

          3  seventy-eight thousand three hundred fifty dollars;

          4  Investigation Reporting System, one hundred

          5  Twenty-Seven thousand fifty dollars; Total five

          6  hundred five thousand, four hundred dollars;

          7  Alternatives to Incarceration four hundred

          8  Forty-Three thousand nine hundred dollars;

          9                 Grand Total nine hundred forty-nine

         10  thousand three hundred dollars.

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Robert M. Morgenthau

         14  District Attorney

         15  New York County

         16

         17                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         18  address you today on the Mayor's Fiscal Year 2000

         19  Preliminary Budget and its impact on the New York

         20  County District Attorney's Office.

         21                  For Fiscal Year 2000, I am

         22  requesting increased funding to expand our legal

         23  staff to handle the increased narcotics caseload.

         24                 In addition, funds are necessary to

         25  support our commitment to prosecute domestic
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          2  violence, to establish a DNA program and a Building

          3  Repair and Maintenance Investigation Unit, to create

          4  a Bail Bond Collection unit, and to provide for our

          5  Northern Manhattan Office.

          6                 These programs are all necessary to

          7  continue the crime reductions in Manhattan that have

          8  been particularly dramatic.

          9                 In 1975, there were six hundred

         10  forty-eight homicides in Manhattan; last year there

         11  were one hundred four, a reduction of eighty-four

         12  percent.

         13                 In fact, there were half as many

         14  homicides in Manhattan last year as there were in

         15  1937, the earliest year for which reliable records

         16  are available.

         17                 In 1937, Manhattan accounted for

         18  sixty-five percent of all of the homicides in the

         19  City; in 1998 Manhattan accounted for only sixteen

         20  percent of the total.

         21                 Reductions in other categories of

         22  violent crime are nearly as significant as for

         23  homicides: In the past five year, robberies are down

         24  by nearly sixty percent and assaults have declined

         25  by more than thirty-five percent. During this
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          2  period, crime has declined in every major category.

          3                 There are many benefits to reducing

          4  crime. Safe streets and neighborhoods where

          5  residents and tourists need not be afraid of crime

          6  is the most obvious.

          7                 In addition, crime reduction in

          8  Manhattan is critical to the financial well-being,

          9  of the entire City.

         10                 The New York County District

         11  Attorney's Office must continue to receive adequate

         12  support because of the crucial role that Manhattan

         13  plays in the City's economic health.

         14                 Manhattan is the engine that drives

         15  the City's economy.

         16                 Keeping Manhattan safe from criminals

         17  has major tangible benefits for all New Yorkers.

         18                 In 1998, New York City added

         19  eighty-two thousand six hundred private sector jobs,

         20  which is by far the largest increase in private

         21  sector positions in one year.

         22                 Forecasters predict that 1999 will

         23  see continued expansion. If so, by the end of 1999,

         24  New York City will have regained all of the

         25  positions it lost during the recession of 1989 to
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          2  1992.

          3                 Between March 31, 1997 and March 31,

          4  1998, the latest period for which statistics are

          5  available, Manhattan accounted for ninety-four

          6  percent of payroll increases and seventy-eight

          7  percent of new jobs for the entire City.

          8                 As of March 31, 1998, Manhattan

          9  accounted for eighty-three percent of all payroll

         10  receipts for the entire City.

         11                 The preeminence of Manhattan in

         12  providing employment and generating revenue is also

         13  illustrated by its percent of City taxes.

         14                  Nearly seventy-six percent of

         15  residents' personal income tax, seventy percent of

         16  business taxes, one hundred percent of commercial

         17  rent tax, ninety-one percent of the hotel tax, and

         18  sixty percent of the real property tax.

         19                 Though it accounts for only twenty

         20  percent of the population, Manhattan Generates

         21  two-thirds of total New York City tax revenues.

         22                 The City collects about nine thousand

         23  five hundred dollars for each Manhattan resident and

         24  spends about six thousand five hundred dollars of

         25  that in the other boroughs.
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          2                 The economic boom can be explained by

          3  numerous factors. But certainly, plummeting crime

          4  and the confidence it inspires has played an

          5  essential role in New York City's recent

          6  renaissance.

          7                 However, even though crime is down,

          8  arrests remain high. Arrests have increased

          9  dramatically -- up nearly thirty percent since 1993.

         10                 During the same period, legal

         11  staffing in this Office has not expanded. To keep

         12  pace with the heavy caseload, our Office must divert

         13  resources to one area at the expense of others.

         14          Our staff is overextended.

         15                 Narcotics:

         16                 Much of the increase in arrest volume

         17  stems from narcotics initiatives.

         18                 Because drugs play a role in numerous

         19  crimes, this is a sensible use of resources. Felony

         20  drug indictments handled by our Office have

         21  increased forty-one percent in the past year alone.

         22                 Since 1994, misdemeanor narcotics

         23  arrests in Manhattan have increased more than eighty

         24  percent.

         25                 With scheduled Police personnel
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          2  increases earmarked for expanding the drug

          3  initiatives, we expect our narcotics caseload to

          4  increase even more in the coming year.

          5                 To keep pace with the rising

          6  narcotics caseload, existing resources have been

          7  reallocated to this area because our legal staff has

          8  not expanded during the past five years.

          9                 But it is not just the reduction in

         10  narcotics related crime that is good for the City.

         11                 We are also committed to prosecuting

         12  other crimes, less visible but equally insidious.

         13                 White Collar and Organized Crime:

         14                 This Office devotes considerable

         15  resources to prosecuting white collar and organized

         16  crime, even while narcotics cases demand an

         17  increasing portion of our resources.

         18                 Strong commitment to the prosecution

         19  of white collar and organized crime is essential if

         20  we hope to protect the well-being of New York City's

         21  economy.

         22                 New York is home to the world's major

         23  financial markets and institutions and as a result,

         24  this Office plays a significant role in policing the

         25  business community.
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          2                 During the past five years, for

          3  example, my Office, in cooperation with the City and

          4  State Police and others, have brought wide ranging

          5  indictments involving the carting industry, the

          6  management of co-ops and condominiums, the interior

          7  construction business, major unions in the

          8  construction trades, the securities business.

          9                 This Office is requesting funding for

         10  an important white collar crime initiative: The

         11  investigation and prosecution of fraudulent

         12  practices in the repair and maintenance of

         13  commercial and residential buildings in the City.

         14                 These fraudulent activities hamper

         15  the natural and healthy competition between

         16  legitimate businesses competing for contracts.

         17                 Investigations into corrupt practices

         18  in the repair and maintenance of commercial and

         19  residential buildings will greatly benefit the

         20  economic well being of all New Yorkers and are

         21  important in ensuring, that buildings are safe for

         22  their residents.

         23                 DNA:

         24                 DNA evidence gathering, is the most

         25  significant development in law enforcement in
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          2  decades and will result in vast gains in criminal

          3  investigation practices.

          4                 Therefore, this Office seeks to

          5  establish a DNA unit to work in coordination with

          6  the New York City Medical Examiner's Office and New

          7  York Police Department to evaluate unsolved rape

          8  cases and to focus on the analysis of DNA to solve

          9  these cases.

         10                 The Medical Examiner's Office has

         11  already analyzed the DNA samples of perpetrators

         12  that have been obtained from over six hundred rape

         13  victims.

         14                 However, there are twelve thousand

         15  evidence samples from rape cases that have not yet

         16  been screened.

         17                 This Office is proposing to create a

         18  unit that will work with the Medical Examiner's

         19  Office and the Police Department to investigate

         20  unsolved sexual assault cases and decide in which of

         21  these the evidence should be analyzed by the Medical

         22  Examiner's Office.

         23                 When DNA implicates a defendant in

         24  one of these cases, this Office will subsequently

         25  coordinate the investigation and ultimately
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          2  prosecute these defendants.

          3                 Increased cooperation will improve

          4  our ability to identify perpetrators and exonerate

          5  innocent defendants.

          6                 Domestic Violence:

          7                 This Office is asking for funds to

          8  continue and enhance our domestic violence program,

          9  a crime which affects so many New Yorkers.

         10                 Domestic violence is an extremely

         11  serious and pervasive problem in Manhattan.

         12                 The program seeks to break the cycle

         13  of violence by encouraging victims to bring charges

         14  against abusers, enhancing the prosecution of these

         15  cases with early investigation, and expanding the

         16  resources available for community outreach.

         17                 An important component in achieving

         18  these objectives will be to have an Assistant

         19  District Attorney on twenty-four hour call for

         20  domestic violence cases.

         21                 In the most serious cases, Domestic

         22  Violence Assistant District Attorneys and

         23  Investigators would visit hospitals to interview the

         24  victim at the earliest point in the case when the

         25  incident and facts are still fresh in the victim's
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          2  mind.

          3                 Early intervention would permit

          4  Assistant District Attorneys to take statements from

          5  defendants and allow for more timely recovery of

          6  evidence, thus enhancing prosecutions.

          7                 Bail Bond Collection:

          8       I also request funds to start a bail bond

          9  collection unit.

         10                 In a given year, total bond

         11  forfeitures exceed five hundred thousand dollars.

         12                 With only one hundred thousand

         13  dollars to set up a collection unit, we expect to

         14  return to the City of at least five hundred thousand

         15  dollars.

         16                 Northern Manhattan Office:

         17                 In addition, this Office seeks funds

         18  for our Northern Manhattan Office located in the

         19  Adam Clayton Powell Office building on West 125th

         20  Street.

         21                 The funds will provide for the costs

         22  of staff and rental for a long standing program that

         23  provides assistance to individuals and community

         24  groups in Northern Manhattan.

         25                 An important component of this effort
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          2  is the Office's Domestic Violence Project, which has

          3  met with and assisted many victims of domestic

          4  violence over the years.

          5                 We are extremely proud of the work of

          6  this Office and wish the City to assist in defraying

          7  the costs of operating this vital community service.

          8                 The programs that I have submitted to

          9  you will allow this Office to continue to respond to

         10  its complex workload demands and provide for

         11  programs that benefit the residents of New York

         12  City.

         13                 We have seen the positive results of

         14  investing in criminal justice programs and I am

         15  asking that you provide additional funds to continue

         16  our important initiatives.

         17                 The programs are described in more

         18  detail in the attached document and include specific

         19  dollar amounts requested for each program.

         20                 I would like to take the opportunity

         21  to respond to the issues raised by the Chairs of the

         22  Public Safety and Finance Committees in their letter

         23  to my Office.

         24                 This Office continues to be a leader

         25  in the City's efforts to streamline arrest
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          2  processing reduce arrest to arraignment time, and

          3  decrease Police overtime.

          4                 In addition, this Office continues to

          5  devote considerable effort to re-engineering our

          6  part of the arrest to arraignment process.

          7                 We have been working, with the

          8  Criminal Justice Coordinator to finalize the

          9  provisions of the latest arrest processing

         10  initiative.

         11                 With appropriate funding, this Office

         12  will continue existing, arrest processing

         13  initiatives and will institute enhancements.

         14                 These enhancements involve the use of

         15  improved technology to bring further efficiencies to

         16  the Complaint Room.

         17                 While we are committed to work with

         18  the City in instituting a new incentive program to

         19  reduce arrest processing time, it is important that

         20  the City recognize this Office's ongoing costs by

         21  increasing our baseline budget to pay for these

         22  expenses.

         23                 By not building, these arrest

         24  processing funds into our budget, the City has not

         25  provided the Office with a reliable source of
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          2  revenue that would pay for the costly enhancements

          3  that we have made to our arrest processing system.

          4                 Thus, we could be in the untenable

          5  position of either eliminating these costly

          6  enhancements or being forced to pay for this program

          7  to the detriment of other valuable programs.

          8                 Other Than Personal Services cuts

          9  have had a negative impact on our budget, as well

         10                 Between Fiscal Year 1992 and 1997,

         11  this Office has absorbed a total cut in our Other

         12  Than Personal Services budget of over two million

         13  dollars, an amount that is now permanently lost each

         14  year in our baseline Other Than Personal Services

         15  budget.

         16                 The proposed additional two percent

         17  cut would further affect this Office adversely and

         18  we hope that this reduction is rescinded.

         19                 Once again, this Office was pleased

         20  to receive funds as part of the Speaker's Drug

         21  Initiative this fiscal year.

         22                 Although not part of our baseline

         23  budget, we have been able to utilize these funds in

         24  support of our anti- drug, strategy.

         25                 This Office's Homicide Investigation
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          2  Unit (HIU) has used these funds to enhance its

          3  investigation of drug gangs on the Lower East Side

          4  and in Midtown.

          5                 On the Lower East Side, thirty-nine

          6  defendants were arrested and charged with conspiracy

          7  to distribute heroin and three gang members were

          8  charged with the murder of a seventeen year old

          9  woman, who was thrown off a roof because of a

         10  dispute over missing drugs.

         11                 Members of the gangs are also charged

         12  with using children under the age of sixteen as part

         13  of their drug business.

         14                 In Midtown, as a result of a

         15  ten-month investigation, one hundred two members of

         16  seven different gangs were indicted on felony

         17  conspiracy, narcotics, weapons, attempted murder and

         18  assault charges.

         19                 The gangs were responsible for nine

         20  attempted murders. These gang members face lengthy

         21  prison terms upon conviction.

         22                 As a result of the Speaker's Drug

         23  Initiative, our Narcotics Eviction Program (NEP) has

         24  expanded its activity to combat drug dealing in two

         25  SRO-type hotels.
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          2                 These hotels are managed by

          3  community-based, non-profit providers who are

          4  taking, an active role in improving the quality of

          5  life of their tenants.

          6                 Narcotics Eviction Program has worked

          7  closely with the landlords and the Police to

          8  coordinate narcotic initiatives inside the SROS.

          9                 As a result of this collaboration,

         10  search warrants have been executed and numerous drug

         11  dealing tenants have been evicted.

         12                 In addition, Narcotics Eviction

         13  Program has been working, with landlords and

         14  managers of other SROs to educate them about using

         15  Narcotics Eviction Program to evict drug dealing

         16  tenants.

         17                 Lastly, this Office's Trespass

         18  Affidavit Program (TAP), which enlists the

         19  cooperation of landlords so that Police can conduct

         20  vertical patrols of residential buildings plagued by

         21  drug trafficking, has increased enrollment in the

         22  program to two thousand eight hundred fifty-one

         23  residential buildings.

         24                 In the 1st Precinct, the program has

         25  expanded to include eight commercial buildings
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          2  experiencing an increase in larcenies.

          3                 During non business hours, Officers

          4  from the 1st Precinct conduct vertical patrols in

          5  these buildings. As a direct result of this program,

          6  these buildings are safer environments for their

          7  occupants.

          8                 The funds provided by the Speaker's

          9  Drug, Initiative have been invaluable in enhancing

         10  our efforts to combat drug crime.

         11                 Future funding would result in even

         12  more tangible benefits to the residents of the City,

         13  and we hope that this Initiative can be continued.

         14                 Narcotics Initiative:

         15                 This Office has seen its narcotic

         16  caseload skyrocket in the past several years.

         17                 This increased workload has not been

         18  accompanied by any increases in City funding and, as

         19  a result, we have not been able to increase our

         20  staff to handle the greatly increased volume.

         21                 In order to keep pace with the

         22  surging narcotics caseload, this Office requests

         23  seven hundred eighty-seven thousand eight hundred

         24  dollars in funding, to add a total of eighteen

         25  Assistant District Attorneys (twelve misdemeanor
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          2  Assistants and six felony Assistants) to our staff.

          3                 Though our entire case load has

          4  increased by thirty percent in the past five years,

          5  we are requesting a legal staff increase of only two

          6  percent.

          7                 The Police Department has begun three

          8  major initiatives in Manhattan during the past two

          9  years.

         10                 The Northern Manhattan Initiative

         11  (NMI) began in July of 1997, seven hundred fifty

         12  Officers were assigned to cover three precincts in

         13  Washington Heights.

         14                 These narcotics Officers focus on the

         15  drug, trade by cultivating confidential informants

         16  and conducting undercover investigations that lead

         17  to felony arrests.

         18                 Uniformed Officers are also assigned

         19  to the targeted precincts. These "tracer" units

         20  focus on misdemeanor drug, arrests and other quality

         21  of life crimes.

         22                 Similar model was used to begin the

         23  Central Harlem Initiative (CHI) in July of 1998.

         24                 More than four hundred Officers were

         25  assigned to the two precincts covered by the
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          2  initiative.

          3                 Again, Officers were split between

          4  narcotics units and uniformed units.

          5                 On February 15, 1999, the East Harlem

          6  Initiative (EHI) saw the assignment of more than two

          7  hundred Officers to the two easternmost precincts of

          8  Harlem.

          9                 As one would expect, the increased

         10  Police activity in Northern Manhattan is mirrored in

         11  the volume of narcotics cases handled in Manhattan.

         12                 Felony drug indictments handled by

         13  our Office have increased forty-one percent in the

         14  past year alone.

         15                 In addition, many narcotics cases are

         16  increasingly complex. Police attention can

         17  discourage crime, but it does not eliminate it

         18  entirely.

         19                 Some criminals will continue their

         20  illicit activities with redoubled efforts. They

         21  devote more resources to disguising or hiding their

         22  business in order to evade increased vigilance by

         23  law enforcement agencies.

         24                 As a result, we must invest resources

         25  in complex investigations that involve high-tech
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          2  surveillance, undercover work, and confidential

          3  informants.

          4                 Investigations require many months of

          5  work before an indictment, some investigations last

          6  more than a year. Wiretaps and other surveillance

          7  techniques are used to gather information about

          8  suspects. The process is labor and resource

          9  intensive, but effective.

         10                 One recent five month investigation

         11  resulted in felony charges against fifteen

         12  defendants, brought under three separate

         13  indictments.

         14                 The trials are pending.

         15                 In 1994, there were fourteen thousand

         16  six hundred eighteen misdemeanor drug arrests in

         17  Manhattan.

         18                 In 1998, there were twenty six

         19  thousand three hundred sixty-three misdemeanor drug

         20  arrests -- an increase of more than eighty percent.

         21                 On average, misdemeanor assistants,

         22  who are responsible for all aspects of the case, now

         23  handle upwards of six hundred cases each year, with

         24  more than one hundred active at any one time.

         25                 Frequently, misdemeanor assistants
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          2  have caseloads approaching, nearly two hundred

          3  cases.

          4                 Our Office has already diverted

          5  precious resources to handle the narcotics caseload.

          6                 The absolute limit of the number of

          7  cases we can effectively handle is rapidly

          8  approaching.

          9                 Without increased support from the

         10  City, the impressive strides which we have made in

         11  driving down crime may be compromised.

         12                 For the last five years the Police

         13  force has been expanding, arrests have been

         14  increasing, and our total caseload growing.

         15                 With hundreds of new Police Officers

         16  recently devoted to the East Harlem Initiative in

         17  Northern Manhattan, our caseload is certain to grow

         18  even more.

         19                 It is essential for the City to

         20  provide adequate resources for the prosecution of

         21  these arrests.

         22                 Narcotics Initiative; Twelve

         23  Misdemeanor Assistant District Attorneys at Forty

         24  Thousand Dollars each, Four Hundred Eighty Thousand

         25  Dollars; Six Felony Assistant District Attorneys at
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          2  Fifty Thousand Dollars each, Three Hundred Thousand

          3  Dollars; Other Than Personal Services at ten percent

          4  of PS, Seven Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars; Total

          5  Seven Hundred Eight-Seven Thousand Eight Hundred

          6  Dollars.

          7                 Building, Repair and Maintenance

          8  Investigation Unit:

          9                 I am asking, for six hundred

         10  eighty-seven thousand five hundred dollars to

         11  establish a Building Repair and Maintenance

         12  Investigation Unit (BRMIU).

         13                 This unit would expose and prosecute

         14  corrupt practices in the repair and maintenance of

         15  commercial and residential buildings in Manhattan.

         16                 Successful prosecution depends upon

         17  long term investigations involving electronic

         18  surveillance, undercover operatives, and the use of

         19  confidential informants.

         20                 Often, investigations require the

         21  expertise of forensic accountants, who would work

         22  alongside Attorneys in the Building Repair and

         23  Maintenance Investigation Unit.

         24                 One example of corruption can be seen

         25  in an ongoing investigation in the building repair
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          2  industry.

          3                 In order to secure a contract in the

          4  segment of the industry under investigation,

          5  companies must pay a kickback to the building

          6  manager.

          7                 These kickbacks run into the tens of

          8  millions of dollars each year.

          9                 In essence, any residential building

         10  in which such work is done is likely to pay what

         11  amounts to a ten percent corruption tax.

         12                 Ultimately, the expense is

         13  shouldered, by tenants.

         14                 Additionally, illegal kickbacks and

         15  payoffs go unreported, leaving, millions of dollars

         16  untaxed.

         17                 Unfortunately, the complex nature of

         18  fraud in this industry makes it difficult to uncover

         19  and leaves it undetected by all but the most

         20  directed investigative work; Police on the street do

         21  not stumble across such fraud.

         22                 Therefore, specialized efforts by the

         23  Building, Repair and Maintenance Investigation Unit

         24  of the New York County District Attorney's Office

         25  are the only way that this crime can be effectively
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          2  combated.

          3                 The long term dedication of resources

          4  to investigations that often last several years is

          5  the only way to expose this type of corruption.

          6                 The establishment of a Building,

          7  Repair and Maintenance Investigation Unit would

          8  benefit all New Yorkers by exposing unsafe building,

          9  practices and by reducing the illegal and

         10  unnecessary expenses incurred by all those who live

         11  and work in Manhattan.

         12                 The Building Repair and Maintenance

         13  Investigation Unit's exposure of corrupt payments

         14  will expand the legitimate tax base.

         15                 Building Repair and Maintenance

         16  Investigation Unit; One Senior Assistant District

         17  Attorney, Sixty Thousand Dollars; Three Assistant

         18  District Attorneys at Fifty Thousand Dollars each,

         19  One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars; Six

         20  Investigators at Forty Thousand Dollars each, Two

         21  Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars; Two Accountants at

         22  Fifty Thousand Dollars each, One Hundred Thousand

         23  Dollars; Two Paralegals at Twenty-Five Thousand

         24  Dollars, Fifty Thousand Dollars; One Unit Secretary

         25  Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars, Other Than Personal
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          2  Services at ten percent of PS, Sixty-Two Thousand

          3  Five Hundred Dollars; Total Six Hundred Eighty-

          4  Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars.

          5                 DNA Program:

          6                 This Office is requesting Two Hundred

          7  Eighty- Six Thousand Five Hundred dollars to

          8  establish a DNA unit to work in coordination with

          9  the New York City Medical Examiner's Office and the

         10  New York Police Department to evaluate unsolved rape

         11  cases and to focus on the analysis of DNA to solve

         12  those cases.

         13                 The Medical Examiner's Office has

         14  already analyzed the DNA samples of perpetrators

         15  that have been obtained from over six hundred rape

         16  victims.

         17                 However, there are twelve Thousand

         18  evidence samples from rape cases that have not yet

         19  been screened.

         20                 This Office is proposing to create a

         21  unit composed of two Senior Assistant District

         22  Attorneys and two investigators who will work with

         23  the Medical Examiner's Office and the Police

         24  Department to investigate old sexual assault cases

         25  and decide in which of these the evidence should be
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          2  analyzed by the Medical Examiner's Office.

          3                 When DNA implicates a defendant in

          4  one of these cases, this Office will subsequently

          5  coordinate the investigation and ultimately

          6  prosecute these defendants.

          7                 Case handled by this Office

          8  illustrates the value of such an approach.

          9                 The sexual assault of a thirteen year

         10  old girl in April 1998 resulted in the lineup

         11  identification and arrest of a suspect.

         12                 However, his DNA did not match the

         13  DNA obtained from the victim and the case against

         14  this suspect was dismissed.

         15                 In September 1998, a fifteen year old

         16  girl on her way home to her apartment in a housing

         17  project in upper Manhattan was attacked and sexually

         18  assaulted at knife point.

         19                 The victim later identified a man who

         20  lived in the same building and  he was subsequently

         21  arrested and identified in a line-up. Based on the

         22  victim's identification, and other information that

         23  appeared to corroborate her story, the man was

         24  indicted.

         25                 This defendant was later exonerated
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          2  and released from custody when the DNA recovered

          3  from the victim's body was tested, and was found not

          4  to match the indicted suspect.

          5                 The DNA did, however, match a

          6  previously unconnected homicide, in which there were

          7  no living witnesses or other leads.

          8                 Thus, as a result of DNA, two

          9  defendants previously charged with committing

         10  serious crimes were exonerated, and new avenues of

         11  investigation were opened up on a homicide case.

         12                 In addition, two other suspects in

         13  these rapes were exonerated by DNA analysis.

         14                 Review of the linked sexual assault

         15  and homicide cases revealed that a man by the name

         16  of Arohn Kee had been implicated but not charmed in

         17  both cases.

         18                 His DNA was obtained and found to

         19  match the linked cases.

         20                 Further investigation uncovered two

         21  earlier homicides and a sexual assault that Kee may

         22  also have committed. The DNA from these cases is

         23  being examined. Kee was arrested in Florida with a

         24  sixteen year old girl, and is awaiting extradition

         25  on a New York County indictment.
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          2                 Clearly, DNA technology has

          3  tremendous value in determining the true identity of

          4  violent criminals and in exonerating those who have

          5  been falsely accused.

          6                 This Office wishes to link our

          7  prosecutorial expertise with the investigative

          8  resources of the Medical Examiner's Office and the

          9  Police Department to solve these crimes.

         10                 Funds are requested for legal and

         11  investigative staff, for computer software to

         12  perform sophisticated searches, and for members of

         13  the DNA Unit to train other Assistant District

         14  Attorneys and Investigators in this Office on the

         15  use and role of this sophisticated DNA technology.

         16                 DNA Program; Two Assistant District

         17  Attorneys at Fifty Thousand Dollars each, One

         18  Hundred Thousand Dollars; Two Investigators at

         19  Forty-Five Thousand Dollars each, Ninety Thousand

         20  Dollars; One Paralegals, Twenty-Five Thousand

         21  Dollars; Computer Equipment, Thirty Thousand

         22  Dollars; Assistant District Attorneys/Investigator

         23  Training, Twenty Thousand Dollars; Other Than

         24  Personal Services at ten percent of PS, Twenty-One

         25  Thousand Five Hundred Dollars; Total Two Hundred
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          2  Eighty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Dollars.

          3                 Domestic Violence:

          4                 I am requesting three hundred

          5  seventy-four hundred dollars to expand the efforts

          6  of this Office's Domestic Violence Unit.

          7                 The unit, which had been funded by

          8  Edward Byme Anti-Drug Abuse monies from 1993 through

          9  1997, has proven to be an invaluable resource in

         10  combating domestic violence.

         11                 Federal regulations, which limit the

         12  period of federal funding, required termination of

         13  funding in June 1997.

         14                 Without additional funding, the

         15  Office may be forced to reduce the scope of the unit

         16  and the services that it provides.

         17                 Domestic violence is an extremely

         18  serious and pervasive problem in Manhattan, where in

         19  1998 this Office prosecuted five thousand two

         20  hundred eighty-seven domestic violence cases --

         21  topping five thousand for the second consecutive

         22  year.

         23                 This total represents a twenty-seven

         24  point one percent increase in domestic violence

         25  cases in the last five years.
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          2                 The objectives of the Domestic

          3  Violence Unit are to empower victims to break the

          4  cycle of violence by bringing charges against their

          5  abusers to enhance the prosecution of these cases,

          6  and to expand community outreach and education.

          7                 Therefore, we are requesting funds to

          8  replace the lost Federal funding and to expand the

          9  scope of the Domestic Violence Unit to provide more

         10  intensive early intervention by Attorneys.

         11                 Experience has shown that the sooner

         12  a victim has personal contact with a representative

         13  of our Office, the more likely it is that she will

         14  cooperate in the prosecution of her abuser.

         15                 In this Office's complaint room,

         16  Office policy currently dictates that Assistant

         17  District Attorneys who screen domestic violence

         18  cases must attempt to contact all victims before a

         19  charging decision is made.

         20                 However, because the complaint room

         21  is an extremely busy place, screening over one

         22  hundred twenty-five thousand cases a year, it

         23  remains a continuing challenging to insure that all

         24  domestic violence cases receive appropriate special

         25  attention at intake.
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          2                 Early intervention would entail

          3  having, an assistant district attorney on

          4  twenty-four hour call.

          5                 In the most serious cases, Domestic

          6  Violence Assistant District Attorneys and

          7  investigators would visit hospitals to interview the

          8  victim when the incident has just occurred and the

          9  facts are fresh in her mind.

         10                 Injuries would be documented by

         11  photographs, and in appropriate cases, written or

         12  videotaped statements would be taken from the

         13  victim.

         14                 In many cases, early intervention

         15  would permit Assistant District Attorneys to take

         16  statements from defendants and allow for more timely

         17  recovery of evidence, including applications for

         18  search warrants.

         19                 In addition to the prosecution of

         20  abusers, the Domestic Violence Unit provides

         21  education, information, and support services.

         22                 The Domestic Violence Unit also

         23  maintains ongoing, outreach and education programs

         24  for community groups and potential victims on their

         25  families, and issues such as what constitutes abuse,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  resources available for victims and their families,

          3  and how to initiate a criminal prosecution.

          4                 In sum, the Domestic Violence Unit, a

          5  potent tool in combating the incidence of domestic

          6  violence in Manhattan, is dependent upon the

          7  provision of continued funding.

          8                 Its past success is ail accurate

          9  indicator of the unit's viability and effectiveness.

         10                 This Unit provides the City with the

         11  unique opportunity to support a demonstrably viable

         12  and effective law enforcement and community service

         13  program.

         14                 Domestic Violence Unit; One

         15  Supervising Assistant District Attorney, Sixty-Five

         16  Thousand Dollars; Four Assistant District Attorneys

         17  at Forty-Five Thousand Dollars each, One Hundred

         18  Eighty Thousand Dollars; One Program Coordinator,

         19  Thirty Thousand Dollars; One Community Liaison,

         20  Thirty Thousand Dollars; One Counselor, Thirty-Five

         21  Thousand Dollars; Other Than Personal Services at

         22  ten percent of PS, Thirty-Four Thousand Dollars;

         23  Total Three Hundred Seventy-Four Thousand Dollars.

         24                 Bail Bond Collection Unit:

         25                 If provided with one hundred thousand
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          2  dollars for the establishment of a Bail Bond

          3  Collection Unit, my Office expects a return to the

          4  City of at least five hundred thousand dollars. This

          5  proposed unit will consist of an Attorney, an

          6  Administrative Assistant and an Analyst.

          7                 When a defendant is arraigned, often

          8  a judge sets bail. The bail serves as collateral,

          9  guaranteeing the defendant's appearance at the next

         10  court date.

         11                 When defendants cannot afford the

         12  bail set by a judge they may contract with a bail

         13  bond company which then posts the bail.

         14                 If the defendant fails to appear in

         15  court and the judge rules that the bail should be

         16  forfeited, the bail bond company is responsible for

         17  payment to the City.

         18                 Each year in Manhattan, defendants

         19  forfeit more than $1,000,000 worth of bail bonds.

         20  The forfeited funds are owed to New York City, but

         21  often go uncollected.

         22                 District Attorneys are authorized to

         23  collect on bail bond forfeitures.

         24                 The collection of bond forfeitures

         25  has a legal aspect and an administrative aspect. The

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            177

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  legal mechanism of bond forfeiture requires that our

          3  legal staff respond in writing, to challenges posed

          4  by bond companies.

          5                 Paperwork must be filed with the

          6  Courts according to strict deadlines, which, if

          7  missed, absolve bond companies of their obligation

          8  to pay.

          9                 Thus, the work of the legal staff

         10  defends and preserves the City's right to collect

         11  legitimate forfeitures which occur in Manhattan.

         12                 The administrative aspect of bond

         13  collection demands strict bookkeeping and this

         14  Office's perpetual scrutiny of the bond companies.

         15                 Unfortunately, we lack the resources

         16  to perform adequately the tasks needed for speedy

         17  collection on bond forfeitures.

         18                 With $100,000 in funding, to cover

         19  the costs associated with bond collection, we expect

         20  to collect at least $500,000 within a year.

         21                 This is money that goes directly into

         22  City coffers.

         23                 In providing funding, for a Bail Bond

         24  Collection Unit, the City will be making a sound

         25  investment; in investment terms, it is hard to argue
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          2  with a guaranteed minimum return of five hundred

          3  percent.

          4                 Bail Bond Collection Unit; 1/2 FTE

          5  Felony Assistant District Attorney, Sixty Thousand

          6  Dollars; One Administrative Assistant, Twenty-Seven

          7  Thousand Six Hundred Eighty-Five Dollars; One

          8  Analyst, Thirty-Three Thousand Two Hundred

          9  Twenty-Four Dollars; Other Than Personal Services at

         10  ten percent of PS, Nine Thousand Ninety-One Dollars;

         11  Total One Hundred Thousand Dollars.

         12                 Northern Manhattan Office Programs:

         13                 I am renewing my annual request to

         14  fund this Office's Northern Manhattan Office located

         15  in the State Office Building, on West 125th Street.

         16                 I am requesting, five hundred sixty

         17  thousand nine hundred dollars to provide for staff

         18  and rental costs.

         19                 Since 1987, when the Northern

         20  Manhattan Office opened, my staff has been providing

         21  assistance to this community with no additional

         22  funds provided by the City or State.

         23                 In 1993, increased demand

         24  necessitated an expansion of the Northern Manhattan

         25  Office to meet the needs of the community.
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          2                 In 1995, a new personal computer with

          3  video and fax capabilities was installed to improve

          4  service to this community.

          5                 Currently, the Office provides

          6  services to nearly two thousand people and community

          7  groups annually.

          8                 This Office's budget request is a

          9  faction of the two million dollars that the City has

         10  allocated to the Harlem Neighborhood Defenders

         11  Project.

         12                 Since 1991, more than twelve thousand

         13  citizens have utilized the services available at the

         14  Northern Manhattan Office regarding both criminal

         15  cases and non-legal topics.

         16                 In 1998 there were one thousand nine

         17  hundred thirty-eight total visits.

         18                 The cornerstone of the Northern

         19  Manhattan Office is its Domestic Violence Project,

         20  which began in March 1991 and has expanded markedly

         21  since.

         22                 Two-thirds of all domestic violence

         23  arrests in Manhattan occur in the eight precincts

         24  incorporating Harlem, East Harlem, Washington

         25  Heights and Inwood.
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          2                 In 1998, staff from the Northern

          3  Manhattan Office met with hundreds of domestic

          4  violence victims, many of whom establish solid and

          5  trusting relationships with our coordinators and

          6  return for follow-up visits.

          7                 The domestic violence coordinators

          8  are available locally to the majority of domestic

          9  violence victims in Manhattan, and provide them with

         10  an array of services.

         11                 The coordinators also maintain close

         12  relationships with the specially designated domestic

         13  violence liaison Officers at the precincts in

         14  northern Manhattan.

         15                 In addition, a certified social

         16  worker staffs the Northern Manhattan Office,

         17  providing victims, witnesses, and their families

         18  therapeutic counseling to help them cope with the

         19  trauma associated with violent crime.

         20                 In 1998, this counselor had

         21  approximately six hundred fifty counseling sessions

         22  (up thirty percent from 1997), and eighty percent of

         23  her clients were domestic violence cases.

         24                 She met with several hundred

         25  additional clients to help connect them with social
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          2  services.

          3                 The installation of the personal

          4  computer with video and fax capabilities has

          5  significantly enhanced our ability to serve victims

          6  and witnesses in northern Manhattan.

          7                 This system facilitates communication

          8  between complainants and legal staff at our downtown

          9  Office.

         10                 Assistant District Attorneys conduct

         11  interviews via video as part of the complaint

         12  drafting process or as follow-up to prior contacts

         13  with the witnesses.

         14                 Complainants are saved the cost and

         15  inconvenience of traveling downtown each time they

         16  need to see an attorney.

         17                 In addition to the Domestic Violence

         18  Project, Northern Manhattan Office staff meet with

         19  community members and the Police to develop

         20  anti-drug strategies.

         21                 This Office provides a secure

         22  setting, where residents can relay critical

         23  information related to drug dealing activity and

         24  other crime problems.

         25                 In 1998, nearly three hundred such
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          2  meetings were held at this location.

          3                 Because of the importance of this

          4  effort, an on-site senior investigator, along with

          5  the Office's Director, evaluates intelligence

          6  information and coordinates prosecutions with staff

          7  at our Central Office.

          8                 The funding I am requesting- for

          9  personnel will pay for existing staff, as well as an

         10  additional investigator to assist in domestic

         11  violence cases, and an interpreter to assist Spanish

         12  speaking victims.

         13                 Each of these staff positions is a

         14  necessary component of addressing the legal problems

         15  of our constituents. Since the Northern Manhattan

         16  Office rents space at the State Office Building, we

         17  are also requesting reimbursement for the annual

         18  rent for this space of forty- eight thousand nine

         19  hundred dollars.

         20                 Northern Manhattan Office Programs;

         21  One Director of Northern Manhattan Office, Fifty

         22  Thousand Dollars; One Senior Supervising

         23  Investigator, Fifty-Six Thousand Dollars; One Junior

         24  Investigator, Forty-One Thousand Five Hundred

         25  Dollars, One Domestic Violence Coordinator,
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          2  Forty-Three Thousand Dollars; One Assistant Domestic

          3  Violence Coordinator, Thirty Thousand Dollars; One

          4  Counselor, Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars; One

          5  Interpreter, Thirty-Three Thousand Dollars; One

          6  Community Justice Associate, Thirty-Five Thousand

          7  Dollars; One Security Guard, Twenty-Seven Thousand

          8  Dollars; One Secretary, Twenty Two Thousand Five

          9  Hundred Dollars; Other Than Personal Services at ten

         10  percent of PS, Thirty-Seven Thousand Dollars; Rent,

         11  Forty-Eight thousand Nine-Hundred Dollars;

         12  Renovations, One-Hundred One-Thousand Five-Hundred

         13  Dollars; Total Five-Hundred Sixty-Thousand

         14  Nine-Hundred.

         15

         16  Testimony of:

         17  Richard A. Brown

         18  District Attorney

         19  Queens County

         20

         21                 Over the last almost eight years

         22  during which I have been privileged to serve as

         23  District Attorney, the leadership and members of the

         24  New York City Council have been extremely supportive

         25  of our efforts to provide highly professional
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          2  prosecutorial services to the two million residents

          3  of Queens County.

          4                 Once again, as we prepare for the

          5  year ahead, we request the Council's assistance both

          6  in preventing proposed reductions in our budget and

          7  in obtaining essential additional funding to

          8  continue to aggressively fight crime and improve the

          9  quality of life in our county.

         10                 Failure of the Mayor's Preliminary

         11  Budget to Continue over two point two million in

         12  existing funding for critical programs.

         13                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget for

         14  Fiscal Year 2000 would reduce our Office's budget by

         15  $2,238,520 through the failure to continue funding

         16  in three essential areas:

         17                 Anti-drug funding that has been

         18  provided by the Council during the last two years.

         19                 Reimbursement for arrest and case

         20  processing initiatives established by and

         21  successfully operating in our Office.

         22                 Monies that have been provided upon

         23  the Council's initiative over the past seven years

         24  to support the important work of our Airport

         25  Investigations Unit.
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          2                 Anti-Drug Funding:

          3                 At the initiative of the Council, our

          4  Office- as well as each of the other City District

          5  Attorney's Offices and the Special Narcotics

          6  Prosecutor's Office -- has received funding over the

          7  last two years to assist our efforts to fight drug

          8  trafficking.

          9                 Our Office received Personal Services

         10  and Other Than Personal Services funding.

         11                 This and $491,520 last year in both

         12  funding is being used to increase the number of

         13  Assistant District Attorneys and rackets

         14  investigators in our narcotics trials and narcotics

         15  investigations bureaus and to expand our Office's

         16  Public Housing Anti-Drug Initiative.

         17                 The Other Than Personal Services

         18  appropriation is intended to help defray the

         19  enormous costs incurred for buy money, witness

         20  protection, informant fees and surveillance

         21  equipment, including wiretaps associated with the

         22  investigation and prosecution of narcotics cases.

         23                 This funding, both welcome and

         24  greatly appreciated, has unfortunately not been

         25  continued by the Mayor's Preliminary Budget into
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          2  Fiscal Year 2000.

          3                 It is difficult to establish

          4  meaningful and sustained investigative and trial

          5  programs when the funding supporting the programs

          6  cannot be relied upon to continue from year to year.

          7                 We request that this important

          8  funding be continued for Fiscal Year 2000 and be

          9  included in our ongoing operational budget

         10  thereafter.

         11                 The Council's anti-drug funding could

         12  not have come at a more critical time since the

         13  Police Department's Drug Initiative has, as

         14  predicted, resulted in significant increases in the

         15  numbers of narcotics arrests in Queens County.

         16                 For the first quarter of Fiscal Year

         17  1999 (July 30,1998 through September 30, 1998), for

         18  example, there was a fifty percent increase in

         19  narcotics arrests in the county rising from one

         20  thousand seven hundred fifty nine arrests to three

         21  thousand four hundred fifty-seven arrests during the

         22  three month period.

         23                 These narcotics arrests come at a

         24  time when overall arrests, which have been on an

         25  upward spiral in recent years, have reached record
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          2  heights -- over sixty- eight thousand arrests in

          3  Queens in 1998, up seven percent over 1997.

          4                 In addition, as a result of the

          5  Police Department's initiative, the Department has

          6  stepped up its investigative efforts as well.

          7                 Assistants in our Narcotics

          8  Investigations Bureau drafted six hundred

          9  sixty-seven narcotics related search warrants in

         10  1998- up thirty-six percent from the 1997 figures.

         11                 This important but time consuming

         12  work is very labor intensive.

         13                 The loss of Council funding

         14  supporting Narcotics Investigation staffing would

         15  limit the number of long term investigations that

         16  the Bureau can conduct.

         17                 In order for us to continue to

         18  provide the residents of Queens County, with the

         19  same high level of prosecutorial services that this

         20  Office has provided for the last seven years, while

         21  at the same time absorbing the substantial workload

         22  increase created by the Police Department's stepped

         23  up drug enforcement efforts in Queens County.

         24                 We urgently require additional

         25  funding- even beyond the monies provided by the
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          2  Council- monies that are specifically dedicated to

          3  fulfilling the new prosecutorial responsibilities

          4  created by the Police Department's Drug Initiative

          5  in Queens County.

          6                 Yet the Mayor's preliminary budget

          7  does not include any appropriation for this purpose-

          8  essentially leaving us in the position of handling a

          9  great many more narcotics cases in the coming,

         10  fiscal year with less funds than we received this

         11  year.

         12                 Moreover, a recent investigation

         13  concluded by the Bureau demonstrates how vital it is

         14  that proactive efforts to dismantle violent drug

         15  gangs operating in public housing be conducted in

         16  our county.

         17                 In the Edgemere Houses in Far

         18  Rockaway, a violent drug gang known as the

         19   "Regulators" used gunfire, beatings and sexual

         20  assaults to control a $1.0 million annual drug

         21  trade.

         22                 In February 1998, our Office and the

         23  New York City Police Department concluded a year

         24  long investigation with the arrest of seven members

         25  of the gang.
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          2                 Clearly, the Regulators' routine

          3  practice of firing guns off the roofs of the

          4  Edgemere Houses for thrills and their brutal

          5  punishment against anyone who broke the gang's rules

          6  had a devastating impact on the thousands of

          7  innocent people who live in Edgemere.

          8                 The arrest of the gang members was

          9  hailed by relieved tenants.

         10                 The Council's funding supporting our

         11  Office's Public Housing Anti-Drug Initiative allows

         12  us to take action that can result in the dramatic

         13  improvement in the quality of life of public housing

         14  residents terrorized by drug gangs.

         15                 Consequently, we request that the

         16  monies provided under the Council's anti-drug

         17  program be not only continued but expanded in the

         18  coming fiscal year to assist with new workload needs

         19  created by the New York City Police Department's

         20  Drug Initiative.

         21                 This funding is currently used both

         22  for the investigation and prosecution of drug cases.

         23  Investigatively, these monies enable us to handle

         24  warrant applications, pursue cases developed from

         25  debriefing of arrestees and informants arising out
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          2  of the arrests produced by the new drug enforcement

          3  effort and obtain buy money and electronic

          4  surveillance equipment needed to build major cases

          5  against organized drug gangs like the Regulators.

          6                 This funding also facilitates

          7  expeditious case processing and ensures aggressive

          8  prosecution of drug dealers.

          9                 And it allows us to complement the

         10  increased police activity with civil eviction and

         11  related quality of life enforcement proceedings in

         12  the affected and contiguous precincts.

         13                 The result is a comprehensive and

         14  coordinated drug offensive in our County.

         15                 Airport Investigations Unit:

         16                 For the past seven years, the Council

         17  has provided crucial funding to support our Airport

         18  Investigations Unit.

         19                 Indeed. Two years ago, the Council

         20  increased this funding from $300,000 to $500.000.

         21                 As it has for the past seven years,

         22  the Mayor's Preliminary Budget falls to recommend

         23  this funding, thus effectively reducing our Fiscal

         24  Year 1999 budget by $500,000.

         25  As discussed hereafter in greater detail, our
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          2  Airport Investigations Unit has repeatedly

          3  demonstrated its value -- conducting major

          4  investigations and prosecutions that have dismantled

          5  criminal organizations involved in credit card

          6  fraud, air cargo theft, gun trafficking and

          7  commercial burglary -- as well as seizing

          8  significant quantities of illegal drugs.

          9                 Most recently, in December 1998, a

         10  three year Joint investigation called "Operation

         11  Rain Forest" into the theft, fencing and

         12  distribution of millions of dollars of air cargo

         13  stolen from facilities in and around John F. Kennedy

         14  International Airport.

         15                 This investigation resulted in the

         16  indictment of Fifty-Six individuals and eight

         17  corporations and the recovery of more than $5.0

         18  million in cash and stolen property.

         19                 The stolen property included advanced

         20  computer and electronic equipment, luxury consumer

         21  goods and designer clothing.

         22                 This important long term

         23  investigation- conducted jointly with the Federal

         24  Bureau of Investigation, the New York City Police

         25  Department, the New York State Police, the Port
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          2  Authority Police and the United States Postal

          3  Inspection Service- revealed the existence of a

          4  distribution chain of stolen air cargo -- starting

          5  with the thieves, to the fences and then to eight

          6  established corporations.

          7                 Three of them freight forwarders and

          8  five of them retail stores.

          9                 Thousands of New Yorkers and New York

         10  region businesses depend on John F Kennedy

         11  International Airport's vast commercial transport

         12  system for their financial survival.

         13                 By dismantling criminal enterprises

         14  like these, our Airport Investigations Unit enables

         15  honest businesses to compete effectively and

         16  hundreds of thousands of consumers to obtain the

         17  goods they need at competitive prices and it

         18  encourages use of New York's airports and gives a

         19  boost to our region's business economy.

         20                 In order to enable our Airport

         21  Investigations Unit to continue to operate in an

         22  efficient and uninterrupted manner, these monies

         23  should become part of our baseline budget rather

         24  than having them continually cut and then restored

         25  at the Council's insistence each year.
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          2                 Arrest and Case Processing:

          3                 In fiscal year 1999, $1.23) million

          4  ($700,000 followed by an additional $530,000) was

          5  appropriated to fund our efforts to improve arrest

          6  to arraignment time.

          7                 The City's money was well spent in

          8  Queens County.

          9                 As of December 1998, our arrest to

         10  sworn complaint time was 6.76 hours -- the best in

         11  the City and our arrest to arraignment time had

         12  dropped to 19.32 hours from 22.95 hours during the

         13  same period in 1997 -- the fastest of the four

         14  largest counties in New York City.

         15                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget does

         16  not include any appropriation to continue these

         17  arrest and case processing initiatives in Fiscal

         18  Year 2000.

         19                 Moreover, negotiations have not yet

         20  begun with the City over next year's funding.

         21                 We believe that it would be in the

         22  best interest of the City to continue to fund these

         23  extremely cost effective programs.

         24                 Additional initiatives that can

         25  produce even greater efficiencies and savings are in
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          2  the planning stages as described in more detail in

          3  our attachments.

          4                 It would be our hope that at least

          5  the same level of funding is continued in the coming

          6  Fiscal Year.

          7                 State and Federal Funding:

          8                 Our Office has worked very hard to

          9  seek out alternative sources of funding from the

         10  State and the Federal governments whenever possible.

         11                 In the area of domestic violence, we

         12  have obtained both State and Federal funding under

         13  the Violence Against Women Act which has been used

         14  to verticalize and enhance the prosecution of

         15  misdemeanor and felony domestic violence cases, as

         16  well as, among other things, provide earlier

         17  outreach and support and counseling services to

         18  victims.

         19                 In conjunction with the New York City

         20  Police Department, we have applied for and received

         21  funding from the New York State Motor Vehicle Theft

         22  and Insurance Fraud Prevention Board to enhance our

         23  ability to investigate and prosecute automobile

         24  theft.

         25                 We have also been able to obtain the
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          2  services of a social worker to provide counseling,

          3  referrals and other assistance to victims of elder

          4  abuse through the New York State Crime Victims

          5  Board.

          6                 Last year, the State provided Gun

          7  Interdiction funding to the City's District

          8  Attorneys to enable us to enhance the investigation

          9  and prosecution of cases involving the possession

         10  and sale of guns.

         11                 Of course, the purposes for which

         12  these funds can be used are extremely limited and

         13  the funds are only available for short periods of

         14  time.

         15                 Consequently, our general funding

         16  needs remain significant. These funds, however,

         17  enable us to pursue very specific and important

         18  criminal justice initiatives which would otherwise

         19  simply be beyond our means.

         20                 New Initiatives:

         21                 In addition to seeking the Council's

         22  help in preventing reductions in our Fiscal Year

         23  2000 budget, we also urgently request your

         24  assistance in obtaining additional funding for some

         25  of our Office's priority initiatives for which
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          2  outside State or Federal funding is not currently

          3  available or insufficient to support the program.

          4                 Child Advocacy Center:

          5                 Our Office is in the planning stages

          6  of an exciting new Pilot Program to establish a

          7  Child Advocacy Center.

          8                 The concept is to improve cooperation

          9  and coordination among the various agencies involved

         10  in the investigation and prosecution of cases

         11  involving physical and sexual abuse of children by

         12  having agency representatives physically located in

         13  a central facility.

         14                 The participating agencies will

         15  include the District Attorney's Office, the New York

         16  City Police Department, the Agency for Children's

         17  Services and Victim Services.

         18                 The Center concept, which has been

         19  successfully initiated in other locations, allows

         20  for joint investigation and information sharing and

         21  helps minimize the trauma experienced by the child

         22  victim by having specially trained professionals

         23  handle every aspect of the cases and by reducing or

         24  eliminating repetitive interviews.

         25                 The participating agencies have all
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          2  signed on and we are in the process of looking for a

          3  suitable location, preferably with strong linkages

          4  to a hospital that can also provide sensitive

          5  medical examinations and critical testimony in the

          6  case.

          7                 While there are many budgetary needs

          8  involved in setting up a Center of this kind, and

          9  while private funding is being sought for many of

         10  these, no funding currently exists for hiring

         11  additional Assistant District Attorneys and support

         12  staff that can be located in these premises and

         13  dedicated to the investigation and prosecution of

         14  these very important cases.

         15                  Taking these assistants from our

         16  existing staff and placing them in a location

         17  separate and apart from the Office will negatively

         18  impact on our ability to staff other important

         19  functions in the Office.

         20                 We seek funding for two Assistant

         21  District Attorneys and two Paralegals who can be

         22  located at and participate full time in the work of

         23  the Child Advocacy Center.

         24                 Auto Crime Task Force:

         25                 Our Office has made dramatic progress
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          2  in reducing auto theft in Queens County over the

          3  last eight years.

          4                 In 1990, the year prior to my

          5  becoming District Attorney, 50,239 cars were stolen

          6  in Queens County.

          7                 In 1998 that number dropped to

          8  16,111- a decrease of 67.93% over the eight year

          9  period.

         10                 In 1998 alone, Queens County

         11  experienced a 19.2% decrease in stolen cars over

         12  1997 figures.

         13                 But even one stolen car is too many.

         14                 With sufficient resources, I am

         15  confident that we can continue this significant

         16  trend downward.

         17                 As noted, our Office has received

         18  some funding from the State through the New York

         19  State Motor Vehicle Theft and Insurance Fraud Board

         20  which will be used in coordination with the New York

         21  City Police Department to improve the investigation

         22  and prosecution of felony auto crime cases.

         23                 We seek complementary City funding to

         24  further enhance our efforts as hereinafter described

         25  more fully.
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          2                 School Anti-Violence Program:

          3                 Since 1993, our Office has operated a

          4  successful and widely acclaimed school anti-violence

          5  program in School District Twenty-Seven in Far

          6  Rockaway.

          7                 Under this program, Assistant

          8  District Attorneys present an anti-gun violence

          9  curriculum to elementary, intermediate and high

         10  school students and work closely with community

         11  leaders to plan strategies to reduce gun violence in

         12  and around the schools.

         13                 The program also includes the

         14  establishment of safety corridors around each of

         15  eight target schools. We seek funding to expand this

         16  important program to additional school districts.

         17                 Enhancement of Victim Support

         18  Services:

         19                 Queens County is the most ethnically

         20  diverse county in the nation.

         21                 Consequently, it faces unique

         22  challenges in ensuring that crime victims are

         23  offered the support they need during the criminal

         24  process.

         25                 Crime victims from various ethnic,
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          2  cultural and religious backgrounds would find it

          3  much easier to report crimes and assist in criminal

          4  prosecutions if the District Attorney's Office had

          5  more access to interpreters and foreign language

          6  speaking crime victim advocates and counselors and

          7  could translate vital court documents, such as

          8  orders of protection, into the languages read and

          9  understood by crime victims.

         10                 We would also like to develop

         11  brochures and other community outreach literature

         12  that explain the criminal justice system and the

         13  work of the District Attorney's Office and be able

         14  to translate these materials into many languages and

         15  distribute them in many communities.

         16                 Juvenile Violent Crime:

         17                 Funding would enable us to expand the

         18  work of our Youth Gangs Bureau which targets violent

         19  crimes committed by juvenile gang members and school

         20  related crimes.

         21                 With additional resources, the Bureau

         22  could enhance prosecution of gang related crimes,

         23  improve its intelligence gathering capabilities,

         24  coordinate more effectively with other law

         25  enforcement agencies, school safety Officers and New
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          2  York Police Department youth Officers, initiate

          3  training of school personnel, parents and students

          4  about youth gangs and involve itself more in

          5  prevention and education efforts.

          6                 Witness Protection:

          7                 Protecting victims and witnesses from

          8  physical intimidation or retaliation for their

          9  cooperation in the investigation and prosecution of

         10  criminal cases is absolutely essential both to

         11  insure the lives and safety of these witnesses and

         12  to insure that critical evidence is available to

         13  convict the most serious and violent felons.

         14                 For the criminal justice system to

         15  function, witnesses must be willing to report crimes

         16  and testify in court without fear that they or their

         17  families will suffer injury or death as a result.

         18                 Providing these services, however, is

         19  enormously expensive.

         20                 Our Office spent approximately

         21  $450.000 on witness protection and relocation last

         22  year.

         23                 Without reimbursement, the resources

         24  spent on witness protection must necessarily be

         25  taken from other important prosecutorial services or
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          2  functions.

          3                 We urgently request City assistance

          4  so that we can continue to provide these crucial

          5  services without having to compromise prosecutorial

          6  initiatives in other areas.

          7                 Community Prosecution Initiative:

          8                 With funds provided by the State

          9  Legislature, our Special Prosecutions Division has

         10  established an early case intervention system for

         11  misdemeanor and felony quality of life crimes in

         12  Queens County.

         13                 Using staff supported by the funds

         14  made available by the Legislature, information was

         15  gathered and a computerized database set up.

         16                 This database has enabled us to track

         17  crimes of particular interest to the community so

         18  that we can identify these cases at an early stage,

         19  target repeat offenders, enhance our ability to keep

         20  the community informed, gather critical information

         21  and obtain stronger dispositions in these cases.

         22                 During the first full year of

         23  operation, eight hundred five cases were targeted

         24  for early intervention.

         25                 Communication between community
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          2  members and our Office has increased markedly and

          3  two major investigations have been initiated based

          4  on information provided by community members.

          5                 We are asking the Council to match

          6  the funds provided by the State Legislature so that

          7  we can build on the success of the early case

          8  intervention system.

          9                 We would like to divide the county

         10  into zones and assign a member of our Special

         11  Prosecutions staff to work closely with the

         12  community boards, precinct councils, civic

         13  associations and other community groups in each zone

         14  to build even stronger relationships, share more

         15  information and address community concerns.

         16                 In addition, we would like to enhance

         17  the effectiveness of our database by adding software

         18  and linking the database to other Office systems.

         19                 The tremendous success that we have

         20  experienced in the last few years in reducing crime

         21  and restoring a sense of safety and security to the

         22  residents of our County is the result of the wise

         23  investment of City resources in programs that work.

         24                 It would be a serious mistake to view

         25  our progress in the fight against crime as an
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          2  opportunity to reduce the level of funding or to

          3  abandon programs that have played a critical role in

          4  crime reduction.

          5                 If we are to complete the Job that

          6  we've so successfully begun, it is crucial that we

          7  not only maintain our present level of support for

          8  our anti-crime programs but increase the level of

          9  funding as well.

         10                 I respectfully urge that every effort

         11  be made to continue the funding for the important

         12  programs that the Mayor's Preliminary budget falls

         13  to provide and to provide additional funding for I

         14  the critical initiatives outlined above and

         15  described more fully herein.

         16                 By so doing, the Queens County

         17  District Attorney's Office will be able to continue

         18  to aggressively prosecute criminal conduct and

         19  further enhance the quality of life for the

         20  residents of Queens County.

         21                 Proposed Reductions in City Funding

         22  ($2,238,520):

         23                 The Mayor's Fiscal Year 2000

         24  Preliminary Budget would reduce the Queens County

         25  District Attorney's Office's Fiscal Year 1999 budget
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          2  by $2,238,520 as follows:

          3                 Speaker's Drug Initiative-

          4  ($491,520):

          5                 The Mayor's Proposed Executive Budget

          6  fails to provide for continuation of $491.520 in

          7  funding appropriated by the Council in Fiscal Year

          8  1999 to deal with drug interdiction in Queens

          9  County.

         10                 The Council has provided our office

         11  with $465,000 in Personal Service Funding in order

         12  to enhance our Narcotics Bureau's operation and our

         13  Public Housing Initiative. The Council has also

         14  provided a $26,520 Other Than Personal Services

         15  appropriation for witness protection, narcotic

         16  purchases, informant payments and the purchase of

         17  surveillance equipment.

         18                 Regrettably. The Council's funding of

         19  these initiatives has not been carried forward by

         20  the Mayor in his Preliminary Budget into Fiscal Year

         21  2000.

         22                 The Mayor's proposed budget does not

         23  provide for the continuation of these important

         24  initiatives. Unless funding is continued for these

         25  very important programs many investigations with
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          2  respect to the interdiction of narcotics into Queens

          3  County which have been commenced will have to be

          4  discontinued.

          5                 Moreover, the funds that have been

          6  provided while greatly appreciated, are insufficient

          7  to adequately address the pervasive drug problems

          8  this program targets.

          9                 Our Office's costs for funding

         10  narcotic purchases, surveillance and the payment of

         11  informant fees far exceed the $26.520 which have

         12  been provided for this purpose.

         13                 Each surveillance costs our Office

         14  tens of thousands of dollars per year.

         15                 Each purchase of drugs and fees paid

         16  to informants run several thousand dollars per

         17  transaction. Consequently, we are requesting that

         18  our Other Than Personal Services appropriation be

         19  increased.

         20                 In addition, the Personal Service

         21  funding already provided is well short of the

         22  $656.250 which I heretofore requested for the

         23  increase in my staff in order to fully fund these

         24  initiatives.

         25                 Speaker's Drug Initiative: Six
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          2  Assistant District Attorneys at $50,000 each,

          3  $300,000; Five Detective Investigators at $45,000

          4  each, $225,000; Other Than Personal Services at

          5  twenty-five percent, $131,250; Total $656,250.

          6                 Arrest and Case Processing-

          7  ($1,230,000):

          8                 In February 1997 my Office agreed to

          9  implement initiatives aimed at improving the arrest

         10  to arraignment process in Queens County.

         11                 In recognition of these efforts, the

         12  City agreed to provide additional funding above and

         13  beyond monies already appropriated for the Fiscal

         14  Years in 1998 and 1999 -- $700,000 in initial

         15  funding and $530,000 in performance based funding

         16  for a total of $1,230,000.

         17                 Although we continue to carry out

         18  these initiatives successfully and to institute new

         19  procedures and initiatives in an effort to further

         20  reduce arrest processing time in Queens County.

         21                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget fails

         22  to provide for funding for this important program

         23  for Fiscal Year 2000.

         24                 In December, 1998 the arrest to

         25  complaint sworn time in Queens County was 6.76 hours
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          2  the best in the City.

          3                 Our arrest to arraignment time also

          4  experienced a dramatic improvement last year over

          5  1997 figures.

          6                 The average time for all of 1998 was

          7  19.32 hours, compared to 1997's figure of 22.95

          8  hours.

          9                 Moreover, our monthly times dropped

         10  steadily throughout the year culminating in a three

         11  hour improvement-- again the best times achieved in

         12  the entire City.

         13                 Significantly that was accomplished

         14  in spite of a seven percent increase in on-line

         15  arrests.

         16                 We have recently completed

         17  discussions with the New York City Police Department

         18  with regard to the implementation of a proposal

         19  which would further reduce the time it takes to

         20  process arrests in Queens County.

         21                 We have entered into an agreement in

         22  which computers and printers will be installed at

         23  all seventeen police arrest facilities in Queens

         24  County and they will be connected to T-1, data

         25  communication lines, with computer terminals located
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          2  in our Intake Bureau.

          3                 The agreement provides that when an

          4  arrest is made, the arresting Officer will be able

          5  to go directly to the precinct computer and enter

          6  all arrest information.

          7                 The computer screen will be designed

          8  to mirror the Police Department's on-line booking

          9  reports.

         10                 The Officer will then be able to

         11  print that sheet and use it as his on-line booking

         12  document.

         13                 When the document is completed, the

         14  Officer will be able to telephone our Intake Bureau

         15  and speak to an Assistant District Attorney.

         16  The Assistant District Attorney will call the case

         17  up on his or her computer and speak directly to the

         18  Officer and complaining witness. After the

         19  interview, the Assistant will be able to draft the

         20  complaint and affidavit which the Officer can view

         21  on the precinct computer screen, edit, print

         22  immediately and electronically sign.

         23  The Officer would then be free to immediately resume

         24  his or her normal duties.

         25                 We anticipate that the Officer will

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            210

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  be ready to resume normal patrol duties within an

          3  hour after initiating his or her conversation with

          4  the Assistant District Attorney, creating great

          5  savings to the City as well as maintaining police

          6  patrol strength.

          7                 This computer enhancement of the

          8  arrest processing system would further supplement

          9  our efforts in the police precincts to reduce the

         10  time it takes from the time of arrest until the

         11  Officer attests to the criminal court complaint.

         12                 However, in order to carry out this

         13  initiative the funding previously provided by the

         14  City for Arrest and Case Processing must be

         15  restored.

         16                 Airport Investigation Unit

         17  ($500,000):

         18                 By failing to renew our airport

         19  funding grant, the Mayor's Preliminary Budget would

         20  effectively cut our Fiscal Year 2000 budget by

         21  $500,000.

         22                 These funds have been appropriated

         23  during each of the past seven years at the

         24  insistence of the City Council for the interdiction

         25  of drugs and the targeting of organized crime at
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          2  LaGuardia and Kennedy airports in Queens County.

          3                 We have utilized this funding in the

          4  past to establish our Airport Investigations Unit

          5  whose mission is to make inroads into the criminal

          6  organizations responsible for drug trafficking,

          7  money laundering, labor racketeering and cargo theft

          8  at John E. Kennedy and LaGuardia Airports.

          9                 The unit, staffed with Assistant

         10  District Attorneys and investigators from our Office

         11  and supported by New York State Troopers assigned to

         12  our Office, has established liaisons with the

         13  various Federal, State and City law enforcement

         14  agencies that work out of the airports.

         15                 Created a computerized intelligence

         16  data base, developed an informant and informational

         17  pool and has instituted intensive and broad based

         18  long term investigations -- many of which have

         19  already borne fruit.

         20                 In the time since our Airport

         21  Investigations Unit has been in existence we have

         22  experienced great success.

         23                 We have made numerous arrests

         24  involving airport-related crimes, uncovered a major

         25  stolen credit card ring that operated from Queens
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          2  County to Eastern Long Island, New Jersey and

          3  Westchester and produced $7,000 a day in illicit

          4  gains.

          5                 Put out of business three major

          6  commercial burglary rings that had stolen or were

          7  conspiring to steal millions of dollars of air cargo

          8  from thirty warehouses in and around Kennedy Airport

          9  and seized thousands of pounds of cocaine, heroin,

         10  marijuana and other drugs.

         11                 In the past year we concluded a

         12  two-year undercover investigation into large-scale

         13  air cargo theft in and around Kennedy Airport which

         14  culminated in the recovery of over $5 million

         15  dollars worth of stolen goods and the indictment of

         16  Fifty-Six individuals and eight business firms.

         17                 Kennedy Airport remains a key

         18  location for drug interdiction.

         19                 In 1998 alone, for example, over one

         20  thousand four hundred forty-two pounds of cocaine,

         21  nine hundred seventy pounds of heroin and three

         22  thousand two hundred twenty six pounds of marijuana

         23  were seized at the John F. Kennedy Airport.

         24                 We urgently request that the City

         25  Council restore the funding that the Mayor's

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            213

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  Preliminary Budget fails to recommend and ask that

          3  $500,000 heretofore appropriated be reappropriated

          4  for Fiscal Year 2000 for the continuation and

          5  expansion of our Airport Investigation Unit.

          6                 The loss of funding for this unit

          7  would force us to curtail or cease a number of

          8  important investigations which have taken months or

          9  years to develop and which have the potential for

         10  great success.

         11                 0ther Than Personal Services-

         12  ($l7,000):

         13                 The remaining $17,000 proposed

         14  reduction in our budget comes from our Other Than

         15  Personal Services funding.

         16                 This translates to a two percent

         17  Other Than Personal Services cut for this Fiscal

         18  Year.

         19                 Although the two percent reduction

         20  may not seem significant, in view of the fact that

         21  the basic cost of running an Office continues to

         22  rise, and we have not seen any increase in our Other

         23  Than Personal Services budget, any reduction will

         24  impair the operation of our Office.

         25                 With over six hundred forty full time
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          2  employees, Other Than Personal Services funds are

          3  used to purchase transcripts of court proceedings,

          4  pay expert witnesses, pay for supplies, order legal

          5  publications and cover all of the administrative

          6  expenses related to the day to day operation of a

          7  busy prosecutor's Office.

          8                 All of this in a time when the number

          9  of cases that our Office processes has risen by more

         10  than thirty percent during the past two years.

         11                 As an example of the impact that this

         12  proposed reduction will have on our ability to

         13  provide prosecutorial services to the citizens of

         14  Queens County, we would note that our annualized

         15  costs for expert witnesses and the purchase of court

         16  transcribed minutes for trial purposes are over

         17  $600,000.

         18                 This leaves our Office with only

         19  $170,000 of available Other Than Personal Services

         20  funding in order to purchase supplies, legal

         21  publications and to cover our administrative

         22  expenses.

         23                 Additional Initiatives, ($5,135,375):

         24                 New York Police Department Drug

         25  Initiative - ($393,750):
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          2                 On November 1997, the New York City

          3  Police Department commenced the South East Queens

          4  Initiative (SEQI).

          5                 Prior to this initiative the Queens

          6  Narcotics District maintained seven (7) working

          7  modules i.e. Approximately one hundred fifty

          8  Officers dealing with the narcotics problem in

          9  Queens County.

         10                 With the commencement of the Queens

         11  initiative and its subsequent expansion to Queens

         12  North, the Police Department will have a total of

         13  Twenty-One (21) modules or over four hundred police

         14  Officers committed to the narcotics problem in

         15  Queens County.

         16                 This constitutes an increase of

         17  almost one hundred fifty percent in manpower

         18  dedicated to narcotics enforcement in Queens County.

         19                 Although the Mayor and the Police

         20  Department have committed themselves to this

         21  aggressive approach to the narcotics problem, the

         22  Mayor has not provided additional funding for

         23  prosecutors to deal with the increased number of

         24  narcotics cases which have been generated by this

         25  initiative.
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          2                 Since November 1997 there has been a

          3  one hundred fifty (150%) percent increase in the

          4  number of narcotics cases processed by our Office.

          5                 During the corresponding time period

          6  last year (November 1, 1996- May 13, 1997) there

          7  were one thousand six hundred ten arrests made by

          8  the Queens Narcotics Division.

          9                 Between November 1, 1997 and May 13,

         10  1998 there were six thousand three hundred

         11  seventy-seven narcotic arrests by Queens Narcotics

         12  under the current initiative.

         13                 From July 1, 1998 to the present

         14  there has been an increase of over thirty percent in

         15  the number of narcotics cases processed in Queens

         16  County.

         17                 From July to the present we have

         18  handled over nine thousand seven hundred narcotic

         19  arrests -- these on top of the seven percent

         20  increase in on-line arrests experienced in Queen

         21  County over the previous year.

         22                 Currently in Queens were are

         23  processing over sixty-eight thousand arrests per

         24  year.

         25                 The number of arrests in Queens have
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          2  continually increased over the past five years.

          3                 In view of the increased number of

          4  cases that has been generated by the Queens

          5  Narcotics Initiative, we seek additional funding of

          6  $518,750 to deal with the expenses involved in the

          7  processing of these cases and to fund the personnel

          8  needed to maintain the dramatic advances which have

          9  been made in arrest and case processing times.

         10                 New York City Police Department Drug

         11  Initiative: Seven Assistant District Attorneys at

         12  $50,000 each, $350,000; Paralegal at $25,000; Two

         13  Clerical Associates at $20,000 each, $40,000; Other

         14  Than Personal Services at twenty-five percent

         15  $103,750; Total $518,750.

         16                 Child Advocacy Center ($195,000):

         17                 Our Office is in the planning stages

         18  of an exciting new Pilot Program to establish a

         19  Child Advocacy Center.

         20                 The concept is to improve cooperation

         21  and coordination among the various agencies involved

         22  in the investigation and prosecution of cases

         23  involving physical and sexual abuse of children by

         24  having agency representatives physically located in

         25  a central facility.
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          2                 The participating agencies include

          3  the District Attorney's Office, the New York City

          4  Police Department, the Agency for Children s

          5  Services and Victim Services.

          6                 The Center concept, which has been

          7  successfully attempted in other locations. Allows

          8  for joint investigation and information sharing and

          9  helps minimize the trauma experienced by the child

         10  victim by having specially trained professionals

         11  handle every aspect of the cases and by reducing or

         12  eliminating repetitive interviews.

         13                 The participating agencies have all

         14  signed on and we are in the process of looking for a

         15  suitable location, preferably with strong linkage to

         16  a hospital that can also provide sensitive medical

         17  examinations and critical testimony in the case.

         18                 While there are many budgetary needs

         19  involved in setting up a Center of this kind, and

         20  while private funding is being sought for many of

         21  these.

         22                 No funding currently exists for

         23  hiring additional Assistant District Attorneys and

         24  support staff that can be located in these premises

         25  and devoted to the investigation and prosecution of
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          2  these very important cases. Taking these Assistants

          3  from our existing staff and placing them in a

          4  location separate and apart from the Office will

          5  negatively impact on our ability to staff other

          6  important functions in the Office.

          7                 We are seeking funding for two

          8  Assistant District Attorneys and two Paralegals who

          9  can be located at and participate full time in the

         10  work of the Child Advocacy Center.

         11                 We are requesting $195,000 for

         12  funding this exciting new concept.

         13                 Child Advocacy Center: Two Assistant

         14  District Attorneys at $50,000 each, $100,000; Two

         15  Paralegals at $28,000 each, $56,000; Other Than

         16  Personal Services at twenty-five percent $39,000;

         17  Total $195,000.

         18                 Auto Crime Task Force ($2,000,000):

         19                 In spite of the fact that dramatic

         20  progress has been made in Queens County in reducing

         21  auto theft auto theft has decreased in our County by

         22  fifty percent since 1991 we continue to have the

         23  highest auto theft rate of any county in the State.

         24                 In calendar year 1998, Queens

         25  residents reported sixteen thousand one hundred
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          2  eleven  stolen cars -- higher than any other county.

          3                 In addition, Queens County accounts

          4  for Thirty-Seven percent of the vehicles reported

          5  stolen Citywide.

          6                 Automobile theft is probably the most

          7  pervasive criminal enterprise in Queens County.

          8                 In an effort to expand our ability to

          9  deal with this staggering problem in a pro-active

         10  and aggressive fashion, we are seeking funds for the

         11  expansion of our specialized auto crime initiative.

         12                 In the past, we have devoted a great

         13  deal of time and resources to investigating and

         14  prosecuting auto crime, And our efforts have paid

         15  off.

         16                 We have been able to obtain tougher

         17  sentences for car thieves -- over five hundred

         18  felony convictions and an equal number of State and

         19  City jail sentences -- and conduct several effective

         20  sting operations.

         21                 Our efforts to vigorously prosecute

         22  car thieves -- and the establishment of a

         23  specialized Auto Crime Unit in our Office to work

         24  with the Police Department's Auto Crime Division to

         25  target career auto thieves for special prosecution
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          2  have begun to have a significant impact on car theft

          3  in Queens County with a strong message sent to car

          4  thieves, chop shops and crooked businesses.

          5                 As a result of our work, double digit

          6  reductions in thefts continue each year.

          7                 There were twenty-eight percent fewer

          8  car thefts in Queens County in 1998 than in 1995 and

          9  during these past six years auto theft complaints

         10  have been cut in half.

         11                 We have been able to enhance these

         12  efforts even further with the help of funding from

         13  the New York State Motor Vehicle Theft and Insurance

         14  Fraud Prevention Board.

         15                 With this funding, we have been able

         16  to add specialized legal and investigative staff to

         17  our Auto Crime Task Force, establish an essential

         18  intelligence data base in this area and work closely

         19  with the New York City Police Department in

         20  developing and implementing a County wide strategy

         21  aimed at advancing our war on auto crime.

         22                 But, still more is needed.

         23                 Our State funding, while extremely

         24  helpful, was insufficient to support the full

         25  complement of legal and investigative staffing
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          2  required to implement our strategy.

          3                 Auto crime cases often require

          4  specialization and expertise, especially when

          5  dealing with cases involving altered vehicle

          6  identification numbers, insurance fraud or title and

          7  registration laundering.

          8                 Dedicating a group of attorneys with

          9  particularized training and experience is crucial to

         10  the success of our strategy.

         11                 We seek your support to provide funds

         12  that would enable us to add this sorely needed staff

         13  and complete our Task Force as originally

         14  envisioned.

         15                 This would enable us to intensify our

         16  efforts and provide a continuous, rather than

         17  intermittent pressure point on the auto crime

         18  industry in our County.

         19                 We are requesting $2,000,000 for the

         20  enhancement of our Auto Crime Task Force.

         21                 Auto Crime Task Force: Five Senior

         22  Investigative Assistant District Attorneys at

         23  $75,000 each, $375,000; Nine Trial Assistant

         24  District Attorneys at $60,000 each, $540,000; Seven

         25  Paralegals at $25,000 each, $175,000; Six Detectives
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          2  at $40,000 each, $240,000; Four Secretaries at

          3  $25,000 each, $1000,000; One Auto Expert- part time

          4  at #30,000; Other Than Personal Services at

          5  twenty-five percent $365,000; Equipment, $175,000;

          6  Total $2,000,000.

          7                 School Anti-Violence Program

          8  (S334,375)

          9                 In November of 1993, in conjunction

         10  with the United Federation of Teachers, the Board of

         11    Education's School Safety Division and school

         12  officials from the Queens High School

         13  Superintendent's Office and District 27, our Office

         14  launched a pilot program aimed at reducing the

         15  incidence of violence in and around five target

         16  schools in Far Rockaway.

         17                 Assistant District Attorneys visit

         18  the schools on a regular basis to present an

         19  anti-gun violence curriculum developed by the Center

         20  to Prevent Handgun Violence and serve as role models

         21  and mentors.

         22                 Safety corridors have been

         23  established around each of the schools patrolled by

         24  the 101st precinct. An interagency council has been

         25  established including school and law enforcement

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            224

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  officials, community groups, legislators and

          3  business leaders which meets regularly to develop

          4  joint strategies to reduce school violence.

          5                 Crimes committed in and around the

          6  school are given special attention by our Office.

          7                 This juvenile crime prevention

          8  program encourages young people to resolve conflicts

          9  peacefully and utilize alternatives to violence.

         10                 This year, the program expanded to

         11  its eighth school and we have been repeatedly asked

         12  to bring our program to other school districts.

         13                 But to do this, we must have

         14  additional resources to cover the costs of replacing

         15  the trial assistants who are involved in the

         16  program, and the administrative costs associated

         17  with our role as coordinator of the program.

         18                 We seek additional funds for this

         19  expansion.

         20                 We are requesting $334,375 for the

         21  funding of this pilot project.

         22                 School Anti-Violence Project (Star

         23  Track): One Bureau Chief at $85,000; Three Assistant

         24  District Attorneys at $45,000 each, $135,000; One

         25  Paralegal at $24,500; One Secretary at $23,000;
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          2  Other Than Personal Services at twenty-five percent

          3  $66,875; Total $334,375.

          4                 Witness Protection ($403,750)

          5                 One of the most pressing problems

          6  facing the law enforcement community today is the

          7  expense involved in protecting witnesses.

          8                 In today's environment threats to

          9  witnesses are real and cannot be taken lightly.

         10                 The stakes are particularly high in

         11  cases involving individuals dealing in drugs.

         12                 The personal and financial

         13  implications of a conviction for those individuals

         14  are great and history establishes that they will go

         15  to whatever lengths that they believe are necessary

         16  to prevent a witness from testifying

         17                 In fact, we recently acknowledged the

         18  tenth anniversary of the death of Police Officer

         19  Eddie Byme who was assassinated by drug dealers

         20  while guarding the home of a man who had complained

         21  about drug activity in his Queens neighborhood.

         22                 Our Office expects to spend over

         23  $450,000 to protect witnesses during Fiscal Year

         24  1999.

         25                 In order to adequately protect the
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          2  witnesses to criminal activity in our county, we

          3  have established a unit that handles, coordinates

          4  and evaluates the witness protection problems

          5  associated with each individual case.

          6                 This unit evaluates the differing

          7  needs of those who avail themselves of this type of

          8  protection before and during trial and is able when

          9  necessary to place these individuals in permanent

         10  programs at the conclusion of the cases in which

         11  they testify as witnesses.

         12                 We are requesting $403,750 for

         13  funding the operation of our witness protection

         14  program.

         15                 Witness Protection: One Senior

         16  Rackets Investigator at $45,000 each; One Rackets

         17  Investigator at $38,000; Other Than Personal

         18  Services at twenty-five percent $20,750; Expenses

         19  needed to Protect Witnesses, $300,000; Total

         20  $403,750.

         21                 Juvenile Violent Crime ($343,750):

         22                 Our Office has established a

         23  specialized bureau to combat youth gang violence the

         24  only such bureau in the City to exclusively target

         25  youth gang activity and school related crimes -- and
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          2  has developed expertise in investigating and

          3  prosecuting these crimes.

          4                 Few months ago, our Office held its

          5  fifth Annual Youth Gang Forum attended by law

          6  enforcement officials from all over the Country.

          7                 With additional resources, the bureau

          8  could enhance prosecution of youth gang crimes,

          9  improve its intelligence gathering abilities,

         10  coordinate more effectively with other law

         11  enforcement agencies, school safety Officers and New

         12  York City Police Department youth Officers, initiate

         13  training of school personnel, parents and students

         14  about youth gangs and involve itself more in

         15  prevention and education efforts.

         16                 We are requesting $343,750 for

         17  funding this highly successful program.

         18                 Juvenile Violent Crime: Five

         19  Assistant district Attorneys at $50,000 each,

         20  $250,000; One Paralegal at $25,000; Other Than

         21  Personal Services at twenty-five percent $68,750;

         22  Total $343,750.

         23                 Enhancement of Victim Support

         24  Services ($222,500):

         25                 Queens County is the most ethnically
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          2  diverse county in the Nation.

          3                 Consequently, it faces unique

          4  challenges in ensuring that crime victims are

          5  offered the support they need during the criminal

          6  process.

          7                 Crime victims from various ethnic,

          8  cultural and religious backgrounds would find it

          9  much easier to report crimes and assist in criminal

         10  prosecutions if the District Attorney's Office had

         11  more access to interpreters and could translate

         12  vital court documents into the languages read and

         13  understood by these crime victims.

         14                 Our Office has engaged in community

         15  outreach to the Asian and Russian speaking

         16  communities in Queens County and has responded to

         17  requests from community members to make documents

         18  available in other languages and to have access to

         19  foreign language interpreters to conduct interviews

         20  and telephone conversations with crime victims.

         21                 But there is much more we could do if

         22  adequate funding were available.

         23                 We would like to develop brochures

         24  and other literature that explain the criminal

         25  justice system and the work of the District
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          2  Attorney's Office and distribute these materials in

          3  a variety of languages.

          4                 To complement the work of our crime

          5  victims advocates and our elder abuse counselor and

          6  to offer more comprehensive services for victims of

          7  sexual assault, child abuse, domestic violence and

          8  other serious violent crimes.

          9                 It would be extremely helpful to have

         10  on staff additional social workers and counselors

         11  who could provide direct, convenient on-site

         12  counseling, court accompaniment and related services

         13  to these crime victims.

         14                 Other District Attorneys' Offices

         15  that provide these services have found them to be

         16  invaluable in enabling crime victims to deal with

         17  the trauma of their victimization and in going

         18  forward with the prosecution of their attackers.

         19                 We are requesting $222,500 to

         20  initiate this worthwhile program.

         21                 Enhancement of Victim Support

         22  Services: Two Social Workers at $35,000 each,

         23  $70,000; Two Counselors at $20,000 each, $40,000;

         24  Other Than Personal Services at twenty-five percent

         25  $27,500; Cost of Printing Brochures $10,000; Outside
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          2  Interpreters $75,000; Total $222,500.

          3                 Community Prosecution Initiative

          4  ($374,750):

          5                 Our Special Prosecutions Division

          6  finds itself with an ever growing mandate as it

          7  seeks to be responsive to community needs throughout

          8  the County.

          9                 The Division sends representatives to

         10  Community Board and Precinct Council meetings to

         11  listen to community concerns.

         12                 It coordinates targeted efforts to

         13  address quality of life crimes such as prostitution,

         14  graffiti and drug dealing including closing down

         15  brothels and targeting cases for special

         16  prosecution.

         17                 It supervises diversion of quality of

         18  life offenders to graffiti removal and other

         19  community service sentencing programs.

         20                 It operates a growing number of

         21  Advisory Councils where community groups can

         22  identify local criminal justice concerns and devise

         23  strategies with our Office to address those

         24  concerns.

         25                 Our School Anti-Violence Program is
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          2  administered by our Special Prosecutions Division.

          3                 The Division also runs a Speakers

          4  Bureau for schools and community groups, a student

          5  advisory council and a Boy Scout explorers group.

          6                 It conducts court tours for school

          7  children throughout the County.

          8                 It receives and handles

          9  correspondence and calls from community members

         10  requesting assistance for their neighborhoods.

         11                 It represents our Office at the

         12  Queens Festival and many other local events

         13  distributing literature, answering questions and

         14  fingerprinting children.

         15                 And, of course, it is a resource for

         16  legislators who need assistance with local crime

         17  problems.

         18                 With funds provided by the State

         19  Legislature our Special Prosecutions Division has

         20  established an early case intervention system for

         21  misdemeanor and felony quality of life crimes in

         22  Queens County.

         23                 Using staff supported by the funds,

         24  information was gathered and a computerized database

         25  set up.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            232

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2                 This database has enabled us to track

          3  crimes of particular interest to the community so

          4  that we can identify these cases at an early stage,

          5  target repeat offenders, enhance our ability to keep

          6  the community informed, gather critical information

          7  and obtain stronger dispositions in these cases.

          8                 During the first full year of

          9  operation, eight hundred five cases were targeted

         10  for early intervention.

         11                 Communication between community

         12  members and our Office has increased markedly and

         13  two major investigations have been initiated based

         14  on information provided by community members.

         15                 As we seek to provide the highest

         16  quality and broadest array of services to community

         17  members, the strain on our resources grows.

         18                 The Special Prosecutions Division is

         19  sorely in need of additional staff to enhance the

         20  early case intervention system and its other vital

         21  functions.

         22                 For this purpose we are requesting

         23  $374.750 to fund this highly successful program.

         24                 Community Prosecution Initiative: Two

         25  Assistant District Attorneys at $45,000 each,
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          2  $90,000; One Assistant District Attorney $40,000;

          3  One Community Relations Director $30,000; Two

          4  Community Aids at $20,000 each, $40,000; Two Rackets

          5  Investigators at $38,000 each, $76,000; One

          6  Secretary $23,000; Other Than Personal Services at

          7  twenty-five percent $75,750; Total $374,750.

          8                 Queens County District Attorney's

          9  Office Fiscal Year 2000 Budgetary Requirements

         10  Summary:

         11                 Loss of City Funds $2,238,520; New

         12  York City Police Department Drug Initiative,

         13  $518,750; Child Advocacy Center, $195,000; Auto

         14  Crime Task Force $2,000,000; School Anti-Violence

         15  Program (Star Track), $334,375; Witness Protection,

         16  $403,750; Juvenile Violent Crime, $343,750;

         17  Enhancement of Victim Support Services, $222,500;

         18  Community Prosecution Initiative $374,750; Total

         19  $6,631,395.

         20

         21  Testimony of:

         22  William L. Murphy

         23  Richmond County District Attorney:

         24

         25                 The responsibility of the District
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          2  Attorney is to impede crime through speedy and just

          3  prosecutions.

          4                 To that end, we must implement

          5  changes that will continue to ensure the

          6  accountability of criminals, increase the safety and

          7  security of crime victims, and protect the Staten

          8  Island community.

          9                 Management Information Systems (MIS)

         10  Personnel:

         11                 At present we have one person who

         12  tries valiantly to maintain our antiquated computer

         13  system, which consists mostly of personal computers

         14  that were obsolete years ago.

         15                 He is responsible for

         16  troubleshooting, maintenance, data entry, report

         17  gathering and production, procurement planning,

         18  installation and training.

         19                 We are instituting a computer

         20  automation project that will enable our Office to

         21  operate at the same level as our counterparts.

         22                 We must hire Management Information

         23  Systems personnel to manage the new computer

         24  network.

         25                 Because of funding shortfalls, we are
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          2  understaffed throughout the Office, making it

          3  impossible to add personnel to the computer section.

          4                 Additionally, our financial plan

          5  contains a baseline cut of $75,000 which has been

          6  described by OMB as savings resulting from gained

          7  efficiencies associated with the implementation of

          8  our Office computer automation project.

          9                 Increased productivity is not

         10  sufficient reason to eliminate personnel positions

         11  from an already understaffed Office.

         12                 OMB's anticipation of gained

         13  efficiencies is somewhat shortsighted; in reality,

         14  the $75,000 should be restored to our budget in

         15  order to partially offset the cost of hiring the

         16  Management Information Systems Personnel desperately

         17  needed to manage the new computer network.

         18                 Civilian Investigator Division:

         19                 The Richmond County District

         20  Attorney's Office seeks funding to institute a

         21  Civilian Investigator Division under the aegis of

         22  the Investigations Bureau; eight civilian

         23  investigators and two civilian investigator

         24  supervisors would comprise the division.

         25                 Civilian investigators are essential
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          2  to the continuing investigation of all sensitive and

          3  confidential cases in the District Attorney's

          4  Office.

          5                 Civilian investigators locate and

          6  interview witnesses and gather evidence in all major

          7  cases, especially murders and robberies.

          8                 Two civilian investigators are on the

          9  staff of the District Attorney's Office at this

         10  time; each position is grant-funded.

         11                 To follow is a detail of the four

         12  areas of the District Attorney's Office where

         13  civilian investigators are necessary:

         14                 The District Attorney Detective Squad

         15  is currently understaffed by four detectives.

         16                 Additional civilian investigators

         17  would augment the short-staffed detective squad,

         18  making the full complement of staff necessary to

         19  maintain optimal investigatory capability.

         20                 The Special Case Unit investigates

         21  crimes of bias, official misconduct, and incidents

         22  that involve the New York Police Department.

         23                 Civilian investigators are needed

         24  especially in this unit where it is inappropriate

         25  for the New York Police Department to be involved in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            237

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  most of the investigations.

          3                 Some of the cases where civilian

          4  investigators are needed are:

          5                 Investigations of New York Police

          6  Department Personnel. More than half of the subjects

          7  of the two hundred sixty-five cases that came

          8  through the Special Case Unit in 1998 were New York

          9  Police Department personnel.

         10                 In these cases civilian investigators

         11  assist the Internal Affairs Division of the New York

         12  Police Department and, more important, take cases

         13  where New York Police Department cannot be the

         14  investigatory agent.

         15                 Civilian Complaints. The Special Case

         16  Unit screens the complaints of citizens who are

         17  uncomfortable making accusations about the police to

         18  the police, or who cannot make the trip to Manhattan

         19  to the New York Police Department's Internal Affairs

         20  or the Civilian Complaint Review Board.

         21                 It is imperative that resident

         22  complaints be investigated in the community by a

         23  civilian investigator; without this venue, citizens

         24  may not pursue the matter.

         25                 Community Outreach. Last year
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          2  civilian investigators took a proactive role in

          3  calming community unrest after two black men were

          4  shot by Police Officers.

          5                 In such cases, civilian investigators

          6  contact community leaders and witnesses, assuring

          7  them that they do not represent the police.

          8                 Civilian investigators also

          9  investigate these matters.

         10                 The Youth Violence Unit screens all

         11  juvenile offender arrests.

         12                 Gathering background information on

         13  sixteen to eighteen year-old offenders is crucial to

         14  determining if they meet the criteria of adult

         15  criminal youthful offender status.

         16                 The Seniors Unit investigates and

         17  prosecutes crimes, especially financial fraud,

         18  against seniors.

         19                 These cases are labor and time

         20  intensive and demand sensitivity on behalf of the

         21  Assistant District Attorneys and the investigators

         22  to seniors who are crime victims.

         23                 Trial Parts and Weekend Court:

         24                 Richmond County Criminal Court added

         25  one trial part in 1996 and has recently added
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          2   "Weekend Court," one court part, six hours each day

          3  on weekends. The intake of cases in Criminal Court

          4  has grown from seven thousand 1992 to more than

          5  thirteen in 1998; and on some days the surge of

          6  arrests in response to the Police Department's

          7  Narcotics and Quality of Life Initiatives has

          8  increased the intake of cases from twenty to

          9  Forty-Five per day.

         10                 According to OMB's formula our budget

         11  should have been amended by $96,000 to meet the

         12  demand of these initiatives, but we did not receive

         13  additional City funds.

         14                 Consequently, the associated

         15  increased expenses resulting from weekend court and

         16  the increased Criminal Court case load have been

         17  absorbed into our budget, causing a significant

         18  strain on resources.

         19                 Youth Violence Unit:

         20                 Regarding the increase in juvenile

         21  violence and crime, the following speaks for itself.

         22                 The Bureau of Justice Statistics

         23  reported in 1991 that national figures indicate

         24  teens are victimized at twice the rate of adults,

         25  are subject to violence more than any other age
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          2  group, and commit violent crimes disproportionate to

          3  their numbers in the population.

          4                 Statistical analysis by the New York

          5  State Division of Criminal Justice Services shows

          6  that juvenile crime has increased, and it is

          7  projected that the population will grow by fifteen

          8  percent to seventeen percent by the year 2005, which

          9  may further extend the growth statewide in juvenile

         10  violence and crime.

         11                 In the "1995 National Youth Gang

         12  Survey," published by the United States Department

         13  of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice Delinquency

         14  Prevention, over 23,000 gangs existed nationwide,

         15  consisting of almost 665,0000 individual gang

         16  members.

         17                 In an article in the 1 January, 1997

         18  edition of The New York Times, violent drug gangs

         19  are believed to be responsible for hundreds of

         20  homicides a year and the key to reducing New York

         21  City's murder rate is to "root out aggressively the

         22  drug gangs that operate in City neighborhoods."

         23                 On Staten Island in 1998

         24  approximately one hundred fifty gang arrests were

         25  made, resulting in forty-one indictments/superior

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            241

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  court information's involving sixty- three

          3  defendants.

          4                 An investigation into drug-related

          5  gang activity resulted in three indictments

          6  involving eleven defendants.

          7                 There were twelve gang-related

          8  violent crime indictments involving eighteen

          9  defendants.

         10                 Two of the pending indictments are

         11  against a defendant charged with both killing a

         12  Police Officer and the leader of a rival gang.

         13                 In response to the increase in youth

         14  violence and gang-related activity on Staten Island,

         15  the Youth Violence Unit within the Supreme Court

         16  Bureau was established in January 1998.

         17                 The focus of the unit is three-fold:

         18                 To identify and expedite the

         19  prosecution of violent youths, including juvenile

         20  offenders being treated as adults.

         21                 To target violent gang offenders of

         22  all ages for enhanced prosecution.

         23                 To track and develop programs

         24  designed to address both the prosecution and

         25  prevention of violent youth crime in Richmond
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          2  County.

          3                 With respect to thirteen, fourteen

          4  and fifteen year-old defendants, a new procedure was

          5  established whereby such juvenile offender arrests

          6  were screened and evaluated by the unit chief to

          7  determine whether prosecution would be better served

          8  in the Supreme or Family Courts.

          9                 This includes collaboration and

         10  information sharing with attorneys of the New York

         11  City Corporation Council's Office.

         12                 This procedure was further expanded

         13  at the end of 1998 to include background information

         14  on sixteen to eighteen year-old defendants to

         15  determine those who are eligible for adult youthful

         16  offender status by virtue of specified prior Family

         17  Court adjudication's.

         18                 The District Attorney's Office is

         19  working toward implementing a project whose mission

         20  is to prevent youth violence and gang activity

         21  through education and training of parents and

         22  community members and collaboration with other

         23  community initiatives.

         24                 Caseworker is needed to act as the

         25  liaison between youths and their parents, the
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          2  District Attorney, Police, educators, service

          3  providers and the community.

          4                 Additionally, the caseworker would

          5  research prevention methods, sentence alternatives,

          6  rehabilitation and treatment modalities in cases of

          7  juvenile violence offenses and gang-related

          8  activity, and institute a parent education program.

          9                 Seniors Unit:

         10                 With a greater awareness in the

         11  community and a commitment to protect our older

         12  citizens, reported crimes against seniors are

         13  increasing annually.

         14                 Often it is people they trust,

         15  relatives and friends, accountants and attorneys,

         16  who defraud older persons.

         17                 Justice demands not only recourse for

         18  criminal action, but a commitment to the security

         19  and well- being of those victimized by such actions.

         20                 Under the auspices of the

         21  Investigations Bureau, the Seniors Unit works to

         22  protect our senior citizens through aggressive

         23  prosecution of crimes against them, particularly

         24  financial fraud.

         25                 Given the nature of these cases,
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          2  Assistant District Attorneys and civilian

          3  investigators expend an inordinate amount of time

          4  following paperwork trails.

          5                 In such cases interviewing witnesses

          6  is a lengthy process, and senior crime victims are

          7  often intimidated by the presence of Police

          8  Officers.

          9                 Crime victims, especially senior

         10  citizens, are entitled to special treatment by a

         11  staff that is both sensitive to their needs and

         12  conversant in the criminal justice system.

         13                 To that end we would add a caseworker

         14  to staff who would work with civilian investigators

         15  and Assistant District Attorneys to enhance

         16  prosecution efforts, while sustaining sensitivity to

         17  senior crime victims.

         18                 Narcotics initiative:

         19                 On July 1, 1998, the New York Police

         20  Department's "Staten Island Narcotics Initiative"

         21  kicked off and for seven weeks thereafter a one

         22  hundred eight-five member anti-narcotics task force

         23  affected more than four hundred arrests in the 120

         24  precinct.

         25                 Another narcotics sweep, an
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          2  aggressive crackdown on drug users and sellers in

          3  the 122 and 123 Staten Island precincts, resulted in

          4  forty-seven arrests in one day on the 17th of

          5  October last year.

          6                 After the summer police initiative, a

          7  surge of narcotics and related cases (two hundred

          8  sixty-two misdemeanors and one hundred seventy-five

          9  felonies) raised the average intake in Criminal

         10  Court from twenty to Forty- Five cases per day, and

         11  the subsequent number of drug indictments to

         12  Forty-Three percent of all of those in Richmond

         13  County.

         14                 The initiative has also led to an

         15  increase in the drafting of search warrants, which

         16  are fundamental to evidence gathering in narcotics

         17  cases and is a labor and time-intensive task.

         18                 Our statistics show that over sixty

         19  search warrants were issued while three hundred

         20  fourteen cases came through the Supreme Court

         21  Narcotics Bureau since July of 1998.

         22                 The New York Police Department

         23  initiative is neither bound by precinct nor time

         24  constraints, and we foresee continual surges in drug

         25  arrests and the resultant cases.
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          2                 While the City Council has provided

          3  funding for the current fiscal year to enhance our

          4  prosecutorial efforts in this area, our resources

          5  continue to be strained.

          6                 It is imperative that the Richmond

          7  County District Attorney's Office carries sufficient

          8  staffing levels in order to maintain effective

          9  prosecutions of these additional cases.

         10                 Appeals Bureau:

         11                 As a result of an overall caseload

         12  increase in Richmond County, our Appeals Bureau case

         13  load has multiplied.

         14                 Furthermore, a ruling by the

         15  Appellate Division Second Department, effective in

         16  April 1997, requires that the People's responding

         17  brief must be filed within sixty days after the

         18  receipt of the defendant's brief on appeal and

         19  transcripts.

         20                 The Appeals Bureau, now facing

         21  unprecedented demands, is understaffed. The

         22  Appellate deadline has created a crisis, curtailing

         23  the Appeals Bureau Assistant District Attorney's

         24  ability to meet the criteria of the new mandate.

         25                 YEAR 2000 Adult Justice Information
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          2  System Replacement:

          3                 Since 1985, the District Attorney

          4  Offices of Richmond, New York and the Bronx Counties

          5  have shared a case tracking program, the Adult

          6  Justice Information System (AJIS). The system was

          7  designed to track defendant court appearances from

          8  the day of pre-arraignment to the day of sentencing

          9  or dismissal.

         10                 Adult Justice Information System

         11  resides on an IBM mainframe at Metrotech Center in

         12  Brooklyn and is maintained by the Department of

         13  Information Technology and Telecommunications.

         14                 In addition to the District Attorney

         15  Offices, the system is used by over a dozen criminal

         16  justice agencies for on line case inquiries. It

         17  contains more than 23,000,000 records arising from

         18  more than one million cases prosecuted by the three

         19  county offices since 1985.

         20                 The data consists of: Record Numbers,

         21  Addresses, Docket Numbers, File Numbers, Indictment

         22  Numbers, NYSID Numbers, Arrest ID Numbers, Date of

         23  Birth, Height and Weight for All Defendants.

         24                 Addresses and Phone Numbers of

         25  Witnesses, Tax ID and Shield Numbers for Police
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          2  Officers Involved in Cases, Assistant District

          3  Attorneys and Defense Attorneys Involved in Cases,

          4  All Charges, Class, Category with Origin and

          5  Disposition of Cases.

          6                 We are presently faced with a serious

          7  issue relating to the Year 2000, the same problem

          8  other government agencies and private sector

          9  companies are facing with their computer systems.

         10                 Adult Justice Information System

         11  cannot accept any date past 1999.

         12                 The Manhattan District Attorney's MIS

         13  section has already modified the original version of

         14  Adult Justice Information System-1 into Adult

         15  Justice Information System- 11 for upgrade purposes.

         16                 They are currently in the process of

         17  making it 2000 compliant but do not have the

         18  resources to reprogram and maintain the system for

         19  Staten Island.

         20                 Since our MIS section is comprised of

         21  one person, we would have to hire several

         22  programmers, first to migrate the system from Adult

         23  Justice Information System-1 to Adult Justice

         24  Information System-11, then to make it 2000

         25  compliant.
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          2                 However, since our current financial

          3  plan assumes a baseline cut of $75,000 while we are

          4  already understaffed throughout the Office, we do

          5  not have the funds to hire programmers.

          6                 To compound the situation, our Office

          7  continues to access Adult Justice Information

          8  System-1 while Manhattan is using and maintaining

          9  Adult Justice Information System-11.

         10                 Since both versions use the same data

         11  stream, there are numerous potential problems.

         12  Manhattan can sometimes make modifications to Adult

         13  Justice Information System-11 which in some

         14  instances removes functions from Adult Justice

         15  Information System-1.

         16                 Most notable was the elimination of

         17  automatic access to the New York Police Department's

         18  On-Line Booking System.

         19                 This forced our Office into using

         20  several extra manual steps, dramatically slowing

         21  down the input of information.

         22                 We are working in an environment

         23  where another such modification could shut our

         24  system down entirely. It appears vital that Staten

         25  Island obtain an independent case tracking system of
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          2  its own.

          3                 Due to time constraints, we cannot

          4  afford the luxury of hiring programmers, even if the

          5  funds were available.

          6                 There is no guarantee of finding

          7  suitable candidates with the requisite background,

          8  or that the programmers could rewrite the thousands

          9  of lines of code in time necessary to modify the

         10  system to make it 2000 compliant.

         11                 Modifying the current system would

         12  not be practical. Since the system is outdated, it

         13  would require a much more expensive investment of

         14  funds and time to overhaul than to replace.

         15                 I am seeking additional funding in

         16  the amount of $127,000.

         17                 The money would be used for hardware,

         18  software, licensing, training, and consulting in

         19  designing a new case tracking system.

         20                 We have contacted a number of vendors

         21  that have provided "turn key" systems to other

         22  counties throughout the State and could develop a

         23  system to meet our needs.

         24                 Securing funds and developing a

         25  replacement case tracking system is undoubtedly one
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          2  of my top priorities for the year.

          3                 Richmond County District Attorney

          4  Resource Needs- $1,509,000:

          5                 MIS Personnel- $191,000: One Director

          6  at $60,000; One Operations at $50,000; Three Data

          7  Entry at $27,000, $81,000; Total $191,000.

          8                 Civilian Investigators- $440,000:

          9  Eight Investigators at $40,000 each, $320,000, Two

         10  Supervisors at $60,000 each, $120,000, Total

         11  $440,000.

         12                 Trial Part and Weekend Court: One

         13  Additional Criminal Court Trial Part; Weekend Court

         14  $96,000.

         15                 Youth Violence Unit- $65,000: One

         16  Assistant District Attorney at $40,000; One

         17  Caseworker at $25,000; Total $65,000.

         18                 Seniors Unit- $65,000: One Assistant

         19  District Attorney at $40,000; One Caseworker at

         20  $25,000; Total $65,000.

         21                 Narcotics Initiative- $350,000: Three

         22  Criminal Court Assistant District Attorney's at

         23  $40,000 each, $120,000; Two Supreme Court Assistant

         24  District Attorney's at $50,000 each, $100,000; Two

         25  Support Staff at $25,000 each, $50,000; One

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            252

          1  DISTRICT ATTORNEYS AND SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR

          2  Paralegal $25,000; One Trial Prep Assistant $25,000;

          3  Other Than Personal Services Investigations,

          4  $30,000; Total $350,000.

          5                 Appeals Bureau Staff- $175,000: Three

          6  Assistant District Attorney's at $50,000 each,

          7  $150,000; One Secretary $25,000; Total $175,000.

          8                 Year 2000 Adult Justice Information

          9  System Replacement -$l27,000: Case Management

         10  Software $85,000; Miscellaneous Modifications

         11  $15,000; NT Hardware $10,000; Consulting $10,000; NT

         12  Licenses/ User Training $7,000; Total $127,000.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 10th day of March 1999.
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